

# **PhD** thesis

Cecilie Löe Licht

# Changes in the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in animal models of depression and antidepressant treatment



Institute: Neurobiology Research Unit

Department: Department of Neurology

Institution: University of Copenhagen and Rigshospitalet

Author: Cecilie Löe Licht

Title: Changes in the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in animal models of depression and antidepressant treatment

**Principal supervisor:** Professor Gitte Moos Knudsen, MD, DMSc, Neurobiology Research Unit and Center for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging, Department of Neurology, University of Copenhagen and Rigshospitalet, Denmark

**Supervisor:** Senior researcher Susana Aznar Kleijn, PhD, Neurobiology Research Unit and Center for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging, Department of Neurology, University of Copenhagen and Rigshospitalet, Denmark

Date of submission: October 8, 2008

#### **Review committee**

Professor Ulrik Gether, DMSc, (Chairman), Molecular Neuropharmacology Group, Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Assistant Researcher Guillaume Lucas, PhD, Centre de recherche Fernand-Seguin, University of Montréal, Montréal, Québec, Canada

Vice President Connie Sánchez Morillo, PhD, Neuroscience Department, Synaptic Pharmaceutical Corporation, H. Lundbeck, Paramus, New Jersey, USA

# Acknowledgements

This PhD project was performed from July 2005 to October 2008 at the Neurobiology Research Unit and Center for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging, Department of Neurology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen and Rigshospitalet and during a research visit at the Sharp Laboratory, Department of Pharmacology, University of Oxford. The project was funded by a PhD scholarship from the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen.

I would like to thank co-authors, collaboration partners, and colleagues who have contributed to this thesis. In particular, I would like to thank my principal supervisor Gitte Moos Knudsen for patiently guiding and supporting the flow of the project, engaging in discussions of scientific concepts and for letting me pursue new directions of research as the project developed. I would also like to thank Susana Aznar for critical feedback and Trevor Sharp for introducing me to microdialysis. In addition, I would like to thank Hans Jørgen Jensen for technical assistance with many receptor autoradiography experiments, to Inge Møller for teaching me animal handling skills and to Dorthe Givard and Pia Farup for efficient administrative assistance. I would also like to express my gratitude to the Lundbeck Foundation and the Augustinus Foundation, who supported this project financially.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for encouragement and moral support.

Copenhagen, October 2008

Cecilie Löe Licht

#### Summary

The serotonin 4 (5-HT<sub>4</sub>) receptor may be implicated in depression and is a new target for antidepressant treatment. This PhD project is focused on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression related states, and on the interaction between the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and the 5-HT system. The brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was studied by receptor autoradiography in genetic and environmental rodent depression models associated with endophenotypes of 5-HT system disturbances, Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL) and Olfactory Bulbectomy (OBX); and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis modulations, Glucocorticoid Receptor Hetero-zygous Mice (GR<sup>+/-</sup>) and Chronic Mild Stress (CMS). Brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was related to 5-HTT binding and model-specific behavior. Regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was studied in vivo by sub-chronic 5-HT depletion, and acute and chronic administration of a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) in rats, and was compared to changes in 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding. The effect of acute and sub-chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus was investigated by in vivo microdialysis.

In both the FSL and OBX depression models, hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was changed but in opposite directions. These models differ in 5-HT system disturbances and show opposite behavioral responses to stress and novelty, which may explain the difference in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. In the models based on HPA axis modulation, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the caudate putamen of  $GR^{+/-}$ , while no effect of CMS was found. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased by sub-chronic 5-HT depletion, and decreased by chronic administration of the SSRI paroxetine. Acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation in the presence of paroxetine, and sub-chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism alone, increased 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus.

The present findings implicate the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in 5-HT and HPA system associated endophenotypes of depression, modeled by three rodent depression models. As chronic manipulations of 5-HT levels affected 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding with an inverse relationship between 5-HT levels and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, the 5-HT system disturbances in the FSL and OBX models may underlie the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. This hypothesis is supported by changes in 5-HTT binding in several of the brain regions, where changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was found. Given that sub-chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation increases 5-HT levels in the hippocampus, the regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor.

### Dansk resumé

Serotonin 4 (5-HT<sub>4</sub>) receptoren kan være impliceret i depression og er et nyt mål for antidepressiv behandling. Dette ph.d.-projekt omhandler 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptoren i depressionsrelaterede tilstande og interaktionen mellem 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptoren og 5-HT systemet. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding i hjernen blev studeret med receptor autoradiografi i genetiske og miljøinducerede dyremodeller for depression associeret med 5-HT system forstyrrelser, Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL) og Olfactory Bulbectomy (OBX); og hypothalamus-hypofysebinyre (HPA) akse modulering, Glucocorticoid Receptor Heterozygous Mice (GR<sup>+/-</sup>) og Chronic Mild Stress (CMS). 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding blev relateret til 5-HTT binding og model-specifik adfærd. Regulering af 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding blev undersøgt in vivo ved hjælp af sub-kronisk 5-HT depletering, og akut og kronisk administration af en selektiv serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) i rotter, og blev sammenholdt med ændringer i 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding. Effekten af akut og sub-kronisk 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonisme på 5-HT niveauer i ventral hippocampus blev bestemt med in vivo mikrodialyse.

Den hippocampale 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding var ændret i både FSL og OBX depressionsmodellerne, men i modsat retning. Disse dyremodeller adskiller sig i 5-HT system ændringer og udviser modsatrettede adfærdsmæssige reaktioner på stress og nye omgivelser, hvilket muligvis kan forklare forskellene i 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. I modellerne baseret på HPA akse modulering var 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor bindingen øget i caudate putamen i GR<sup>+/-</sup> mus, mens CMS ikke havde nogen effekt. Sub-kronisk 5-HT depletering medførte øget 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, mens kronisk administration af SSRIet paroxetin inducerede en nedregulering. Akut 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor aktivering ved tilstedeværelse af paroxetin, samt sub-kronisk 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonisme alene, medførte et øget 5-HT niveau i ventral hippocampus.

Disse resultater tyder på, at 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptoren har en rolle i 5-HT og HPA system relaterede depressions endofænotyper, som de er repræsenteret i tre depressionsmodeller. Da kronisk manipulering af 5-HT niveau influerede 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding med en invers sammenhæng mellem 5-HT niveau og 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, kan ændringerne i 5-HT systemet i FSL og OBX modellerne være årsag til ændringer i 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptoren. Denne hypotese understøttes af, at ændringer i både 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor og 5-HTT binding blev påvist i flere hjerneregioner. Idet sub-kronisk 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor aktivering øger 5-HT niveauet i hippocampus, er det muligt, at ændringer i 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding som følge af kroniske ændringer i 5-HT niveau i hjernen udgør en feedback regulering af 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptoren.

# Table of contents

Acknowledgements	3
Summary	4
Dansk resumé	5
Table of contents	6
List of abbreviations	8
List of manuscripts	9
Introduction	10
Theoretical background	11
Clinical depression and antidepressant treatment	11
Biological characteristics of depression	13
The 5-HT system in depression and antidepressant treatment	15
Animal models of depression	18
Flinders Sensitive Line	18
Chronic Mild Stress	19
Olfactory bulbectomy	20
Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mice	20
Characteristics of the 5-HT <sub>4</sub> receptor	21
Aims of the thesis	23
Experimental methods	24
Determination of 5-HT <sub>4</sub> receptor levels	24
In vitro receptor autoradiography	24
In situ hybridization	26
Manipulations of the 5-HT system	27
Sub-chronic 5-HT depletion	27
Acute and chronic SSRI administration	28
5-HTT knockout and overexpressing mice	29
Functional analyses of the 5-HT <sub>4</sub> receptor	29
Functional GTP <sub>y</sub> S autoradiography	29
In vivo microdialysis	31
Expression of the immediate early gene Arc	33
Results and discussion	34

Changes in the 5-HT <sub>4</sub> receptor in animal models of depression (Aim I)		
Animal models of 5-HT system disturbances	34	
Animal models of HPA axis modulation	39	
Regulation of the $5$ -HT <sub>4</sub> receptor by 5-HT system changes (Aim II)	41	
Effects of 5-HT <sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on the 5-HT system (Aim III)	44	
Conclusions	48	
Research perspectives	50	
References	51	
Appendices	61	
Manuscript I		
Manuscript II		
Manuscript III		

# List of abbreviations

5,7-DHT	5,7-dihydroxytryptamine	GR	glucocorticoid receptor
5-HIAA	5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid	$\mathrm{GR}^{\mathrm{H}-}$	GR heterozygous mouse
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin)	GTPγS	guanosine-5'-(γ-thio) triphosphate
5-HTT	5-HT transporter	HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
ACC	anterior cingulate cortex	HPLC	high performance liquid
aCSF	artificial CSF		chromatography
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone	ICD-10	International Classification of
B <sub>max</sub>	maximal binding capacity		Diseases, 10 <sup>th</sup> Revision
CA1,-2,-3	cornu ammoni 1, -2, -3	K <sub>d</sub>	equilibrium dissociation constant
CMS	Chronic Mild Stress	LGP	lateral globus pallidus
CNS	central nervous system	MAO	monoamine oxidase
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone	MDD	Major Depressive Disorder
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid	MRN	median raphe nucleus
DFP	diisopropyl fluorophosphate	OBX	Olfactory bulbectomy
DRN	dorsal raphe nucleus	pCPA	<i>p</i> -chlorophenylalanine
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual,	PET	positron emission tomography
	4 <sup>th</sup> edition	PFC	prefrontal cortex
ECS	electroconvulsive shock	PVN	paraventricular nucleus
ECT	electroconvulsive therapy	REM	rapid eye movement
FRL	Flinders Resistant Line	SNRI	serotonin and noradrenaline
FSL	Flinders Sensitive Line		reuptake inhibitor
FST	Forced swim test	SSRI	selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
GABA	gamma aminobutyric acid	TCA	tricyclic antidepressant

# List of manuscripts

This thesis is based on the following manuscripts, which in the text are referred to by their Roman numerals.

- I Licht CL, Kirkegaard L, Zueger M, Chourbaji S, Gass P, Aznar S, Knudsen GM. The
  5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding are altered in two murine depression models.
  Submitted (J Neurosci Res)
- II Licht CL, Marcussen AB, Wegener G, Wiborg O, Overstreet DH, Aznar S, Knudsen GM. Changes in brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in rat depression models and in response to paroxetine administration. *Submitted (J Neurochem)*
- III Licht CL, Knudsen GM, Sharp T. Effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism and paroxetine administration on hippocampal extracellular 5-HT levels. *Manuscript*

## Introduction

Depression is a debilitating and potentially life-threatening disease, which in 2020 is estimated to become the second most important cause of years of life lost or lived with disability in the World, according to the World Health Organization (Murray and Lopez 1997). Antidepressant treatment is available but drug treatment requires several weeks to have effect and is only effective in a subset of patients. The impetus to develop more effective and faster acting treatments for depression is therefore strong.

The first antidepressant drugs developed affect the transport and metabolism of the monoamines serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) and noradrenaline in the brain, leading to the monoamine hypothesis of depression, which states that a relative deficiency in monoamine transmission in the brain is associated with the depressed state (Rosenblatt et al. 1960). With the advent of a new class of antidepressants, the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), focus within the field of depression research was directed at the 5-HT system, in particular the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) and 5-HT<sub>1</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptors. Several other theories of depression, implicating other neurotransmitter systems and neurodegenerative changes in the brain, exist and reflect the complexity of the disorder and the multitude of systems and brain functions involved.

The 5-HT receptors studied in depression include  $5-HT_{1A}$  and  $5-HT_{1B}$  autoreceptors, and postsynaptic  $5-HT_{1A}$ ,  $5-HT_{2A}$  and  $5-HT_{2C}$  receptors, which have an inhibitory effect on 5-HTsystem activity. To augment the effect of SSRIs on 5-HT system activity and reduce the time of treatment required, addition of antagonists of inhibitory 5-HT receptors to SSRI treatment has been pursued. However, a stimulatory effect on 5-HT neuron firing activity by activation of the  $5-HT_4$  receptor has recently been reported (Lucas and Debonnel 2002), indicating a role for this receptor in depression. Polymorphisms of the human  $5-HT_4$  receptor gene have been associated with depression (Ohtsuki et al. 2002), and changes in brain  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding have been detected in depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004).

This thesis is focused on the role of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in the pathophysiology of depression and its potential as a target for antidepressant treatment. The brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is examined in environmental and genetic animal models of depression and in response to experimental manipulations of central 5-HT levels; and the effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation alone and in combination with SSRI administration on brain 5-HT levels are analyzed.

# **Theoretical background**

#### Clinical depression and antidepressant treatment

According to the World Health Organization Global Burden of Disease Study, unipolar major depression was the leading cause of disability in the World in 1990 (Murray and Lopez 1996). Depression is diagnosed according to symptomatic criteria described in the International Classification of Diseases, 10<sup>th</sup> Revision, Classification of Mental and Behavioral Disorders (ICD-10) or in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 4<sup>th</sup> ed. (DSM-IV) used mainly in the United States (American Psychiatric Association 1994;Lublin et al. 2002;WHO 2004). The diagnosis is syndromal, based on the presence of a subset of possible symptoms, and depression should therefore be viewed as comprised of several diseases with distinct pathophysiologies (Nestler et al. 2002a). The ICD-10 classification system distinguishes between mild, moderate and severe depressive episodes, and the criteria include core symptoms of depressed mood, anhedonia and decreased energy, of which at least two must be present for a minimum of two weeks in combination with a subset of additional symptoms (Table 1).

Core symptoms	Depressed mood most of the day, nearly every day
	Loss of interest or pleasure (anhedonia)
	Decreased energy or increased fatigability
Symptoms	Loss of confidence or self-esteem
	Excessive or inappropriate guilt, or self-reproach
	Recurrent thoughts of death or suicide, or suicidal behavior
	Decreased ability to think or concentrate
	Psychomotor agitation or retardation
	Sleep disturbance (insomnia or hypersomnia)
	Change in appetite and body weight

Table 1. ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for a depressive episode (adapted from (Pedersen et al. 2001)

About 50 to 60% of depressed patients will experience more than one depressive episode (recurrent depressive disorder, or major depressive disorder (MDD)), the average number of lifetime episodes being 4.7 (American Psychiatric Association 1994;Hasin et al. 2005).

The two-week prevalence in the Danish general population of DSM-IV major depressive episode and ICD-10 depressive episode (mild, moderate, severe) is 3.3% and 4.1% (1.5%, 1.2%, 1.4%), respectively (Olsen et al. 2004;Eplov et al. 2005). With respect to the Danish population figures for the year 2006, a 3.3% point prevalence corresponds to 180,000

individuals being affected by depression at any given time (Danmarks Statistik 2006). A recent survey of MDD in the United States found a 12-month and lifetime prevalence of 5.28% and 13.23%, respectively (Hasin et al. 2005). The mean age of onset of depression is 30.4 years in the United States, and corresponding ages are reported worldwide (Wong and Licinio 2001;Hasin et al. 2005).

Based on a meta-analysis of five twin studies, the heritability of liability to MDD has been estimated to be 33%, making depression a heritable disorder to the same degree as hypertension and type II diabetes (Fava and Kendler 2000;Nestler et al. 2002a). However, vulnerability to depression is also influenced by non-genetic environmental risk factors, of which gender (higher among women), stressful life events, adverse childhood experiences, and the personality trait of 'neuroticism' are strongly associated with MDD (Fava and Kendler 2000;Olsen et al. 2004;Wong and Licinio 2001;Hasin et al. 2005). Other environmental adversities associated with MDD include job loss, marital difficulties, having a low income, viral infections, and stochastic processes during brain development (Fava and Kendler 2000;Nestler et al. 2002a;Hasin et al. 2005). Apart from the obvious increase in risk of suicide, depression also carries an increased risk of medical morbidity, being an independent risk factor for myocardial infarction and associated with decreased bone mineral density (Wong and Licinio 2001;Hansen et al. 2003;Hasin et al. 2005).

The treatment approach to depressive episodes depends on depression severity and on the presence or absence of melancholic or psychotic symptoms. Mild depressive episodes can be treated with cognitive behavioral therapy, while moderate and severe episodes require treatment with antidepressant drugs (Stage 2001). Moderate to severe episodes can be treated with SSRIs, serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRI) or tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) (Stage 2001). In case of severe episodes with melancholic symptoms, TCAs are used, and in case of psychotic symptoms, either TCAs or electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) is recommended (Eplov et al. 2005). A given antidepressant drug will be efficient in 60-70% of cases, and it is therefore often necessary to test several drugs of different pharmacological classes in succession (Stage 2001). It takes two to three weeks for an antidepressant drug to have a noticeable effect, and an additional two to three weeks of treatment for the patient to feel well (Stage 2001). However, even after the symptoms of depression disappear, continued drug treatment is recommended for approximately one year to ensure that the underlying depression has been fully treated.

#### Biological characteristics of depression

In order to identify genes involved in depression, and to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms of depression, two groups of endophenotypes of depression have been proposed: psychopathological endophenotypes based on a dissection of the DSM-IV phenotype, and biological endophenotypes based on biological markers (Table 2) (Hasler et al. 2004). An endophenotype is an internal, not directly visible, phenotype, lying between gene effect and clinical symptom, and should be specific to the disease of interest, state-independent, heritable, and biologically and clinically plausible (Hasler et al. 2004). The proposed endophenotypes show biological consistency and can be investigated in experimental animals.

Psychopathological endophenotypes	Biological endophenotypes
Depressed mood (mood bias)	REM sleep abnormalities
Anhedonia (impaired reward function)	Increased amygdala activity
Impaired learning and memory	Decreased subgenual PFC activity
Direction of appetite change	Left ACC volume reduction
Diurnal variation	Hippocampal volume reduction
Executive cognitive function (response speed)	Reduced 5-HT <sub>1A</sub> receptor binding potential
Psychomotor change	Sensitive to tryptophan depletion
Increased stress sensitivity	Sensitive to catecholamine depletion
	Abnormal dexamethasone/CRH test
	CRH dysfunction

Table 2. Adapted from (Hasler et al. 2004). ACC: anterior cingulate cortex. CRH: corticotropin-releasing hormone. PFC: prefrontal cortex. REM: rapid eye movement.

In patients with primary, familial MDD there is a significant increase in cerebral blood flow in the amygdala (Drevets et al. 1992), which indicates corresponding changes in afferent synaptic transmission (reviewed in (Drevets 2000)). In contrast with the increased activity, amygdala volume is found to be reduced in symptomatic and remitted mood disorders, possibly as a result of amygdala hyperactivity (Drevets et al. 2004;Hasler et al. 2004). The amygdala is a part of the limbic system and is important for organizing emotional and stress responses. Amygdala activation produces anxiety, fear, dysphoria, and increased cortisol secretion (Hasler et al. 2004). Amygdala projects to the locus coeruleus, containing noradrenaline neurons, and excessive amygdala activity may thereby contribute to the agitation and insomnia seen in depressive episodes (Drevets 2000). On the contrary, activity decrease in association with volumetric reduction has been found in the subgenual prefrontal cortex (PFC), which is involved in autonomic responses to emotional stimuli and in evaluating adverse consequences of detrimental social behaviors (Drevets et al. 1997). Cerebral blood flow, glucose metabolism and volume are also decreased in the caudate nucleus of depressed individuals (Drevets et al. 1992;Drevets 2000;Sheline 2003), and reductions in hippocampal volume have also been detected in some studies (Sheline 2003;Sheline et al. 2003). These findings implicate abnormal structure and function of a limbic (amygdala) - cortical (PFC) - striatal (caudate) - pallidal - thalamic circuit, with an excitatory triangular limbic - thalamic - cortical circuit and a disinhibitory limbic - striatal - pallidal - thalamic side loop (Drevets et al. 1992). Increased activity in the limbic - thalamic - cortical circuit during depression may be associated with a decreased inhibitory effect of dopaminergic projections to striatal regions, and increased dopaminergic and serotonergic activity would both be predicted to inhibit activity in the limbic - thalamic - cortical circuit (Drevets et al. 1992).

In a large proportion of MDD patients excessive activity of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis, which is normally activated in response to stress, has been found and can be corrected by antidepressant treatment (Nestler et al. 2002a;Hasler et al. 2004). In response to sympathetic, amygdaloid, and serotonergic activation, neurons in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus secrete corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which stimulates the anterior pituitary to synthesize and release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) to the blood stream (Azmitia 1999;Nestler et al. 2002a). ACTH induces synthesis and release of the glucocorticoid cortisol from the adrenal cortex to the blood, affecting general metabolism and brain function (Nestler et al. 2002a). The release of CRH from the PVN is inhibited by hippocampal afferents and is under negative feedback control by glucocorticoid receptors (GR) on PVN neurons and in the hippocampus (Nestler et al. 2002a;Hasler et al. 2004). This negative feedback mechanism is the physiological basis of the dexamethasone/CRH suppression test, where pretreatment with the synthetic glucocorticoid, dexamethasone, prevents an increase in ACTH and cortisol in plasma after CRH injection in healthy volunteers (Heuser et al. 1994). However, 80% of MDD patients have abnormally increased ACTH and cortisol levels after CRH injection, indicating that the negative feedback mechanism is inhibited (Heuser et al. 1994). A sustained high level of cortisol decreases branching and length of dendrites of hippocampal neurons and inhibits adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus through excitotoxicity and inhibition of neurotrophin function (Sapolsky 2000). Damage to the hippocampus may interfere with the normal GR mediated negative feedback regulation of the HPA axis and thereby result in a further rise in cortisol levels (Nestler et al. 2002a). Cortisol induced hippocampal atrophy could contribute to the impaired learning and memory deficits, found in depression (Hasler et al. 2004).

#### The 5-HT system in depression and antidepressant treatment

The first drugs with therapeutic effect in depression, iproniazid and imipramine, were discovered in the late 1950s (Bloch et al. 1954;Kuhn 1958). Iproniazid inhibits the enzyme monoamine oxidase (MAO), involved in the degradation of the monoamines 5-HT and noradrenaline in the brain, and thereby increases their extracellular concentrations. In combination with reports on the depressive effect of reserpine, which depletes 5-HT and noradrenaline storages, these observations led to the monoamine hypothesis, proposing that a relative deficiency of monoamines is associated with the depressive state (Rosenblatt et al. 1960). In 1969, the monoamine hypothesis was followed by the indoleamine hypothesis of depression, stating that vulnerability to depression is related to decreased serotonergic activity (Mann 1999).

The 5-HT system has an important influence on several biological functions, such as affective states, cognition, motor function, circadian rhythm, sleep, pain, sexual function, and feeding behavior (Mann 1999;Bockaert et al. 2004). Apart from depression, it has been associated with a range of neuropsychiatric conditions, including anxiety, suicidal behavior, obsessive-compulsive disorder, mania, eating disorders, and alcoholism (Mann 1999). Serotonin exerts its effects through up to 14 5-HT receptor subtypes located pre- and postsynaptically, before it is inactivated by diffusion away from the 5-HT receptors or reuptake by the 5-HTT. The majority of 5-HT neuronal cell bodies are located in the median (MRN) and the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) (Jacobs and Azmitia 1992), and project through the medial forebrain bundle to the cortex, basal ganglia, limbic system and diencephalon (Tork 1990). As the rate of 5-HT synthesis is dependent on the availability of the precursor of 5-HT, the essential amino acid tryptophan, brain 5-HT levels can be acutely lowered by tryptophan depletion (Bell et al. 2001). Tryptophan depletion induces a lowering of mood, memory impairment and an increase in aggression in healthy volunteers, and causes a relapse in depressed patients successfully treated with serotonergic antidepressants (Bell et al. 2001).

Most antidepressant drugs used today inhibit reuptake of 5-HT by the 5-HTT, in particular the SSRIs (Berton and Nestler 2006). Studies of brain 5-HTT binding in MDD in vivo have shown increased, decreased or unchanged binding potential in various brain regions (Meyer 2007). However, a recent positron emission tomography (PET) study using the highly selective [<sup>11</sup>C]DASB radioligand found pronounced increases in 5-HTT binding potential in the thalamus, striatum, insular cortex, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and periaqueductal

grey of MDD subjects (Cannon et al. 2007). The regulation of the 5-HTT by 5-HT tonus is paradoxical (Fig. 1), as both chronic SSRI administration (Benmansour et al. 1999;Johnson et al. 2008) and 5-HT depletion downregulate 5-HTT binding (Rattray et al. 1996a;Rothman et al. 2003) and decrease 5-HTT function (Rattray et al. 1996a;Benmansour et al. 2002). Apart from the 5-HTT, the 5-HT<sub>1</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptors have been the most extensively studied 5-HT system factors in mood disorders (Mossner et al. 2007).



Figure 1. Chronic autoregulation of the rat 5-HT system. Relative changes in 5-HT transporter and receptor binding in response to changes in central 5-HT levels, achieved by chronic 5-HT depletion or SSRI administration. See text for references. 5-HT levels after SSRI administration are estimated from (Kreiss and Lucki 1995;Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000).

The 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors are located presynaptically on 5-HT neurons in the raphe nuclei, and postsynaptically in 5-HT terminal projection fields, mainly in cortico-limbic areas (Celada et al. 2004). During depression, the binding potential of the 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor is reduced in terminal projection fields and the raphe nuclei in vivo (Drevets et al. 1999;Drevets et al. 2000;Sargent et al. 2000). Acute increases in the extracellular concentration of 5-HT inhibits 5-HT neuron firing through 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors in the raphe nuclei (Gartside et al. 1995;Hajos et al. 1995). However, chronic antidepressant treatment reduces the electrophysiological responsivity of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors in the raphe nuclei (Invernizzi et al. 1994;Sprouse and Aghajanian 1987) and thereby disinhibits the 5-HT neuronal firing, increasing extracellular 5-HT levels in the hippocampus and frontal cortex (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000). Addition of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor antagonists to acute SSRI administration prevents the inhibition of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor antagonists to SSRI treatment to accelerate onset and augment the therapeutic response (Celada et al. 2004). In contrast to the desensitizing effect of chronic SSRI administration does

not affect 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptor binding in the DRN or postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor binding in the hippocampus (Fig. 1) (Le Poul et al. 1995;Riad et al. 2008). Tryptophan depletion acutely decreases 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]WAY100635 binding in the DRN, which may be a compensatory response to low 5-HT levels (Cahir et al. 2007). However, this effect is transient, as chronic tryptophan depletion inducing 29-81% reduction in brain 5-HT does not affect [<sup>3</sup>H]WAY100635 binding in any region (Cahir et al. 2007). Chronic, partial 5-HT depletion by MDMA exposure also has no effect on 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> [<sup>125</sup>I]cyanopindolol binding in cortical and subcortical regions (McGregor et al. 2003), On the other hand, chronic severe (>95%) 5-HT depletion by pCPA but not by 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine (5,7-DHT) increases cortical 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]-8-OH-DPAT binding (Compan et al. 1998). In addition to 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors, 5-HT<sub>1B</sub> autoreceptors regulate 5-HT system activity by inhibiting terminal 5-HT synthesis and release (Barnes and Sharp 1999).

The postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptors have inhibitory effects on 5-HT neuron firing rate, which are mainly mediated by the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor subtype (Boothman et al. 2003). The 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding is increased in the frontal cortex and the caudate nucleus of depressed suicide victims postmortem (Stanley and Mann 1983;Rosel et al. 2004), while most PET studies have found decreased cortical binding (Meyer 2007). The effect of chronic 5-HT depletion on 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding may depend on degree of depletion, as partial (29-70%) 5-HT depletion induces an increase in cortical 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding (Cahir et al. 2007;Heal et al. 1985), while severe (>95%) 5-HT depletion by 5,7-DHT causes dramatic decreases in 5-HT<sub>2A/2C</sub> receptor [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding in the cortex (Compan et al. 1998). However, partial but long lasting 5-HT depletion by chronic MDMA also causes large decreases in 5-HT<sub>2A/2C</sub> [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding striatum, thalamus, hypothalamus and other regions (McGregor et al. 2003), while severe 5-HT depletion by 5 days of pCPA administration has no effect on [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding in the cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortex (Compan et al. 1998). The cause of these discrepancies may be differences in method of 5-HT depletion and time point of binding analysis. If 5-HT depletion can induce both an increase and a decrease in 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding depending on degree of 5-HT depletion, there may be an intermediary point of substantial 5-HT depletion and no change in 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding. This may be around 50-90% 5-HT depletion as some studies have found no change in <sup>3</sup>H]ketanserin (Fischette et al. 1987) or [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding (Compan et al. 1998;Owens et al. 1996) at this degree of 5-HT depletion. Chronic SSRI treatment moderately decreases cortical 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding in depressed subjects in vivo (Meyer et al. 2001) and in some animal studies (Gunther et al. 2008; Nelson et al. 1989; Maj et al. 1996).

#### Animal models of depression

Animal depression models represent particular symptoms or endophenotypes of depression, allowing investigation of the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms (Nestler et al. 2002b), and can be used to investigate efficacy and mechanisms of action of new approaches to antidepressant treatments. Depression models have been developed by exposing animals to chronic, environmental stressors mimicking natural conditions such as early life stress, Chronic Mild Stress (CMS), and social stress, or by lesioning the olfactory and interconnected systems by olfactory bulbectomy (OBX). Genetic models have been developed by selective breeding for extreme responses to stress or drugs, such as the congenital learned helplessness model and the Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL), or by changed expression of depression related genes. In this project, analyses are conducted in two rat depression models, FSL and CMS; and in two mouse models, OBX and glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous (GR<sup>+/-</sup>) mice.

#### **The Flinders Sensitive Line**

The FSL was developed from Sprague-Dawley rats by selective breeding at the Flinders University of South Australia in an attempt to create a strain with resistance to the organophosphate diisopropyl fluorophosphate (DFP), an inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase (Overstreet et al. 1979). Instead a line of rats with increased sensitivity to muscarinic cholinergic agonism was developed (Overstreet et al. 1979; Overstreet and Russell 1982;Overstreet et al. 1984). The FSL breeding program was based on 30 generations of selection for extremes in hypothermic response, changes in water intake, and changes in body weight in response to DFP (Overstreet et al. 2005). Reports of increased sensitivity to muscarinic agonists in MDD patients prompted studies of FSL as a genetic model of depression (Risch et al. 1981; Overstreet et al. 1998), and the FSL was later found to display increased immobility in the forced swim test (FST) and increased 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor sensitivity compared to the Flinders Resistant Line (FRL) rats (Overstreet et al. 1994). The increase in immobility in the FST was correlated with increased  $5-HT_{1A}$  receptor sensitivity but not with cholinergic sensitivity, indicating that the depression-like phenotype of the FSL rats was associated with changes in the 5-HT system (Overstreet et al. 1994). The FSL model exhibits several depression related endophenotypes, and its behavioral responses to drug treatment in the FST reflect antidepressant effects of TCAs, SSRIs, and new antidepressant drugs (Table 3).

#### The Chronic Mild Stress Model

The CMS model is a model of chronic stress-induced depression, based on applying a variety of mild, unpredictable, environmental stressors for several weeks (Willner 2005). The CMS model was designed to model anhedonia (Willner et al. 1992), which in biological terms is translated into a generalized decrease in responsiveness to reward, mediated by the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway (Kornetsky et al. 1991;Willner et al. 1992) and evaluated by reduction in intake of and/or preference for a dilute sucrose solution (Willner 1997). The CMS protocols typically consist of 2-3 weeks of sucrose solution-consumption training, followed by application of CMS for several weeks with weekly sucrose intake monitoring. The stressors are applied for several hours each, and include interchanging periods of food and water deprivation, overnight illumination, paired housing, 45° cage tilt, soiled cage bedding, and stroboscopic illumination (Willner et al. 1992).

	Flinders Sensitive Line	Chronic Mild Stress	Olfactory bulbectomy	GR <sup>+/-</sup> mouse
Construct	Genetic cholinergic and 5-	CMS-induced anhedonia	Neurodegeneration in limbic	Heterozygous for the
	HT1A hypersensitivity	(Willner et al. 1992)	and 5-HT system	glucocorticoid receptor
	(Overstreet et al. 1994)		(Song and Leonard 2005)	(Ridder et al. 2005)
Validation	5-HT <sub>1A</sub> response, FST	Sucrose intake	Open field test	Genotype
Endophenotypes				
Behavior	Increased immobility in FST,	Anhedonia, increased	Hyperactivity in novel,	Deficit in corticosterone
	decreased appetite and	immobility in FST,	stressful environments,	suppression in
	weight, reduced psychomotor	decreased sexual behavior,	increased exploration	dexamethasone/CRH
	activity (Overstreet et al.	grooming and aggression	(Zueger et al. 2005), changes	test, increased
	2005), vulnerable to CMS	(Willner 2005), decreased	in aggression (Mucignat-	helplessness after stress
	(Pucilowski et al. 1993)	weight (Willner 1997)	Caretta et al. 2004)	(Ridder et al. 2005)
REM sleep	Increased	Increased	Decreased in rats	ND
	(Willner and Mitchell 2002)	(Willner 2005)	(Kelly et al. 1997)	
HPA axis	No change	Increased activity	Increased activity in rat	Deficit in regulation
	(Zangen et al. 2002)	(Willner 1997)	(Caimcross et al. 1977b)	(Ridder et al. 2005)
5-HT levels	Increased content (Zangen et	Decreased (Li et al.	Decreased turnover (Hellweg	No change
	al. 1997), decreased synthesis	2003;Bekris et al.	et al. 2007) and synthesis	(Schulte-Herbruggen et
	(Hasegawa et al. 2006)	2005;Kang et al. 2005)	(Neckers et al. 1975)	al. 2007)
5-HT <sub>1A</sub> receptor	No change in hippocampus	Increased in hippocampus	No change	ND
binding/mRNA	(Bjornebekk et al. 2007)	(Papp et al. 1994)	(Gurevich et al. 1993)	
5-HT <sub>2</sub> receptor	Decreased in hippocampus	Increased in cortex	Increased in frontal cortex	Decreased in frontal
binding/ mRNA	(Bjornebekk et al. 2007),	(Papp et al. 1994)	(Gurevich et al. 1993)	cortex
	cortex and amygdala			(Kostova et al.
	(Osterlund et al. 1999)			unpublished results)
Predictive validity	High (Overstreet et al. 2005)	High (Willner 1997)	Good (Jarosik et al. 2007)	ND

Table 3. Summary of selected depression-related characteristics of the FSL, CMS, OBX, and GR<sup>+/-</sup> depression models. ND: no data.

The CMS procedure reveals an underlying heterogeneity with respect to stress sensitivity and response, as CMS induces anhedonia in approximately 70% of animals, while the remaining

animals display unchanged or increased sucrose intake (Bergstrom et al. 2007). The CMS induced difference in reward sensitivity is also evident in the conditioned place preference test (Bergstrom et al. 2008), and is reflected in differential regulation of 156 genes in the hippocampus (Bergstrom et al. 2007). The CMS model displays several depression endophenotypes, in particular anhedonia, which is normalized by chronic administration of most antidepressant drugs and by electroconvulsive shock (ECS) (Table 3).

#### **Olfactory bulbectomy**

OBX consists of bilateral ablation of the olfactory bulbs, which in rodents induces behavioral and neurobiological changes similar to certain aspects of clinical depression (Table 3) (Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The OBX mouse is characterized by decreased 5-HT turnover in the hippocampus, frontal cortex, and hypothalamus, and has been conceptualized as a model of agitated depression (Hellweg et al. 2007). The key behavioral change is hyperactivity in response to novel, stressful environments, such as the open field test performed under bright illumination, but bulbectomized rodents also display increased irritability, anhedonia, learning and memory deficits, and changes in aggression (Zueger et al. 2005;Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The OBX behavioral syndrome develops over 14 days after surgery due to anterograde and retrograde neurodegeneration, and resulting structural and functional changes in brain areas (e.g. amygdala, raphe nuclei, and hippocampus) connected to the olfactory bulbs (Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The bulbectomy model has high predictive validity, since chronic but not acute treatment with the majority of antidepressants can reverse the biochemical and behavioral deficits (Jarosik et al. 2007;Kelly et al. 1997). Several studies have shown that changes in the 5-HT system are involved in the neurobiological basis of the OBX syndrome. Injection of a serotonergic toxin into the olfactory bulbs is sufficient to induce the OBX syndrome (Cairncross et al. 1977a), and OBX induces neurodegeneration in the DRN of mice (Nesterova et al. 1997), possibly due to retrograde degeneration of the serotonergic fibers innervating the main olfactory bulb (McLean and Shipley 1987).

#### Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mice

Given the importance of HPA axis deregulation in the pathophysiology of depression, mice with genetic alterations of the GR have been developed as models of depression (Chourbaji and Gass 2008). The GR heterozygous mice ( $GR^{+/-}$ ) lack one GR allele and have reduced GR mRNA and protein level (Ridder et al. 2005). The  $GR^{+/-}$  mice have ineffective corticosterone

suppression in the dexamethasone/CRH test (Ridder et al. 2005), indicating deficits in the negative feedback control of glucocorticoid release. A comparable deficit is seen in more than 50% of patients with severe depression (Heuser et al. 1994). While exhibiting normal behavior at baseline, the  $GR^{+/-}$  mice display depression-like behavior upon stress exposure (Ridder et al. 2005).

#### Characteristics of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is a post-synaptic  $G_s$  protein-coupled 5-HT receptor, which was originally identified as the mediator of 5-HT stimulated increase in adenylate cyclase activity in colliculi neurons and hippocampal membranes (Dumuis et al. 1988;Bockaert et al. 1990). Activation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor inhibits neuronal K<sup>+</sup> currents, resulting in increased neuronal excitability (Fagni et al. 1992). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor mediated stimulation of adenylate cyclase activity is rapidly and strongly desensitized by exposure to 5-HT in mouse colliculi neurons, and requires a recovery period of 72 hours to return to maximal capacity (Ansanay et al. 1992). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is alternatively spliced into at least 10 receptor isoforms with distinct expression pattern and functional profiles in vitro (Bockaert et al. 2004;Brattelid et al. 2004). However, as the isoforms differ mainly in the intracellular C-terminal domain, they cannot be discerned by binding of available 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor ligands (Bockaert et al. 2004).

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is high in the olfactory tubercles, substantia nigra, ventral pallidum, nucleus accumbens, interpeduncular nucleus, medial habenula, and locus coeruleus; and intermediary in the caudate putamen, globus pallidus, hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, and lateral septum, while cortical binding is low (Jakeman et al. 1994;Waeber et al. 1994;Manuel-Apolinar et al. 2005). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are associated with at least two functional systems, the cortico-striato-nigro-tectal pathway, and the septo-hippocampohabenulo-interpeduncular pathway, which transmits impulses from the limbic forebrain to the raphe nuclei (Waeber et al. 1994). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are expressed on striatal GABAergic neurons and on their projections to the globus pallidus and substantia nigra pars lateralis (Patel et al. 1995;Compan et al. 1996). In the hippocampus, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are localized on glutamatergic CA1 pyramidal neurons, on granule cells in the dentate gyrus, and on CA3 neurons (Bockaert and Dumuis 1998). In the periphery, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are present in the gastrointestinal tract, bladder, heart, vasculature, and adrenal gland (Hegde and Eglen 1996).

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor has stimulatory effects on both the cholinergic (Yamaguchi et al. 1997;Matsumoto et al. 2001) and nigrostriatal dopaminergic system (Lucas et al. 2001).

Acute agonism of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor increases the mean 5-HT neuron firing rate in the DRN by 96%, and increases extracellular 5-HT levels by 200% in the hippocampus, while decreasing 5-HT levels by 80% in the frontal cortex (Barnes et al. 1992;Ge and Barnes 1996;Lucas and Debonnel 2002). On the other hand, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonism inhibits mean 5-HT neuron firing in the DRN by 80-100% and decreases hippocampal 5-HT levels, indicating the presence of an endogenous tone on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor (Ge and Barnes 1996;Lucas and Debonnel 2002). The response to 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor ligands in the DRN is present in a subset (50%) of 5-HT neurons, which are characterized by a higher mean basal firing rate than the non-responding group (Lucas and Debonnel 2002). The stimulatory effect of acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism is unchanged after 3 and 21 days of agonist administration (Lucas et al. 2005). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor influence on 5-HT neurons may be mediated by a long feedback loop from the medial PFC, as overexpression of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in this region increases mean activity of 5-HT neurons by 70% (Lucas et al. 2005).

The stimulatory effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation on 5-HT neuron activity suggest a role for the receptor in depression and antidepressant treatment. However, compared to the 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptors relatively little is known about the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor's role in depression. According to one study 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is increased in the frontal cortex and caudate nucleus and unchanged in the amygdala and hippocampus of depressed violent suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004). In the same study, total cAMP levels were increased in regions with increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding (Rosel et al. 2004). Also, three polymorphisms in the splice variant region of the HTR4 gene have been associated with MDD and bipolar disorder (Ohtsuki et al. 2002). Behavioral studies of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor knockout mouse indicate that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is implicated in normal reactions to stress and novelty (Compan et al. 2004). Chronic treatment with the antidepressants paroxetine, citalopram, fluvoxamine, imipramine or ECS attenuates the stimulatory effect of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist zacopride on hippocampal CA1 neuronal excitability (Bijak et al. 1997;Bijak 1997;Zahorodna et al. 2002). However, chronic citalopram administration does not affect 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the substantia nigra (Gobbi et al. 1997). Though acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonism with SB204070A does not inhibit the antidepressant effect of fluoxetine in the FST (Cryan and Lucki 2000), the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist RS67333 has antidepressantlike effects in the FST, and in the CMS and OBX depression models after only 3 days of administration (Lucas et al. 2007).

# Aims of the thesis

The general objective of this thesis was to investigate the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in animal models of depression, and to determine the regulatory interactions between the 5-HT system and the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, including the antidepressant potential of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation.

The specific aims were:

- I To investigate brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors in mouse and rat models of depression
- II To determine the effects of chronic changes in central 5-HT levels on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors
- III To explore antidepressant-like effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation, alone and in combination with SSRI administration

# **Experimental methods**

#### Determination of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor levels

Brain receptor levels can at protein level be determined with anatomical resolution by receptor autoradiography and immunohistochemistry, requiring availability of radioligands or selective antibodies, respectively. The same principles of receptor detection can be applied to brain homogenates in the form of homogenate receptor binding and immunoblot, which are faster techniques but have reduced anatomical resolution. So far protocols and suitable antibodies for immunohistochemistry or immunoblot of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor are not available. In this project it was important to determine brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor levels with high anatomical resolution and in vitro receptor autoradiography was chosen, as this technique is semi-quantitative and because a selective radioligand [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 was available.

#### In vitro receptor autoradiography

In vitro receptor autoradiography employs radioactively labeled ligands, which bind reversibly but with high affinity to specific receptors in their native, properly folded state, allowing the localization and quantitation of receptors in their native, properly folded state, allowing the localization and quantitation of receptors in thin brain sections. Quantitative in vitro autoradiography with radiolabeled 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonists and antagonists has been used to characterize brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in different species, disease states, and in response to pharmacological manipulations (Bockaert and Dumuis 1998;Bonaventure et al. 2000;Bonhaus et al. 1997;Domenech et al. 1994;Jakeman et al. 1994;Varnas et al. 2003;Vilaro et al. 2005;Waeber et al. 1993;Waeber et al. 1994;Grossman et al. 1993;Compan et al. 1996). The compound SB207145 is a novel 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonist with high selectivity (GlaxoSmithKline, unpublished information) and affinity for the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, yielding K<sub>d</sub> values between 0.13 and 1.01 nM for different brain regions in rat (Parker et al. 2003). SB207145 has been labeled to relatively high specific activity (66.7 Ci/mmol) with tritium, which in comparison to labeling with iodine-125 has the advantage of not necessitating changes in the molecular structure of the ligand, and of higher stability due to the long half-life of tritium (Bennett 1978).

Low-energy  $\beta^-$ -radiation from tritium decay can generate autoradiograms with high spatial resolution, which normally comes at the cost of long (weeks-months) exposure times on tritium sensitive film. To reduce exposure times and because tritium sensitive films were

out of production, radiolabeled brain sections were exposed to tritium sensitive phosphor imaging plates, which is a recently developed alternative to conventional radiation sensitive film for receptor autoradiography (Amemiya and Miyahara 1988). The imaging plates are based on the temporary storage in special crystals of a latent spatial image of emitted radiation energy, which is later released as photostimulated luminescence in a dedicated scanner and converted to a digital image of the radioactive decay (Amemiya and Miyahara 1988). The high sensitivity of imaging plates allows a marked reduction (4-5 times) in exposure time compared to tritium sensitive film at the cost of lower resolution (Mori K 1993;Pavey et al. 2002).

The receptor autoradiography studies were performed at a single radioligand concentration as the aim was to compare  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding between groups. While a saturation analysis using a range of at least 6 ligand concentrations is necessary to determine whether changes in binding are due to changes in receptor affinity  $(K_d)$  or the total number of receptor binding sites (B<sub>max</sub>), this would require a 6-fold expansion of each study and was not deemed necessary in this project. When deciding on a concentration for a single concentration study, one can chose between two main approaches: one is to select a low concentration at or below the K<sub>d</sub>, where the difference between total binding and non-specific binding (to tissue and other receptors) is large, giving a high signal-to-noise ratio (Herkenham and Pert 1982); another is to choose a concentration approaching saturation of the receptor (>5-6 times K<sub>d</sub>) and interpret the binding as a estimate of B<sub>max</sub> (Chen et al. 1992). The concentration of [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 used in this project was chosen based on the optimal signal-to-noise ratio of autoradiograms, when comparing a range of concentrations around the K<sub>d</sub>, and corresponds to 1-7 times the K<sub>d</sub> depending on brain region. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding at this concentration is compared between groups but is not assumed to represent B<sub>max</sub>. The non-specific binding was determined in the presence of an excess (10000 fold) of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonist RS39604, which was chosen for its high affinity ( $pK_i$  of 9.1) (Hegde et al. 1995), and because it belongs to a different structural class, allowing subtraction of potential binding to other receptors from the [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (Burt 1978). The MAO inhibitor pargyline and the antioxidant ascorbic acid were added to the incubation buffer to reduce degradation of <sup>3</sup>H]SB207145.



Figure 2. Definition of regions of interest. The same brain section autoradiogram is shown from left to right: without modification, with overlaid line drawing, with super-imposed line drawing and regions of interest, and with regions of interest alone.

Brain regional measurements were performed with regions of interest, defined as shown in figure 2 by aligning autoradiograms of representative brain sections with anatomical line drawings of corresponding section levels from digitized versions of The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates (Paxinos and Watson 2005) and the Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates (Paxinos and Franklin 2001).

#### In situ hybridization

To determine potential changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor gene expression and to investigate whether 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor splice variants were regulated independently, establishment of a protocol for in situ hybridization of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor was initiated. In situ hybridization is based on the principle of specific annealing of complementary nucleic acid molecules, and can among other things be used to detect specific mRNA strands in tissue sections by hybridization with a probe consisting of the complementary 'antisense' nucleotide sequence (Wilkinson 1999). Among the different types of probes, synthetic oligonucleotide probes allow the design of probes from published sequences, can be readily ordered, and are sufficiently sensitive for many purposes (Wilkinson 1999). The labeled probe is applied to pretreated tissue sections and allowed to hybridize in a special buffer, non-specific binding is removed by washing, and the labeled probe is detected by autoradiography or immunohistochemistry, depending on the label (Rattray and Michael 1999).

In situ hybridization of brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors has been performed in rats, guinea-pigs, and humans (Vilaro et al. 1996;Mengod et al. 1996;Vilaro et al. 2005;Bonaventure et al. 2000). Two oligonucleotide probes (abe1 and abe2) both recognizing all three rat 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor splice variants (a, b, and e) were tested separately and in combination (Vilaro et al. 1996). Signals in the hippocampus and caudate putamen were obtained with both antisense probes, and the specificity of the signals confirmed by their absence after hybridization with the corresponding 'sense' probes or incubation with excess unlabeled probe. However, uneven background staining, which was not reduced by a shorter (less sticky) probe or optimized washing procedures, impaired quantitative applications of the protocol. These experiments were performed during a research visit at the Department of Pharmacology at the University of Oxford and had to be discontinued, when the research visit ended.

#### Manipulations of the 5-HT system

The 5-HT system can be modulated in experimental animals by pharmacological and genetic means. Brain 5-HT levels can be reduced chronically by 5-HT or tryptophan depletion and increased by chronic SSRI administration. Overexpression or knockout of the 5-HTT gene in mice affects 5-HTT binding and function, and thereby 5-HT system neurotransmission, in opposite directions (Jennings et al. 2006;Bengel et al. 1998;Shen et al. 2004).

#### Sub-chronic 5-HT depletion

Experimental 5-HT depletion provides a means of studying effects of reduced serotonergic availability on behavior, receptor regulation and gene expression. 5-HT depletion can be achieved with selective neurotoxins and 5-HT synthesis inhibitors, through dietary tryptophan depletion, or by 5-HT neuron lesioning with 5,7-DHT (Moja et al. 1989;Kornum et al. 2006;Lieben et al. 2004;Compan et al. 1998). Various degrees of 5-HT depletion can be achieved by varying the extent of 5-HT lesioning and dose and frequency of pharmacological agents, and depend on recovery time. Compounds used for 5-HT depletion include the substituted amphetamines, such as fenfluramine (Baumann et al. 2000), p-chloroamphetamine (Rudnick and Wall 1992) and MDMA (Garcia-Osta et al. 2004), which release 5-HT from presynaptic storages through the 5-HTT, while simultaneously blocking 5-HT reuptake; and irreversible tryptophan hydroxylase inhibitors, e.g. *p*-chlorophenylalanine (pCPA) (Jequier et al. 1967).

To determine the influence of reduced 5-HT levels on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, a protocol of three days of once daily pCPA followed by one administration of fenfluramine was chosen for this project, as this method gives the largest (95%) and most widespread reduction in 5-HT levels (Kornum et al. 2006). The addition of a final fenfluramine administration to 2-3 pCPA injections was originally employed to attain larger reductions in brain 5-HT content, while avoiding the risk of toxicity associated with high doses of pCPA (Prinssen et al. 2002). The combination treatment reduces 5-HT immunoreactivity in the amygdala, medial forebrain bundle, olfactory tubercles, and substantia nigra to a greater extent than sub-chronic treatment with pCPA alone, while some 5-HT remains in the raphe nuclei and the medial forebrain bundle (Kornum et al. 2006). Though both pCPA and fenfluramine have selective effects on the 5-HT system, they also influence other systems. Two to five days of pCPA treatment reduces brain noradrenaline levels by 21-56% (Koed and Linnet 2000;Jha et al. 2006), and

both fenfluramine and its main metabolite norfenfluramine have affinity for 5-HT<sub>1</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptors (Garattini et al. 1987) and influence noradrenaline and dopamine release (Fuxe et al. 1975;Clineschmidt et al. 1976).

#### Acute and chronic SSRI administration

Administration of SSRIs to experimental animals can be used to investigate their mechanism of action, as well as to analyze effects of increased 5-HT neurotransmission. Paroxetine has high affinity for the 5-HTT and is the most potent (Ki 1.1 nM) and the second-most selective inhibitor of 5-HT reuptake but also inhibits noradrenaline reuptake (Ki 350 nM) to a smaller degree (Magnussen et al. 1982). Paroxetine has approved indications for depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, and social phobia, and is also used in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder and post traumatic stress disorder (reviewed in (Bourin et al. 2001)). Paroxetine is extensively metabolized in rat, mice, monkey, and human but the main metabolites have minimal activity and do not modify the pharmacological profile (Haddock et al. 1989).

In this project, a dose of 10 mg/kg administered orally once daily was chosen because this protocol has maximal effects on 5-HT reuptake, being well above the ED<sub>50</sub> of 1.9 mg/kg in rats, has minor effects on noradrenaline reuptake ( $ED_{50} > 30 \text{ mg/kg}$ ) (Thomas et al. 1987), and uses a route of administration which is similar to the clinical situation. A comparable dosing of 5 mg/kg paroxetine twice daily causes a doubling of basal extracellular 5-HT levels in the hippocampus after 14 days (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000). However, small effects on noradrenaline reuptake are not avoided, as chronic administration of 5 mg/kg paroxetine inhibits reuptake by 10% (Thomas et al. 1987). Paroxetine has no affinity for  $\alpha_1$ -,  $\alpha_2$ -, and  $\beta$ adrenergic receptors, D<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>1</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2</sub>, or 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors but has weak affinity for 5-HT<sub>3</sub> and cholinergic muscarinic receptors (Thomas et al. 1987;Lucchelli et al. 1995). As paroxetine has a half-life of 4 hours in mouse brain (Hirano et al. 2004), a drug washout period of 24 hours as used in this project should be sufficient to ensure that little paroxetine is left in the tissue, when neurochemical analyses are performed. Based on a pilot study indicating an effect of 21 days of paroxetine administration on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, three time points of 1, 14 and 21 days of paroxetine administration were chosen to confirm the pilot study, compare acute and chronic effects, and evaluate the time course of the effect.

#### 5-HTT overexpressing and knockout mice

To further investigate the regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in response to changes in the 5-HT system, investigations of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in 5-HTT knockout, heterozygous and overexpressing mice were initiated. The 5-HTT overexpressing mice have 2-3 fold increases in 5-HTT binding and 50-60% reduced extracellular 5-HT levels (Jennings et al. 2006). In comparison, the homozygous 5-HTT knockout mice have opposite characteristics, displaying no 5-HTT binding (Bengel et al. 1998) and more than 8 fold increased extracellular 5-HT levels (Shen et al. 2004). The heterozygous 5-HTT knockout mice have a 50% reduction in 5-HTT binding and intermediate changes in 5-HT autoreceptor binding (Fabre et al. 2000) but normal 5-HT reuptake (Bengel et al. 1998) and extracellular 5-HT levels (Shen et al. 2004). Both 5-HTT overexpressing and homozygous knockout mice have reduced whole-tissue 5-HT levels (by 15-35% and 40-80%, respectively), which may reflect deficits in 5-HT storage (Jennings et al. 2006) and impaired recycling of released 5-HT due to inhibited 5-HT reuptake (Bengel et al. 2005), respectively.

Based on extracellular 5-HT levels, opposite directionality of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding changes are expected in 5-HTT overexpressing and homozygous knockout mice and the directionality of changes are expected to correspond to the effects of sub-chronic 5-HT depletion and chronic SSRI administration, respectively. Female mice were used in this study, as limited numbers of male mice were available. This project was initiated during a research visit at the Department of Pharmacology, University of Oxford, and for this purpose [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 autoradiography was established in the laboratory of T. Sharp. The study was not completed before the end of the visit, and is now continued in collaboration with T. Sharp.

#### Functional analyses of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor

While 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor function has been studied in neuronal and tissue slice cultures, few functional assays exist for in vitro analysis of native brain tissue. To be able to study brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor function with high anatomical resolution, development of a protocol for 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulated functional autoradiography was initiated.

#### Functional GTP<sub>γ</sub>S autoradiography

Binding of agonists to G protein-coupled receptors promote and stabilize the formation of a complex between agonist, receptor and heterotrimeric G protein, activating the G protein and

inducing exchange of bound GDP for GTP in the  $G_{\alpha}$  subunit (Sovago et al. 2001). This guanine nucleotide exchange can be detected by incorporation of metabolically stable, radioactively labeled GTP analogues, including [35S]GTPYS (Fig. 3). Agonist stimulated [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP<sub>y</sub>S binding is unique in providing information on receptor functionality at the initial G protein activation step, which compared to measures of second messenger levels and signal cascade enzymatic activity is subject to less signal amplification and convergence with downstream effects of other receptors (Sovago et al. 2001). The [<sup>35</sup>S]GTPyS assay was originally performed in membranes but was adapted for in vitro autoradiography by Sim et al. (Sim et al. 1995), enabling functional biochemical information to be gained in the context of high anatomical resolution. As in receptor autoradiography, the specificity of  $[^{35}S]GTP\gamma S$ autoradiography derives from a selective receptor ligand but the radioactive signal pertains to the level of [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP<sub>γ</sub>S bound by activated G proteins, making it a measure of catalytic activity. Brain tissue also has a basal  $[^{35}S]$ GTP $\gamma$ S binding capacity due to constitutive receptor activity, endogenous agonists in the tissue, and to GDP-GTP exchange of non-heterotrimeric G proteins (Milligan 2003). Non-specific  $[^{35}S]$ GTP $\gamma$ S binding is determined by excess unlabeled GTPyS, and receptor specificity can be checked by incubation with excess of an antagonist. Functional autoradiography has been performed mainly for Gi/o coupled receptors and for a few G<sub>q</sub> coupled receptors but no successful application for G<sub>s</sub> coupled receptors has been reported (Sim et al. 1997;Adlersberg et al. 2000;Sovago et al. 2001).



Figure 3. The principle of agonist-stimulated [ $^{35}$ S]GTP $\gamma$ S binding. Stimulation of the receptor activates G protein, inducing exchange of bound GDP for labeled GTP by the G<sub> $\alpha$ </sub> subunit.

The difference in applicability of this technique for  $G_i$  versus  $G_s$  coupled receptors may be due to the higher level of  $G_i$  proteins in brain, higher guanine nucleotide exchange rate in  $G_i$ proteins compared to  $G_s$ , and differences in receptor to G protein-coupling efficiency (Wieland T 1994;Sim et al. 1997;Milligan 2003). In accordance with the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor being  $G_s$  coupled, stimulation with the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> agonist SC53116 does not increase [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP<sub>7</sub>S binding in brain sections (Waeber and Moskowitz 1997). However, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulated [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP<sub>7</sub>S binding has been performed in homogenate of cell lines transfected with 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors (Pindon et al. 2002). The lack of detectable response to stimulation of  $G_s$  coupled receptors in [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP $\gamma$ S autoradiography is most likely due to a low agonist-stimulated signal in the context of high basal [<sup>35</sup>S]GTP $\gamma$ S binding (Wieland T 1994;Milligan 2003;Cussac et al. 2004).

In this project the protocol for 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor functional autoradiography used by Waeber et al., 1997 was chosen as the starting point. As full, selective 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonists are not available (Bockaert et al. 2004), the more selective and highly potent partial agonist RS67333 was chosen (Eglen et al. 1995). In a course of experiments several parameters were varied to increase agonist stimulated binding and decrease basal binding. However, no RS67333 stimulated [<sup>35</sup>S]GTPγS binding was detected, and stimulation with the full 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist, zacopride, had no effect either.

#### In vivo microdialysis

As in vitro methods proved difficult to establish, in vivo approaches to evaluate central 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor function and interactions with the 5-HT system came into focus. Among the assays of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor function in vivo, clear effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation and inhibition on extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus (Ge and Barnes 1996) and on basal 5-HT neuron firing rate in the DRN (Lucas and Debonnel 2002;Lucas et al. 2005) have been reported. In vivo microdialysis of 5-HT in the ventral hippocampus was chosen as the primary method to investigate interactions between the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and the SSRI paroxetine.

In vivo microdialysis is a well-documented technique for measuring extracellular neurotransmitter concentrations in the brain (reviewed in (Sharp and Zetterström 1992)). A microdialysis probe with a semi-permeable dialysis membrane is stereotaxically implanted in a discrete region of the brain and perfused with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) (Fig. 4). Perfusates are collected every 20-30 minutes and analyzed for neurotransmitter content by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with electrochemical detection. The microdialysis approach has been used to measure extracellular 5-HT levels in different brain regions in both anaesthetized and awake, freely moving animals in response to different pharmacological and behavioral manipulations (Sharp et al. 1990;Sharp and Hjorth 1990;Kreiss and Lucki 1995;Gartside et al. 1995;Sharp et al. 1997;Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000). Despite the small size of the microdialysis probes, implantation causes neuronal damage and breaches in the blood-brain barrier (Sharp and Zetterström 1992) but after a 2 hour stabilization period, the dialysate 5-HT levels reflect 5-HT release in response to 5-HT

neuron firing (Sharp et al. 1990). The 5-HT levels obtained in the dialysates are influenced by the 5-HT recovery and dialysis membrane area of the probe, and by aCSF perfusion speed and sample collection time (Sharp and Zetterström 1992).



Figure 4. Single cannula probe for microdialysis (left, adapted from (Sharp and Zetterström 1992)), and placement of probe in ventral hippocampus (right, adapted from (Paxinos and Watson 2005)).

The HPLC method of molecule separation is based on forcing molecules by high pressure through a thin column packed with small beads, which retain molecules for different times depending on their physicochemical properties and the composition of the mobile phase used. Monoamines can be separated by reversed-phase ion-pair chromatography, where changes in pH, concentration of ion-pairing agents (e.g. sodium octanyl sulphonate), concentration of organic solvent (e.g. methanol), and ionic strength of the mobile phase influence elution times of monoamines and their acid metabolites (e.g. 5-HIAA) (Sharp and Zetterström 1992). In HPLC with electrochemical detection, eluted molecules pass over a carbon-based electrode, where they are oxidized at the ring hydroxyl group, creating an electric current proportional to the number of molecules oxidized and reflected on a chromatogram as variations in peak height (Marsden and Joseph 1986). Monoamine peaks are identified and calibrated by comparison with elution times and peak heights of external reference compounds, respectively.

The experiments were performed in chloral hydrate anaesthetized animals, and drugs were administered by the intravenous administration route to reduce variability due to differences in uptake of drug from tissue. The selective and potent partial agonist RS67333 was used (Eglen et al. 1995) at a dose of 1.5 mg/kg i.v., which increases 5-HT neuron firing rate under chloral hydrate anesthesia (Lucas et al. 2005). Among SSRIs, paroxetine was chosen as it had shown effects on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in previous experiments within the PhD-project. For combination experiments, RS67333 was administered 80 minutes after

paroxetine, when the effect of paroxetine on 5-HT levels was reaching a plateau. Combinations of fluoxetine and the 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> antagonist WAY100635 have shown that the effect on 5-HT levels depends on sequence of administration, being maximal when WAY100635 is administered 80 min after fluoxetine (Taber et al. 2000).

#### Expression of the immediate early gene Arc

The effector immediate early gene Arc/Arg3.1 (activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein) is rapidly expressed in neuronal dendrites in response to robust synaptic activity, making it a useful marker of neuronal activity (Tzingounis and Nicoll 2006). Arc transcription is induced by NMDA receptor activation, calcium influx and cAMP (Tzingounis and Nicoll 2006), and Arc mRNA levels are increased in cortical regions and the striatum in response to elevated brain 5-HT levels (Pei et al. 2000). The sensitivity to increased 5-HT levels is reflected in increased Arc mRNA expression after chronic antidepressant drug treatment (Pei et al. 2003) and in response to combined acute SSRI and 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor antagonism (Castro et al. 2003).

The effect of acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation by RS67333 administration on Arc mRNA expression was examined by in situ hybridization. An initial dose-response (0.1-10 mg/kg) experiment showed downregulation of Arc expression in cortical regions after 2 hours. However, as this effect was present at all doses and the change in expression was in the opposite direction of what was expected, the experiment was repeated with a single RS67333 concentration (1.5 mg/kg) and Arc expression determined 2 hours after a single injection (acute) and 24 hours after 3 days of RS67333 administration. These experiments were due to partial degradation of the mRNA and high non-specific binding inconclusive and were not included in manuscript III.

# **Results and discussion**

Changes in the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in animal models of depression (Aim I)

To investigate the involvement of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was analyzed in four rodent models of depression (Manuscript I and II). Several models were included to evaluate the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in different depression endophenotypes, induced by genetic or environmental manipulations. The implication of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression endophenotypes related to 5-HT system changes was investigated in a genetic model with increased 5-HT system neurotransmission, Flinders Sensitive Line, and in a surgically induced model of 5-HT system disturbances, Olfactory Bulbectomy; and the relationship between the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and depression endophenotypes of HPA axis modulation was analyzed in a genetic model of impaired HPA axis regulation, the glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mouse, and in a model of environmental stress-induced depression, Chronic Mild Stress. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was investigated in the hippocampus and caudate putamen of all models, and additional brain regions of relevance to each model were analyzed post-hoc. In each model, significant changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding were related to 5-HTT binding as a common presynaptic marker of 5-HT system change. Each model was validated by behavioral testing or genotyping (Table 3).

#### Animal models of 5-HT system disturbances

In the FSL model, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was decreased in the dorsal (23%, p = 0.014) and ventral (11%, p = 0.045) hippocampus, while no change was detected in the caudate putamen (Table 4). This may be related to the higher hippocampal but similar striatal 5-HT levels of FSL rats (Zangen 1997).

	FRL	FSL	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	P value
Caudate putamen, medial	$19.1\pm0.6$	$18.6\pm0.9$	-2.6	0.654
Caudate putamen, caudal	$32.2\pm0.9$	$31.8\pm0.8$	-1.4	0.733
Hippocampus, dorsal	$10.7 \pm 0.7$	$8.3 \pm 0.5$	-22.6	0.014*
Hippocampus, ventral	$20.1\pm0.6$	$17.9\pm0.8$	-11.0	0.045*
Hypothalamus	$16.8\pm0.6$	$17.1 \pm 0.6$	1.8	0.732
Lateral globus pallidus	$33.2\pm0.6$	$30.9\pm0.8$	-7.0	0.027*
			-	

Table 4. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in Flinders Line . Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>FSL compared to FRL.

Given our present finding that chronic paroxetine administration downregulates hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, and is known to increase extracellular 5-HT levels (Owen and Whitton 2005;Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000), we find it likely that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is decreased in the FSL hippocampus in response to elevated 5-HT levels. Similar to the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding changes, the 5-HTT binding was decreased in both dorsal (12%, p < 0.0001) and ventral (10%, p = 0.020) hippocampus with no change in the caudate putamen of FSL rats (Manuscript II). Furthermore, the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding were directly correlated in the dorsal hippocampus (r = 0.48, p = 0.034) but not in the ventral hippocampus (Fig. 5). As chronic SSRI administration (Benmansour et al. 1999;Johnson et al. 2008) and 5-HTT depletion (Rattray et al. 1996a;Rothman et al. 2003) have been shown to downregulate hippocampal 5-HTT binding, the decrease in 5-HTT binding may be a response to changes in 5-HTT levels.



Figure 5. Correlation between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding in Flinders Line rats. [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 versus (S)-[N-methyl- $^{3}$ H]citalopram binding in A) dorsal hippocampus (r = 0.48, p = 0.034), and B) ventral hippocampus (r = 0.24, p = 0.307) of FSL (triangles, n = 10) and FRL (squares, n = 10). Values are fmol/mg tissue.

Post-hoc analyses of additional brain regions in the FSL and FRL rats showed a downregulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP (7%, p = 0.027) (Table 4) but this was not paralleled by a change in 5-HTT binding (Manuscript II). Chronic dopamine depletion upregulates 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP (Compan et al. 1996), and conversely, one might expect an increase in dopamine to downregulate pallidal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. The FSL have increased dopamine tissue levels in the caudate putamen (Zangen et al. 1999), which may affect the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors in the LGP, as they are expressed axonally on GABA neurons projecting from the caudate putamen (Compan et al. 1996).

As the hippocampal 5-HT system in the FSL is affected by ageing (Husum et al. 2006), 5- $HT_4$  receptor binding was also determined in aged (12-13 months) male FSL and FRL rats and compared to data from adult (4-8 months) FSL and FRL. The aged FSL data are not part of the manuscripts included in this thesis, and are therefore presented here in greater detail.

While adult FSL have a tendency towards longer 5-HT fibers in the dorsal hippocampus compared to adult FRL (3 months), aged 11 months-old FSL rats have shorter 5-HT fiber lengths in the CA1 and CA3 compared to adult FSL, and in the CA1 compared to aged FRL (Husum et al. 2006), suggesting an enhanced age-related decrease in serotonergic innervation in the FSL dorsal hippocampus. Two-way ANOVA of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding by Strain (FRL vs. FSL) and Age (Adult vs. Aged) showed a significant effect of Age (F(1,32) = 9.289, p = 0.0046) and an interaction between Age and Strain (F(1,32) = 6.976, p = 0.0127) in the dorsal hippocampus. Bonferroni posttests showed that a strain difference in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is present in adult animals only (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the adult and aged Flinders Line. Comparison of [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (fmol/mg tissue) in adult FRL (n = 10) and adult FSL (n = 10) with aged FRL (n = 8) and FSL (n = 8) rats in A) dorsal hippocampus, B) ventral hippocampus, C) LGP, and D) medial caudate putamen. Columns are mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01

There was also an effect of Age (F(1,32) = 20.96, p < 0.0001) and an interaction between Age and Strain (F(1,32) = 6.881, p = 0.0132) in the ventral hippocampus, and posttests showed that a difference in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding between the FSL and FRL was present in the adult animals only (Fig. 6). In the LGP, there was an effect of Strain (F(1,32) = 9.184, p = 0.0048) and no effect of Age or interaction on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding but Bonferroni posttests did not show significant differences between FSL and FRL. In the medial caudate putamen there was an effect of Age (F(1,32) = 12.26, p = 0.0014) but no effect of Strain or interaction between the two. This suggests differential effects of ageing on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the FSL and FRL hippocampus only, which in the dorsal hippocampus may relate to the
shortening of 5-HT fibers with ageing in the FSL (Husum et al. 2006), possibly counteracting the increased 5-HT levels in the adult FSL. The difference between FSL and FRL in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP is present in both adult and aged animals, supporting the notion that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in this region is regulated differently. The strain-independent age-related increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the medial caudate putamen is in line with an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the fundus striatum (and a non-significant increase in the caudate putamen) of 9 months-old rats (Manuel-Apolinar et al. 2005).

In the OBX mice, we found an increase in  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus (12%, p = 0.041) but no change in the dorsal hippocampus or caudate putamen (Table 5). The ventral hippocampal upregulation may be due to reduced serotonergic tonus, as chronic 5-HT depletion increases the  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor binding in the hippocampus (Compan et al. 1996), and 5-HIAA tissue levels are decreased in the hippocampus but unchanged in the caudate putamen after bulbectomy (Hellweg et al. 2007). The cause of the regional specificity of the  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor change within the hippocampus is unknown but may be dorso-ventral differences in connectivity (Bannerman et al. 2004), and is in accordance with differential changes in 5-HTT binding (Manuscript I) between the dorsal and ventral hippocampus in a pattern complementary to the  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor changes.

	Sham	OBX	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$10.5\pm0.8$	$9.8 \pm 0.5$	-7.3	0.399
Caudate putamen, caudal	$28.6\pm1.3$	$28.3\pm0.5$	-1.0	0.845
Hippocampus, dorsal	$14.4\pm0.8$	$15.2 \pm 0.8$	5.5	0.487
Hippocampus, ventral	$24.1\pm0.6$	$26.9\pm0.9$	11.5	0.041*
Frontal cortex	$4.4\pm0.8$	$5.7 \pm 0.6$	28.4	0.221
Hypothalamus	$20.8\pm0.7$	$21.4\pm0.7$	2.8	0.576
Lateral globus pallidus	$32.2\pm1.2$	$29.9\pm0.9$	-6.9	0.165
Lateral septum	$17.3\pm0.7$	$18.1 \pm 0.3$	4.6	0.307
Medial amygdala	$18.6\pm0.7$	$19.9\pm0.6$	6.9	0.168
N. accumbens shell	$26.2 \pm 0.7^2$	$24.5 \pm 1.2$	-6.3	0.331
Olfactory tubercles	$31.9\pm1.6$	$27.4 \pm 1.1$	-14.1	0.037*

Table 5. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after olfactory bulbectomy. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup> OBX compared to Sham. <sup>2</sup> n = 4. \*p < 0.05.

Changes in the 5-HT system are involved in the neurobiological basis of the OBX syndrome, as the syndrome can be induced by injection of serotonergic toxins into the olfactory bulbs (Cairncross et al. 1977a). OBX in mice induces neurodegeneration in the dorsal raphe nucleus (Nesterova et al. 1997), possibly due to degeneration of serotonergic fibers innervating the main olfactory bulb (McLean and Shipley 1987), and a decrease in brain tryptophan hydroxylase activity and 5-HT synthesis rate (Neckers et al. 1975). The pathophysiological

relevance of the increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after OBX is supported by the antidepressant effect of chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism in the OBX rat (Lucas et al. 2007).

Post-hoc analysis showed a downregulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles (14%, p = 0.037) (Table 5). The olfactory tubercles are implicated in the rewarding effects of morphine, cocaine, and brain-stimulation reward (Ikemoto 2007;Kornetsky et al. 1991;Ikemoto 2003), and have high 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor (Jakeman et al. 1994;Waeber et al. 1994) and 5-HTT binding (Scheffel and Hartig 1989), indicating dense innervation by serotonergic fibers. After bulbectomy, a marked (qualitative) increase in indoleamine content is present in the olfactory tubercles, indicating an increase in 5-HT content in this region (Garris et al. 1984). As the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is downregulated in response to chronic paroxetine administration, a possible explanation of the decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles could be a downregulation of the receptor in response to increased 5-HT levels. The 5-HTT binding in the olfactory tubercles was also reduced after OBX, and both 5-HTT (Manuscript I) and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles were inversely correlated with activity in the open field test, indicating a relation to the behavioral phenotype (Fig. 7).



Figure 7. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and activity in the open field test of bulbectomized and sham-operated mice. [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in A) ventral hippocampus (r = 0.51, p = 0.105) and B) olfactory tubercles (r = -0.66, p = 0.027) versus total distance moved in the open field test (expressed as percentage of baseline activity). Sham-operated animals are indicated by circles and bulbectomized animals by squares.

While both FSL and OBX are models of depression, they exhibit opposite behavioral responses to stress and novelty. The FSL model is characterized by increased immobility in the FST (Willner and Mitchell 2002), while the OBX model displays increased activity (Mucignat-Caretta et al. 2004). Similarly, the OBX model shows increased activity in the aversive open field test (Zueger et al. 2005), while the FSL rats are less active in this test (Overstreet et al. 1986). Differences in both psychomotor response to stress and 5-HT system changes may underlie these behavioral differences. In both models, we found changes in 5-

 $HT_4$  receptor binding in the hippocampus but not in the caudate putamen. Importantly, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was changed in opposite directions in the two models; decreased in FSL and increased after OBX. This may be caused by opposite directionality of 5-HT system changes in these models, increased hippocampal 5-HT levels in FSL rats and decreased 5-HT turnover in the OBX model. The directionality of the hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes in the two models are in accordance with decreased activity of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor knockout mice in the novel open field test (Compan et al. 2004). We also found changes in hippocampal 5-HTT binding in FSL and after OBX but in this case the binding was decreased in both models. However, this does not contradict the opposite changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, as both increasing (Benmansour et al. 1999; Johnson et al. 2008) and decreasing (Rattray et al. 1996b;Rothman et al. 2003) 5-HT levels can downregulate 5-HTT binding. The post-hoc analysis of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding implicated specific brain regions for each model, the LGP in FSL and the olfactory tubercles after OBX, explainable by model-specific characteristics. Of potential importance for the differences in reactivity to novelty and stress, post-hoc analysis of 5-HTT binding also showed opposite changes in 5-HTT binding in the basolateral amygdala, being increased in FSL (Manuscript II) and decreased after OBX (Manuscript I).

#### Animal models of HPA axis change

The  $GR^{+/-}$  mice exhibited an 11% increase (p = 0.036) in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen (Table 6), which is in agreement with the finding of increased postmortem 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate nucleus of depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004). Notably, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the caudal but not in the frontal caudate putamen (Table 6). While serotonergic denervation leads to an increase in  $5-HT_4$ receptor binding in the frontal but not in the caudal caudate putamen, lesions of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway induce an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudal but not the frontal caudate putamen after 21 days (Compan et al. 1996). Our finding of increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudal caudate putamen may therefore reflect decreased dopaminergic activity in  $GR^{+/-}$  mice. The increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is not related to changes in tissue dopamine levels, as these are similar in GR<sup>+/+</sup> and GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice (Schulte-Herbruggen et al. 2007), but could potentially reflect changes in dopaminergic neuronal activity. In the GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice, there was also a small (6%, p = 0.038) decrease in 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen but no change in the dorsal hippocampus or in the post-hoc analyzed regions (Manuscript I). The decrease in 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen was unexpected given the absence of 5-HT system change in the GR<sup>+/-</sup>

model (Schulte-Herbruggen et al. 2007). Post-hoc analysis showed a 10% increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles of the GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice (Table 6).

$\mathrm{GR}^{+/+}$	$\mathrm{GR}^{\scriptscriptstyle{+/-}}$	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value
$13.8\pm1.1$	$14.6\pm0.7$	6.4	0.500
$41.0\pm1.1$	$45.5\pm1.5$	10.9	0.036*
$15.7 \pm 1.0$ $18.4 \pm 0.7$ $17$		17.0	0.052
$28.0 \pm 0.9^{3}$	$29.8 \pm 1.4^{2}$	6.3	0.303
$24.3\pm0.9$	$26.3 \pm 0.8$	8.1	0.115
$40.2\pm0.7$	$42.1 \pm 1.2$	4.9	0.180
$22.3 \pm 1.3$	$23.7\pm0.7$	6.5	0.353
$21.6\pm0.8$	$22.9\pm0.9$	6.0	0.305
$33.4 \pm 2.1^2$	$38.4 \pm 1.1^2$	14.8	0.070
$40.9 \pm 1.1$	$44.8 \pm 1.2$	9.6	0.032*
	$GR^{+/+}$ 13.8 ± 1.1 41.0 ± 1.1 15.7 ± 1.0 28.0 ± 0.9 <sup>3</sup> 24.3 ± 0.9 40.2 ± 0.7 22.3 ± 1.3 21.6 ± 0.8 33.4 ± 2.1 <sup>2</sup> 40.9 ± 1.1	$GR^{+/+}$ $GR^{+/-}$ $13.8 \pm 1.1$ $14.6 \pm 0.7$ $41.0 \pm 1.1$ $45.5 \pm 1.5$ $15.7 \pm 1.0$ $18.4 \pm 0.7$ $28.0 \pm 0.9^3$ $29.8 \pm 1.4^2$ $24.3 \pm 0.9$ $26.3 \pm 0.8$ $40.2 \pm 0.7$ $42.1 \pm 1.2$ $22.3 \pm 1.3$ $23.7 \pm 0.7$ $21.6 \pm 0.8$ $22.9 \pm 0.9$ $33.4 \pm 2.1^2$ $38.4 \pm 1.1^2$ $40.9 \pm 1.1$ $44.8 \pm 1.2$	$GR^{+/+}$ $GR^{+/-}$ Percent change <sup>1</sup> $13.8 \pm 1.1$ $14.6 \pm 0.7$ $6.4$ $41.0 \pm 1.1$ $45.5 \pm 1.5$ $10.9$ $15.7 \pm 1.0$ $18.4 \pm 0.7$ $17.0$ $28.0 \pm 0.9^3$ $29.8 \pm 1.4^2$ $6.3$ $24.3 \pm 0.9$ $26.3 \pm 0.8$ $8.1$ $40.2 \pm 0.7$ $42.1 \pm 1.2$ $4.9$ $22.3 \pm 1.3$ $23.7 \pm 0.7$ $6.5$ $21.6 \pm 0.8$ $22.9 \pm 0.9$ $6.0$ $33.4 \pm 2.1^2$ $38.4 \pm 1.1^2$ $14.8$ $40.9 \pm 1.1$ $44.8 \pm 1.2$ $9.6$

Table 6. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup>GR<sup>+/-</sup> compared to GR<sup>+/+</sup>. <sup>2</sup> n = 5, <sup>3</sup> n = 4. \*p < 0.05.

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen and hippocampus did not correlate with total sucrose intake during CMS (Manuscript II). However, the 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen was inversely correlated with total sucrose intake (r = -0.41, p = 0.044), associating increased 5-HTT binding with the anhedonic response to CMS (Manuscript II). The absence of a change in hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding after CMS is in accordance with anhedonic and CMS resilient animals not differing in hippocampal expression of genes related to the 5-HT system (Bergstrom et al. 2007).

	5-HT syst	5-HT system disturbance		odulation
	FSL	OBX	GR	CMS
Hippocampus	Decrease	Increase	No change	No change
Caudate putamen	No change	No change	Increase	No change
Model-specific	LGP	Olfactory tubercles	Olfactory tubercles	None

Table 7. Comparison of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding changes in animal models of depression. Changes marked with bold: supported by effects on 5-HTT binding in the same region (no directionality)

The  $GR^{+/-}$  and CMS models are both based on HPA axis modulation, representing a genetic disposition to inhibited feedback of HPA axis activity and continuous HPA axis activation by chronic, environmental stressors, respectively. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the caudal caudate putamen of the  $GR^{+/-}$  model but was unchanged after CMS. However in both models, 5-HTT binding was changed in the frontal caudate putamen, though in opposite directions.

Animal models of depression display distinct changes in 5-HT system and behavior, and cross-model consistency is found in few if any biological marker (Table 3). From the comparison of 5-HTT binding, a 5-HT system factor implicated in the pathophysiology and

treatment of depression, in four depression models of different constructs within this project it is clear that the 5-HT system is affected in model-specific ways, and that differences between models are not explained by methodological differences between studies (Manuscript I and II). Similarly, the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding differ between the four models (Table 7). The majority of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes may be explainable by region-specific changes in endogenous agonism due to changes in 5-HT neuron firing and release, while a few may have their origin in changes in other neurotransmitter systems, e.g. the dopaminergic system.

#### Regulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor by 5-HT system changes (Aim II)

In order to understand the mechanisms behind the  $5-HT_4$  receptor changes observed in the animal depression models, we investigated regulation of  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding in response to alterations in cerebral 5-HT levels (Manuscript II). To alter 5-HT levels, normal rats were subjected to different treatment paradigms: 1, 14, and 21 days of paroxetine administration, and sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. While there was no effect after one day of paroxetine administration, a global and substantial (11-47%) downregulation of  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding was present after 14 and 21 days of treatment (Fig. 8, and Manuscript II). The absence of change in  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding after one day of paroxetine administration shows that the changes in  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding after 14 and 21 days are not due to acute effects of paroxetine but require chronic administration.



Figure 8. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after acute and chronic paroxetine administration. Autoradiograms of specific [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (1 nM) at four section levels after 1 (left panel) and 21 (right panel) days of vehicle (n = 7-8; A, D, G, J) or paroxetine (10 mg/kg, n = 7-8; B, E, H, K) administration. C, F, I, L) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604.

One study has previously investigated the effect of chronic antidepressant treatment on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and reported no effect of citalopram on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the

substantia nigra, which was the only region investigated (Gobbi et al. 1997). Though we have not quantified 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in this region (due to its small size) after chronic paroxetine administration, the global nature of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor downregulation and visual inspection of the autoradiograms suggest that the substantia nigra is affected too (Fig. 8, right panel). Our findings are in accordance with electrophysiological studies in hippocampal slices, showing a decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor sensitivity after chronic but not acute treatment with paroxetine (Bijak et al. 1997). The same group found a similar decrease in sensitivity after chronic administration of other antidepressant drugs (imipramine, citalopram, fluvoxamine) and after repeated ECS, indicating that this is a general effect of antidepressant treatment (Bijak 1997;Bijak et al. 2001;Bijak et al. 1997). While paroxetine by acute blockade of the 5-HTT increases synaptic 5-HT in certain regions, chronic administration strongly downregulates 5-HTT binding globally, leading to a larger decline in 5-HT clearance from the synapse (Benmansour et al. 1999). The decreased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after 14 and 21 days of paroxetine administration may be due to increased agonism-induced downregulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, as exposure to a saturating concentration of 5-HT decreases 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in colliculi neurons (Ansanay et al. 1996) through endocytosis of plasma membrane receptors (Barthet et al. 2005).

Sub-chronic 5-HT depletion induced a 13-41% increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the dorsal hippocampus, hypothalamus, and LGP (Table 8, Manuscript II). As previously published, our four day combined pCPA and fenfluramine 5-HT depletion paradigm results in a 95% reduction in brain 5-HT on day five (Kornum et al. 2006).

	Saline	pCPA + FEN	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, medial	$17.6\pm0.7$	$17.8\pm0.7$	1.0	0.871
Caudate putamen, caudal	$27.4\pm0.7$	$28.9\pm0.6$	5.7	0.102
Hippocampus, dorsal	$7.8 \pm 0.4$	$11.0\pm0.7$	40.7	0.0007***
Hippocampus, ventral	$15.1\pm0.9^{\mathrm{b}}$	$16.4\pm0.4$	8.6	0.163
Hypothalamus	$14.8\pm0.2$	$18.1\pm0.6$	22.2	0.0002***
Lateral globus pallidus	$26.6\pm0.7$	$30.0\pm1.0$	12.8	0.014*
Ventral pallidum	$26.9\pm0.6$	$29.3 \pm 1.1$	8.8	0.087

Table 8. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>pCPA + FEN compared to saline. <sup>b</sup>n = 7.

Our results support the previous report by Compan et al. (1996) of increased (28-83%) 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the rostral caudate putamen, nucleus accumbens, substantia nigra, globus pallidus, and hippocampus 21 days after 5,7-DHT lesions of the raphe nuclei, and shows that this effect is also present after sub-chronic pharmacological 5-HT depletion. After 5-HT depletion, the hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the dorsal subfield only, which is similar to the pattern of change in 5-HT<sub>1</sub> receptor binding after 5,7-DHT induced 5-

HT depletion, where binding is decreased in the anterior (dorsal) but not the posterior (ventral) hippocampus (Fischette et al. 1987).

To investigate whether the regulation of  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor binding by changes in 5-HT levels was specific to this receptor, we compared it with that of an extensively described 5-HT receptor, the  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}$  receptor. In agreement with previous studies using [<sup>3</sup>H]ketanserin (Maj et al. 1996;Nelson et al. 1989), we found a decrease in cortical  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}$  receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100607 binding after 21 days of paroxetine administration (Manuscript II). Whereas chronic paroxetine administration was associated with a profound and global reduction in the  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor binding, the effect on the  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}$  receptor was smaller and confined to frontal and cingulate cortices (Fig. 9, Manuscript II).



Figure 9. Chronic autoregulation of the rat 5-HT system. Relative changes in 5-HT transporter and receptor binding in response to changes in central 5-HT levels, achieved by chronic 5-HT depletion or SSRI administration. See text (p.13-14 and 37-39) for references.

In contrast to the limited effects of chronic paroxetine administration, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding was globally and markedly decreased after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion (Manuscript II). While this is the first report to use [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding to evaluate 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after 5-HT depletion, it has been reported that severe 5-HT depletion by 5,7-DHT (but not by pCPA) causes a 16-26% decrease in 5-HT<sub>2A/2C</sub> receptor [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding in the cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortex (Compan et al. 1998). Generally the effects of 5-HT depletion on 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding are complex, and may depend on 5-HT depletion protocol, degree of 5-HT depletion, radioligands used and time point of receptor binding analysis (see p.16).

Based on the experiments in Manuscript II and the study by Compan et al. (1996), the model of effects of chronic changes in 5-HT levels on 5-HT system markers (Fig. 1) can be

expanded to include regulation of  $5\text{-}\text{HT}_4$  receptor binding (Fig. 9). In this model, a chronic decrease in 5-HT levels will increase  $5\text{-}\text{HT}_4$  receptor binding in several regions, while a chronic increase in 5-HT levels will decrease  $5\text{-}\text{HT}_4$  receptor binding globally. The influence of chronic changes in brain 5-HT levels on  $5\text{-}\text{HT}_4$  receptor binding is unique in its plasticity and unidirectional relationship to 5-HT levels compared to the 5-HTT and other 5-HT receptors investigated so far (Fig. 9). This suggests that brain  $5\text{-}\text{HT}_4$  receptor binding may be used as a marker of chronic changes in central 5-HT levels in animals, and possibly also in humans in vivo by [ $^{11}\text{C}$ ]SB207145-PET studies.

#### Effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on the 5-HT system (Aim III)

Given that paroxetine administration strongly affects 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding with a timecourse similar to the clinical effect of paroxetine, the data from Manuscript II implicate regulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in the effects of antidepressant treatment. Since 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism increases 5-HT neuron firing rates in the DRN (Lucas et al. 2005), the decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in response to increased 5-HT levels may be a compensatory downregulation of a positive regulator of 5-HT system function. This suggests that activation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor may augment the response of the 5-HT system to paroxetine. To explore this possibility and to further characterize the effects of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor on 5-HT system activity, the effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation on extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus alone and in combination with paroxetine were investigated by in vivo microdialysis (Manuscript III).

Acute administration of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, i.v.) had no effect on extracellular 5-HT or 5-HIAA levels in the ventral hippocampus of the anaesthetized rat, while acute paroxetine administration (0.5 mg/kg i.v.) caused the expected increase in 5-HT (276% of baseline) and decrease in 5-HIAA levels (Fig. 10, Manuscript III). When administering RS67333 after the effect of paroxetine had stabilized, an additional increase in 5-HT levels (to 398% of baseline) was observed (Fig. 10). The absence of an acute effect of RS67333 alone was unexpected as a previous microdialysis study has shown markedly increased 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus after systemic administration of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist renzapride (Ge and Barnes 1996). The reason for this discrepancy could be that RS67333 is a partial agonist (Eglen et al. 1995), while renzapride is a full agonist. Another difference between the two studies is that Ge et al. (1996) performed their

experiments in wake rats, while we used chloral hydrate anaesthetized animals. However, administration of RS67333 at the dose used in our study increases 5-HT neuron activity in the DRN of the chloral hydrate anaesthetized rat (Lucas et al. 2005), and stimulation of the DRN is normally reflected in increased 5-HT release in the ventral hippocampus (Sharp and Hjorth 1990). The absence of a detectable increase in 5-HT levels in response to acute RS67333 administration could be due to rapid reuptake of 5-HT by the 5-HTT.



of baseline, after paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg, n = 6), RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, n = 5), or vehicle (n = 3) administration, and in response to combined paroxetine and RS67333 (n = 7) administration. Arrows indicate injection times. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001: paroxetine relative to vehicle (0-260 min); <sup>##</sup> p < 0.01: paroxetine + RS67333 compared to paroxetine (140-300 min).

The increase in extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus in response to acute systemic paroxetine administration is in agreement with previous studies (e.g. (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000)). The increased 5-HT levels are a result of inhibited 5-HT reuptake in combination with basal 5-HT release due to 5-HT neuron firing (Sharp et al. 1990), the latter of which is regulated by changes in extracellular 5-HT levels among other factors. Increased synaptic 5-HT levels inhibit 5-HT neuron firing through  $5-HT_{1A}$  autoreceptors in particular (Sprouse and Aghajanian 1987) and postsynaptic  $5-HT_{2A}$  and  $5-HT_{2B/C}$  receptors (Boothman et al. 2003). However, increased synaptic 5-HT levels may also have stimulatory effects on 5-HT neuron firing through postsynaptic 5-HT neuron activating compound, RS67333, to acute systemic paroxetine administration may shift the balance between inhibitory and stimulatory 5-HT receptor effects on 5-HT neuron activity, and thereby increase the 5-HT release in the ventral hippocampus (Fig. 10). The transient nature of the additional increase in

5-HT levels after RS67333 administration may be due to negative feedback regulation of 5-HT release, as the increase in 5-HT levels in response to RS67333 will increase the activation of inhibitory 5-HT receptors. Our results are in line with the ability of renzapride to increase 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus in the presence of paroxetine after local administration of both compounds via the microdialysis probe (Ge and Barnes 1996), though the latter implies a direct, local effect on 5-HT release.

	Control	3 days RS67333	p value
5-HT	$0.008\pm0.001$	$0.014\pm0.001$	0.0001***
5-HIAA	$7.536 \pm 0.459$	$5.478 \pm 0.834$	0.0474*
DOPAC	$0.424 \pm 0.034$	$0.352\pm0.055$	0.3209

Table 9. Basal 5-HT and metabolite levels after 3 days of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg). Values are mean ± SEM in pmol.

Three days of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, i.p.) administration increased 5-HT (by 73%) and decreased 5-HIAA baseline levels in the ventral hippocampus (Table 9). Given that acute RS67333 administration did not have a similar effect, the sub-chronic effect is most likely due to a combination of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulatory effects on 5-HT neuron activity (Lucas et al. 2005) and desensitization of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptors in the raphe nuclei (Lucas et al. 2007). Our finding is in agreement with the observed increased tonus on hippocampal postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors after sub-chronic RS67333 administration (Lucas et al. 2007).



Figure 11. Effect of paroxetine and RS6/353 administration on 5-H1 levels after sub-chronic RS67333 pretreatment. Changes in extracellular 5-HT levels (pmol) in the ventral hippocampus after paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg) and RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg) administration in animals receiving 3 days of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, n = 5) pretreatment or no pretreatment (n = 7). Arrows indicate injection times. \* p < 0.05.

The increase in 5-HT levels after 3 days of RS67333 administration is smaller than the 2-3fold elevation, which has been observed after 14 days of SSRI treatment (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000;Kreiss and Lucki 1995). Together with the paroxetine augmenting effect of acute RS67333 administration this suggests that a combination of SSRI administration and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism enhances 5-HT system activity. This is supported by the observation that a paroxetine challenge can still elevate 5-HT levels after 3 days of RS67333 administration and to a higher absolute level than reached with paroxetine alone (Fig. 11).

The regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding by changes in 5-HT levels, and in particular by chronic SSRI administration (Fig. 8), in combination with the stimulatory influence of subchronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus suggests, a role for the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in antidepressant treatment. While acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonism does not inhibit the antidepressant-like effect of fluoxetine in the FST (Cryan and Lucki 2000), a recent study has provided convincing data supporting a fast antidepressant-like effect of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonists (RS67333 and prucalopride) in the FST, CMS and OBX models of depression (Lucas et al. 2007). The antidepressant-like effects of RS67333 and prucalopride may relate to their ability to stimulate 5-HT neuron firing rate both after acute and chronic administration (Lucas et al. 2005), increasing 5-HT release in 5-HT projection areas after sub-chronic administration (Table 9). The absence of desensitization of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor effect on 5-HT neuron activity after chronic partial agonist administration is surprising given the present finding of chronic paroxetine induced downregulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. However, the resistance to desensitization may be due to the partial agonist profile of RS67333 and prucalopride (Duman 2007), as sub-chronic RS67333 administration (1.5 mg/kg i.p.) does not affect brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding (unpublished observations).

# Conclusions

This thesis is focused on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression and antidepressant treatment, in particular the regulatory interactions between the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and the 5-HT system. These interactions have been explored in experimental animals, which have been used as models of depression, antidepressant treatment, chronic changes of brain 5-HT levels, and antidepressant-like responses of the 5-HT system.

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was changed in three rodent models of depression, the FSL, OBX and GR<sup>+/-</sup>, which are based on distinct constructs and exhibit different endophenotypes of depression. In the FSL model, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was decreased in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus, and in the dorsal hippocampus the change was directly correlated to 5-HTT binding. Differential effects of ageing on hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was found in the FSL and FRL rats, while aged FSL rats exhibited a similar decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP as found in post-hoc analysis of adult FSL rats. While the FSL is characterized by increased immobility in response to forced swim stress, the OBX mice are hyperactive in the aversive open field test. The opposite effects of stress on locomotor activity in the two models were reflected in opposite changes in hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and 5-HTT binding in the basolateral amygdala. The OBX mice display increased  $5-HT_4$ receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus, and decreased 5-HTT binding in several brain regions, including the basolateral amygdala. The FSL and OBX models are characterized by changes in the 5-HT system, which may affect endogenous agonism on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, and thereby influence 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. In comparison, the  $GR^{+/-}$  model is based on a genetically induced deficit in negative feedback control of the HPA axis in response to stress. The  $GR^{+/-}$  model showed increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudal caudate putamen, which was not readily explainable by changes in the 5-HT system. However, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was not affected by chronic exposure to environmental stress (CMS).

Manipulation of central 5-HT levels indicated an inverse relationship between 5-HT levels and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. Effects of sub-chronic 5-HT depletion on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding were detected in the dorsal hippocampus, hypothalamus, and LGP, while chronic SSRI (paroxetine) administration downregulated 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in all brain regions evaluated. The regionally confined pattern of changes induced by 5-HT depletion may relate to the relatively short duration (5 days) of decreased 5-HT levels, as others have reported larger and more widespread changes after 21 days. The regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding

by these pharmacological manipulations of brain 5-HT levels differed from that of another postsynaptic 5-HT receptor, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor, which was moderately downregulated by chronic paroxetine treatment in cortical regions only but globally downregulated by subchronic 5-HT depletion. The inverse relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and central 5-HT levels is unique among 5-HT receptors analyzed so far, and suggests the potential use of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding as a marker of chronic changes in endogenous 5-HT levels. It also indicates that regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding may be a compensatory feedback mechanism in the 5-HT system of relevance to antidepressant treatment and 5-HT system control.

In support of a central role of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in 5-HT system control, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation increased the effect of acute SSRI (paroxetine) administration on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus, both acutely and after three days of administration with the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist RS67333. This effect is most likely due to the acute stimulation of 5-HT neuron firing rate by 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism, which has been reported by others. While acute administration of RS67333 did not affect extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus, three days of RS67333 administration sufficed to elevate 5-HT levels. As an increase in extracellular 5-HT levels is associated with antidepressant effect of drug treatment, these data suggest that 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism have antidepressant potential, in particular in combination with SSRI administration.

Collectively the results of this thesis suggest a model of reciprocal regulatory interactions between the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and central 5-HT levels: 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation stimulates 5-HT release, leading to increased 5-HT levels, which by increased receptor agonism downregulates 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. The regulatory effects require sub-chronic 5-HT system stimulation, possibly to overcome 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptor mediated inhibition through desensitization. This model provides a framework for interpretation of changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding found in three animal depression models and their relation to changes in 5-HTT binding. Given that 5-HT system changes are among the biological endophenotypes of depression, the reciprocal regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and 5-HT levels supports a role for the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in the pathophysiology of depression.

## **Research Perspectives**

While this thesis has addressed important questions regarding the role of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in the pathophysiology of depression and its potential as a target for antidepressant treatment, these lines of research have potential for further extension.

The importance of changes in brain regional 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding for the depressionlike behavior of the three animal models should be confirmed by reversal of the changes by chronic antidepressant treatment, and potential functional implications of the changes could be examined by behavioral tests or in vivo pharmacological assays. The changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding could also be studied at the cellular level in the affected brain regions to examine potential relations to neurodegenerative changes and determine sub-cellular localization of affected receptors, requiring the development of suitable antibodies.

The mechanism and time course of the effects of changes in brain 5-HT levels on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding should be further explored. The hypothesis of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding changes being mediated by changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation should be tested by studying the effects of acute, sub-chronic and chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonism, partial agonism and full agonism on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding. Of relevance to the potential use of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding as a marker of chronic changes in 5-HT levels, the effects of intermediate degrees of 5-HT depletion on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding should be explored. It would also be relevant to determine the detailed time course of the effects of paroxetine between one and 14 days of administration, and to evaluate the time course of reversal of the effect of paroxetine can be extended to other antidepressant treatments, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding should be evaluated after administration of other antidepressant drugs and ECS. It is also important to determine whether the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor function.

The effects of  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor stimulation on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus should be confirmed with another  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor agonist and by blocking the response with a  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor antagonist. The antidepressant potential of combined  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor agonism and SSRI administration should be further explored in animal models of antidepressant-like effects. In addition, it would be interesting to test the effects of combined  $5\text{-HT}_4$  receptor agonism and  $5\text{-HT}_{1A}$  receptor antagonism as a possible means to achieve antidepressant-like effects acutely.

# References

Adlersberg M., Arango V., Hsiung S., Mann J. J., Underwood M. D., Liu K., Kassir S. A., Ruggiero D. A., and Tamir H. (2000) In vitro autoradiography of serotonin 5-HT(2A/2C) receptor-activated G protein: guanosine-5'-(gamma-[(35)S]thio)triphosphate binding in rat brain. *J Neurosci Res* **61**, 674-85.

Amemiya Y. and Miyahara J. (1988) Imaging plate illuminates many fields. Nature 336, 89-90.

American Psychiatric Association (1994) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition (DSM-IV). American Psychiatric Association. Washington, DC.

Ansanay H., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1992) Characterization of homologous 5-hydroxytryptamine4 receptor desensitization in colliculi neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* 42, 808-16.

Ansanay H., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1996) Pharmacological comparison between [<sup>3</sup>H]GR 113808 binding sites and functional 5-HT4 receptors in neurons. *Eur J Pharmacol* 298, 165-74.

Azmitia E. C. (1999) Serotonin neurons, neuroplasticity, and homeostasis of neural tissue. Neuropsychopharmacology 21, 33S-45S.

Bannerman D. M., Rawlins J. N., McHugh S. B., Deacon R. M., Yee B. K., Bast T., Zhang W. N., Pothuizen H. H., and Feldon J. (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus-memory and anxiety. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 28, 273-83.

Barnes N. M., Cheng C. H., Costall B., Ge J., and Naylor R. J. (1992) Differential modulation of extracellular levels of 5-hydroxytryptamine in the rat frontal cortex by (R)- and (S)-zacopride. Br J Pharmacol 107, 233-9.

Barnes N. M. and Sharp T. (1999) A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. Neuropharmacology 38, 1083-152.

Barthet G., Gaven F., Framery B., Shinjo K., Nakamura T., Claeysen S., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (2005) Uncoupling and endocytosis of 5-hydroxytryptamine 4 receptors. Distinct molecular events with different GRK2 requirements. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 27924-34.

Baumann M. H., Ayestas M. A., Dersch C. M., Partilla J. S., and Rothman R. B. (2000) Serotonin transporters, serotonin release, and the mechanism of fenfluramine neurotoxicity. Ann N Y Acad Sci 914, 172-86.

Bekris S., Antoniou K., Daskas S., and Papadopoulou-Daifoti Z. (2005) Behavioural and neurochemical effects induced by chronic mild stress applied to two different rat strains. *Behav Brain Res* 161, 45-59.

Bell C., Abrams J., and Nutt D. (2001) Tryptophan depletion and its implications for psychiatry. Br J Psychiatry 178, 399-405.

Bengel D., Murphy D. L., Andrews A. M., Wichems C. H., Feltner D., Heils A., Mossner R., Westphal H., and Lesch K. P. (1998) Altered brain serotonin homeostasis and locomotor insensitivity to 3, 4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("Ecstasy") in serotonin transporter-deficient mice. *Mol Pharmacol* **53**, 649-55.

Benmansour S., Cecchi M., Morilak D. A., Gerhardt G. A., Javors M. A., Gould G. G., and Frazer A. (1999) Effects of chronic antidepressant treatments on serotonin transporter function, density, and mRNA level. *J Neurosci* **19**, 10494-501.

Benmansour S., Owens W. A., Cecchi M., Morilak D. A., and Frazer A. (2002) Serotonin clearance in vivo is altered to a greater extent by antidepressant-induced downregulation of the serotonin transporter than by acute blockade of this transporter. *J Neurosci* 22, 6766-72.

Bennett J. P. (1978) Methods in binding studies, in *Neurotransmitter receptor binding* (Yamamura H. I., Enna S. J., and Kuhar M. J., eds.), pp. 57-90. Raven Press, New York.

Bergstrom A., Jayatissa M. N., Mork A., and Wiborg O. (2008) Stress sensitivity and resilience in the chronic mild stress rat model of depression; an in situ hybridization study. *Brain Res* **1196**, 41-52.

Bergstrom A., Jayatissa M. N., Thykjaer T., and Wiborg O. (2007) Molecular pathways associated with stress resilience and drug resistance in the chronic mild stress rat model of depression: a gene expression study. *J Mol Neurosci* **33**, 201-15.

Berton O. and Nestler E. J. (2006) New approaches to antidepressant drug discovery: beyond monoamines. Nat Rev Neurosci 7, 137-51.

Bijak M. (1997) Imipramine-induced subsensitivity to the 5-HT4 receptor activation, a possible mediation via an alteration in the postreceptor transduction mechanism involving adenylate cyclase. *Pol J Pharmacol* **49**, 345-50.

Bijak M., Tokarski K., and Maj J. (1997) Repeated treatment with antidepressant drugs induces subsensitivity to the excitatory effect of 5-HT4 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **355**, 14-9.

Bijak M., Zahorodna A., and Tokarski K. (2001) Opposite effects of antidepressants and corticosterone on the sensitivity of hippocampal CA1 neurons to 5-HT1A and 5-HT4 receptor activation. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **363**, 491-8.

Bjornebekk A., Mathe A. A., Gruber S. H., and Brene S. (2007) Social isolation increases number of newly proliferated cells in hippocampus in female flinders sensitive line rats. *Hippocampus* **17**, 1193-200.

Bloch R. G., Dooneief A. S., Buchberg A. S., and Spellman S. (1954) The clinical effect of isoniazid and iproniazid in the treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis. Ann Intern Med 40, 881-900.

Bockaert J., Claeysen S., Compan V., and Dumuis A. (2004) 5-HT4 receptors. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 3, 39-51.

Bockaert J. and Dumuis A. (1998) Localization of 5-HT4 receptors in vertebrate brain and their potential behavioral roles, in 5-HT4 receptors in the brain and periphery (Eglen R. M., ed.), pp. 63-86. Springer-Verlag and R.G. Landes Company, Germany.

Bockaert J., Sebben M., and Dumuis A. (1990) Pharmacological characterization of 5-hydroxytryptamine4(5-HT4) receptors positively coupled to adenylate cyclase in adult guinea pig hippocampal membranes: effect of substituted benzamide derivatives. *Mol Pharmacol* **37**, 408-11.

Bonaventure P., Hall H., Gommeren W., Cras P., Langlois X., Jurzak M., and Leysen J. E. (2000) Mapping of serotonin 5-HT(4) receptor mRNA and ligand binding sites in the post-mortem human brain. *Synapse* **36**, 35-46.

Bonhaus D. W., Berger J., Adham N., Branchek T. A., Hsu S. A., Loury D. N., Leung E., Wong E. H., Clark R. D., and Eglen R. M. (1997) [3H]RS 57639, a high affinity, selective 5-HT4 receptor partial agonist, specifically labels guinea-pig striatal and rat cloned (5-HT4S and 5-HT4L) receptors. *Neuropharmacology* **36**, 671-9.

Boothman L. J., Allers K. A., Rasmussen K., and Sharp T. (2003) Evidence that central 5-HT2A and 5-HT2B/C receptors regulate 5-HT cell firing in the dorsal raphe nucleus of the anaesthetised rat. Br J Pharmacol 139, 998-1004.

Bourin M., Chue P., and Guillon Y. (2001) Paroxetine: a review. CNS Drug Rev 7, 25-47.

Brattelid T., Kvingedal A. M., Krobert K. A., Andressen K. W., Bach T., Hystad M. E., Kaumann A. J., and Levy F. O. (2004) Cloning, pharmacological characterisation and tissue distribution of a novel 5-HT4 receptor splice variant, 5-HT4(i). *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **369**, 616-28.

Burt D. R. (1978) Criteria for receptor identification, in *Neurotransmitter receptor binding* (Yamamura H. I., Enna S. J., and Kuhar M. J., eds.), pp. 41-55. Raven Press, New York.

Cahir M., Ardis T., Reynolds G. P., and Cooper S. J. (2007) Acute and chronic tryptophan depletion differentially regulate central 5-HT1A and 5-HT 2A receptor binding in the rat. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **190**, 497-506.

Cairncross K. D., Cox B., Forster C., and Wren A. (1977a) The ability of local injection of 6-OHDA, 5,6-DHT and 5,7-DHT into the olfactory bulbs to mimic the effects of bilateral bulbectomy in the rat. Br J Pharmacol **61**, 145P-146P.

Cairncross K. D., Wren A., Cox B., and Schnieden H. (1977b) Effects of olfactory bulbectomy and domicile on stress-induced corticosterone release in the rat. *Physiol Behav* 19, 485-7.

Cannon D. M., Ichise M., Rollis D., Klaver J. M., Gandhi S. K., Charney D. S., Manji H. K., and Drevets W. C. (2007) Elevated serotonin transporter binding in major depressive disorder assessed using positron emission tomography and [11C]DASB; comparison with bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* **62**, 870-7.

Castro E., Tordera R. M., Hughes Z. A., Pei Q., and Sharp T. (2003) Use of Arc expression as a molecular marker of increased postsynaptic 5-HT function after SSRI/5-HT1A receptor antagonist co-administration. *J Neurochem* **85**, 1480-7.

Celada P., Puig M., Amargos-Bosch M., Adell A., and Artigas F. (2004) The therapeutic role of 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors in depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci 29, 252-65.

Chen H. T., Clark M., and Goldman D. (1992) Quantitative autoradiography of 3H-paroxetine binding sites in rat brain. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 27, 209-16.

Chourbaji S. and Gass P. (2008) Glucocorticoid receptor transgenic mice as models for depression. Brain Res Rev 57, 554-60.

Clineschmidt B. V., Totaro J. A., McGuffin J. C., and Pflueger A. B. (1976) Fenfluramine: long-term reduction in brain serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine). Eur J Pharmacol 35, 211-4.

Compan V., Daszuta A., Salin P., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1996) Lesion study of the distribution of serotonin 5-HT4 receptors in rat basal ganglia and hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci* **8**, 2591-8.

Compan V., Segu L., Buhot M. C., and Daszuta A. (1998) Differential effects of serotonin (5-HT) lesions and synthesis blockade on neuropeptide-Y immunoreactivity and 5-HT1A, 5-HT1B/1D and 5-HT2A/2C receptor binding sites in the rat cerebral cortex. *Brain Res* **795**, 264-76.

Compan V., Zhou M., Grailhe R., Gazzara R. A., Martin R., Gingrich J., Dumuis A., Brunner D., Bockaert J., and Hen R. (2004) Attenuated

response to stress and novelty and hypersensitivity to seizures in 5-HT4 receptor knock-out mice. J Neurosci 24, 412-9.

Cryan J. F. and Lucki I. (2000) 5-HT4 receptors do not mediate the antidepressant-like behavioral effects of fluoxetine in a modified forced swim test. *Eur J Pharmacol* **409**, 295-9.

Cussac D., Pasteau V., and Millan M. J. (2004) Characterisation of Gs activation by dopamine D1 receptors using an antibody capture assay: antagonist properties of clozapine. *Eur J Pharmacol* **485**, 111-7.

Danmarks Statistik. Folketal ultimo kvartalet. Danmarks Statistik . February 13, 2006. May 26, 2006.

Domenech T., Beleta J., Fernandez A. G., Gristwood R. W., Cruz Sanchez F., Tolosa E., and Palacios J. M. (1994) Identification and characterization of serotonin 5-HT4 receptor binding sites in human brain: comparison with other mammalian species. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **21**, 176-80.

Drevets W. C. (2000) Neuroimaging studies of mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 48, 813-29.

Drevets W. C., Frank E., Price J. C., Kupfer D. J., Greer P. J., and Mathis C. (2000) Serotonin type-1A receptor imaging in depression. Nucl Med Biol 27, 499-507.

Drevets W. C., Frank E., Price J. C., Kupfer D. J., Holt D., Greer P. J., Huang Y., Gautier C., and Mathis C. (1999) PET imaging of serotonin 1A receptor binding in depression. *Biol Psychiatry* **46**, 1375-87.

Drevets W. C., Price J. L., Simpson J. R. Jr, Todd R. D., Reich T., Vannier M., and Raichle M. E. (1997) Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. *Nature* 386, 824-7.

Drevets, W. C., Sills, R., Nugent, A. C., Bain, E. E., Neumeister, A., Price, J., Zarate, C. A., and Charney, D. S. Volumetric assessment of the amygdala in mood disorders using high resolution, 3T MRI. Biol Psychiatry 55[1S-242S], 182S. 2004.

Drevets W. C., Videen T. O., Price J. L., Preskorn S. H., Carmichael S. T., and Raichle M. E. (1992) A functional anatomical study of unipolar depression. J Neurosci 12, 3628-41.

Duman R. S. (2007) A silver bullet for the treatment of depression? Neuron 55, 679-81.

Dumuis A., Bouhelal R., Sebben M., Cory R., and Bockaert J. (1988) A nonclassical 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor positively coupled with adenylate cyclase in the central nervous system. *Mol Pharmacol* **34**, 880-7.

Eglen R. M., Bonhaus D. W., Johnson L. G., Leung E., and Clark R. D. (1995) Pharmacological characterization of two novel and potent 5-HT4 receptor agonists, RS 67333 and RS 67506, in vitro and in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **115**, 1387-92.

Eplov, L. F., Jorgensen, T., Hougaard, E., Kessing, L., Larsen, L., Stage, K., and Videbech, P. Behandling af depressionssygdomme. Kommentering af: Behandling af depressionssjukdomar. En systematisk litteraturöversikt. Volym 1-3. Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering. 2005. Copenhagen, Sundhedsstyrelsen, Center for Evaluering og Medicinsk Teknologivurdering.

Fabre V., Beaufour C., Evrard A., Rioux A., Hanoun N., Lesch K. P., Murphy D. L., Lanfumey L., Hamon M., and Martres M. P. (2000) Altered expression and functions of serotonin 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptors in knock-out mice lacking the 5-HT transporter. *Eur J Neurosci* **12**, 2299-310.

Fagni L., Dumuis A., Sebben M., and Bockaert J. (1992) The 5-HT4 receptor subtype inhibits K+ current in colliculi neurones via activation of a cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Br J Pharmacol* **105**, 973-9.

Fava M. and Kendler K. S. (2000) Major depressive disorder. Neuron 28, 335-41.

Fischette C. T., Nock B., and Renner K. (1987) Effects of 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine on serotonin1 and serotonin2 receptors throughout the rat central nervous system using quantitative autoradiography. *Brain Res* **421**, 263-79.

Fuxe K., Farnebo L. O., Hamberger B., and Ogren S. O. (1975) On the in vivo and in vitro actions of fenfluramine and its derivatives on central monoamine neurons, especially 5-hydroxytryptamine neurons, and their relation to the anorectic activity of fenfluramine. *Postgrad Med J* **51** Suppl 1, 35-45.

Garattini S., Mennini T., and Samanin R. (1987) From fenfluramine racemate to d-fenfluramine. Specificity and potency of the effects on the serotoninergic system and food intake. Ann N Y Acad Sci 499, 156-66.

Garcia-Osta A., Del Rio J., and Frechilla D. (2004) Increased CRE-binding activity and tryptophan hydroxylase mRNA expression induced by 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstasy") in the rat frontal cortex but not in the hippocampus. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **126**, 181-7.

Garris D. R., Chamberlain J. K., and DaVanzo J. P. (1984) Histofluorescent identification of indoleamine-concentrating brain loci associated with intraspecies, reflexive biting and locomotor behavior in olfactory-bulbectomized mice. *Brain Res* 294, 385-9.

Gartside S. E., Umbers V., Hajos M., and Sharp T. (1995) Interaction between a selective 5-HT1A receptor antagonist and an SSRI in vivo: effects on 5-HT cell firing and extracellular 5-HT. Br J Pharmacol 115, 1064-70.

Ge J. and Barnes N. M. (1996) 5-HT4 receptor-mediated modulation of 5-HT release in the rat hippocampus in vivo. Br J Pharmacol 117, 1475-80.

Gobbi M., Crespi D., Foddi M. C., Fracasso C., Mancini L., Parotti L., and Mennini T. (1997) Effects of chronic treatment with fluoxetine and citalopram on 5-HT uptake, 5-HT1B autoreceptors, 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **356**, 22-8.

Grossman C. J., Kilpatrick G. J., and Bunce K. T. (1993) Development of a radioligand binding assay for 5-HT4 receptors in guinea-pig and rat brain. Br J Pharmacol 109, 618-24.

Gunther L., Liebscher S., Jahkel M., and Oehler J. (2008) Effects of chronic citalopram treatment on 5-HT(1A) and 5-HT(2A) receptors in group- and isolation-housed mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* **593**, 49-61.

Gurevich E. V., Aleksandrova I. A., Otmakhova N. A., Katkov Y. A., Nesterova I. V., and Bobkova N. V. (1993) Effects of bulbectomy and subsequent antidepressant treatment on brain 5-HT2 and 5-HT1A receptors in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* **45**, 65-70.

Haddock R. E., Johnson A. M., Langley P. F., Nelson D. R., Pope J. A., Thomas D. R., and Woods F. R. (1989) Metabolic pathway of paroxetine in animals and man and the comparative pharmacological properties of its metabolites. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* **350**, 24-6.

Hajos-Korcsok E., McTavish S. F., and Sharp T. (2000) Effect of a selective 5-hydroxytryptamine reuptake inhibitor on brain extracellular noradrenaline: microdialysis studies using paroxetine. *Eur J Pharmacol* **407**, 101-7.

Hajos M., Gartside S. E., and Sharp T. (1995) Inhibition of median and dorsal raphe neurones following administration of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **351**, 624-9.

Hansen P. E., Wang A. G., Stage K. B., and Kragh-Sorensen P. (2003) Comorbid personality disorder predicts suicide after major depression: a 10-year follow-up. Acta Psychiatr Scand 107, 436-40.

Hasegawa S., Nishi K., Watanabe A., Overstreet D. H., and Diksic M. (2006) Brain 5-HT synthesis in the Flinders Sensitive Line rat model of depression: an autoradiographic study. *Neurochem Int* **48**, 358-66.

Hasin D. S., Goodwin R. D., Stinson F. S., and Grant B. F. (2005) Epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcoholism and Related Conditions. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **62**, 1097-106.

Hasler G., Drevets W. C., Manji H. K., and Charney D. S. (2004) Discovering endophenotypes for major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **29**, 1765-81.

Heal D. J., Philpot J., Molyneux S. G., and Metz A. (1985) Intracerebroventricular administration of 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine to mice increases both head-twitch response and the number of cortical 5-HT2 receptors. *Neuropharmacology* **24**, 1201-5.

Hegde S. S., Bonhaus D. W., Johnson L. G., Leung E., Clark R. D., and Eglen R. M. (1995) RS 39604: a potent, selective and orally active 5-HT4 receptor antagonist. *Br J Pharmacol* **115**, 1087-95.

Hegde S. S. and Eglen R. M. (1996) Peripheral 5-HT4 receptors. FASEB J 10, 1398-407.

Hellweg R., Zueger M., Fink K., Hortnagl H., and Gass P. (2007) Olfactory bulbectomy in mice leads to increased BDNF levels and decreased serotonin turnover in depression-related brain areas. *Neurobiol Dis* 25, 1-7.

Herkenham M. and Pert C. B. (1982) Light microscopic localization of brain opiate receptors: a general autoradiographic method which preserves tissue quality. *J Neurosci* **2**, 1129-49.

Heuser I., Yassouridis A., and Holsboer F. (1994) The combined dexamethasone/CRH test: a refined laboratory test for psychiatric disorders. J Psychiatr Res 28, 341-56.

Hirano K., Maruyama S., Kimura R., Kagawa Y., and Yamada S. (2004) In vivo identification and characterization of binding sites for selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in mouse brain. *Life Sci* **75**, 2933-45.

Husum H., Aznar S., Hoyer-Hansen S., Larsen M. H., Mikkelsen J. D., Moller A., Mathe A. A., and Wortwein G. (2006) Exacerbated loss of cell survival, neuropeptide Y-immunoreactive (IR) cells, and serotonin-IR fiber lengths in the dorsal hippocampus of the aged flinders sensitive line "depressed" rat: Implications for the pathophysiology of depression? *J Neurosci Res* **84**, 1292-302.

Ikemoto S. (2003) Involvement of the olfactory tubercle in cocaine reward: intracranial self-administration studies. J Neurosci 23, 9305-11.

Ikemoto S. (2007) Dopamine reward circuitry: two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. Brain Res Rev 56, 27-78.

Invernizzi R., Bramante M., and Samanin R. (1994) Chronic treatment with citalopram facilitates the effect of a challenge dose on cortical serotonin output: role of presynaptic 5-HT1A receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 260, 243-6.

Jacobs B. L. and Azmitia E. C. (1992) Structure and function of the brain serotonin system. Physiol Rev 72, 165-229.

Jakeman L. B., To Z. P., Eglen R. M., Wong E. H., and Bonhaus D. W. (1994) Quantitative autoradiography of 5-HT4 receptors in brains of three species using two structurally distinct radioligands, [3H]GR113808 and [3H]BIMU-1. *Neuropharmacology* **33**, 1027-38.

Jarosik J., Legutko B., Unsicker K., and von Bohlen Und Halbach O. (2007) Antidepressant-mediated reversal of abnormal behavior and neurodegeneration in mice following olfactory bulbectomy. *Exp Neurol* **204**, 20-8.

Jennings K. A., Loder M. K., Sheward W. J., Pei Q., Deacon R. M., Benson M. A., Olverman H. J., Hastie N. D., Harmar A. J., Shen S., and Sharp T. (2006) Increased expression of the 5-HT transporter confers a low-anxiety phenotype linked to decreased 5-HT transmission. *J Neurosci* **26**, 8955-64.

Jequier E., Lovenberg W., and Sjoerdsma A. (1967) Tryptophan hydroxylase inhibition: the mechanism by which p-chlorophenylalanine depletes rat brain serotonin. *Mol Pharmacol* **3**, 274-8.

Jha S., Rajendran R., Davda J., and Vaidya V. A. (2006) Selective serotonin depletion does not regulate hippocampal neurogenesis in the adult rat brain: differential effects of p-chlorophenylalanine and 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine. *Brain Res* **1075**, 48-59.

Johnson D. A., Ingram C. D., Grant E. J., Craighead M., and Gartside S. E. (2008) Glucocorticoid Receptor Antagonism Augments Fluoxetine-Induced Downregulation of the 5-HT Transporter. *Neuropsychopharmacology, print copy in press (originally published online May 21, 2008, at www.acnp.org/citations/Npp18496518/).* 

Kang M., Pyun K. H., Jang C. G., Kim H., Bae H., and Shim I. (2005) Nelumbinis Semen reverses a decrease in hippocampal 5-HT release induced by chronic mild stress in rats. *J Pharm Pharmacol* **57**, 651-6.

Kelly J. P., Wrynn A. S., and Leonard B. E. (1997) The olfactory bulbectomized rat as a model of depression: an update. *Pharmacol Ther* **74**, 299-316.

Kim D. K., Tolliver T. J., Huang S. J., Martin B. J., Andrews A. M., Wichems C., Holmes A., Lesch K. P., and Murphy D. L. (2005) Altered serotonin synthesis, turnover and dynamic regulation in multiple brain regions of mice lacking the serotonin transporter. *Neuropharmacology* **49**, 798-810.

Koed K. and Linnet K. (2000) Opposing changes in serotonin and norepinephrine transporter mRNA levels after serotonin depletion. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* **10**, 501-9.

Kornetsky C., Huston-Lyons D., and Porrino L. J. (1991) The role of the olfactory tubercle in the effects of cocaine, morphine and brainstimulation reward. *Brain Res* 541, 75-81.

Kornum B. R., Licht C. L., Weikop P., Knudsen G. M., and Aznar S. (2006) Central serotonin depletion affects rat brain areas differently: a qualitative and quantitative comparison between different treatment schemes. *Neurosci Lett* **392**, 129-34.

Kreiss D. S. and Lucki I. (1995) Effects of acute and repeated administration of antidepressant drugs on extracellular levels of 5hydroxytryptamine measured in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 274, 866-76.

Kuhn R. (1958) The treatment of depressive states with G 22355 (imipramine hydrochloride). Am J Psychiatry 115, 459-64.

Le Poul E., Laaris N., Doucet E., Laporte A. M., Hamon M., and Lanfumey L. (1995) Early desensitization of somato-dendritic 5-HT1A autoreceptors in rats treated with fluoxetine or paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **352**, 141-8.

Li J. M., Kong L. D., Wang Y. M., Cheng C. H., Zhang W. Y., and Tan W. Z. (2003) Behavioral and biochemical studies on chronic mild stress models in rats treated with a Chinese traditional prescription Banxia-houpu decoction. *Life Sci* **74**, 55-73.

Lieben C. K., Blokland A., Westerink B., and Deutz N. E. (2004) Acute tryptophan and serotonin depletion using an optimized tryptophanfree protein-carbohydrate mixture in the adult rat. *Neurochem Int* 44, 9-16.

Lublin H. K., Nielsen U. J., Vittrup P., Bach-Dal C., and Larsen J. K. (2002) Diagnostik og behandling af depression i almen praksis. Ugeskr Laeger 164, 3440.

Lucas G., Compan V., Charnay Y., Neve R. L., Nestler E. J., Bockaert J., Barrot M., and Debonnel G. (2005) Frontocortical 5-HT4 receptors exert positive feedback on serotonergic activity: viral transfections, subacute and chronic treatments with 5-HT4 agonists. *Biol Psychiatry* 57, 918-25.

Lucas G. and Debonnel G. (2002) 5-HT4 receptors exert a frequency-related facilitatory control on dorsal raphe nucleus 5-HT neuronal activity. *Eur J Neurosci* 16, 817-22.

Lucas G., Di Matteo V., De Deurwaerdere P., Porras G., Martin-Ruiz R., Artigas F., Esposito E., and Spampinato U. (2001) Neurochemical

and electrophysiological evidence that 5-HT4 receptors exert a state-dependent facilitatory control in vivo on nigrostriatal, but not mesoaccumbal, dopaminergic function. *Eur J Neurosci* **13**, 889-98.

Lucas G., Rymar V. V., Du J., Mnie-Filali O., Bisgaard C., Manta S., Lambas-Senas L., Wiborg O., Haddjeri N., Pineyro G., Sadikot A. F., and Debonnel G. (2007) Serotonin(4) (5-HT(4)) receptor agonists are putative antidepressants with a rapid onset of action. *Neuron* 55, 712-25.

Lucchelli A., Santagostino-Barbone M. G., Barbieri A., Candura S. M., and Tonini M. (1995) The interaction of antidepressant drugs with central and peripheral (enteric) 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors. *Br J Pharmacol* **114**, 1017-25.

Magnussen I., Tonder K., and Engback F. (1982) Paroxetine, a potent selective long-acting inhibitor of synaptosomal 5-HT uptake in mice. J Neural Transmission 55, 217-226.

Maj J., Bijak M., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M., Rogoz R., Rogoz Z., Skuza G., and Tokarski T. (1996) The effects of paroxetine given repeatedly on the 5-HT receptor subpopulations in the rat brain. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **127**, 73-82.

Mann J. J. (1999) Role of the serotonergic system in the pathogenesis of major depression and suicidal behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **21**, 99S-105S.

Manuel-Apolinar L., Rocha L., Pascoe D., Castillo E., Castillo C., and Meneses A. (2005) Modifications of 5-HT4 receptor expression in rat brain during memory consolidation. *Brain Res* **1042**, 73-81.

Marsden C. A. and Joseph M. H. (1986) Biogenic amines, in *HPLC of small molecules: a practical approach* (Lim C. K., ed.), pp. 29-48. IRL Press, Oxford.

Matsumoto M., Togashi H., Mori K., Ueno K., Ohashi S., Kojima T., and Yoshioka M. (2001) Evidence for involvement of central 5-HT(4) receptors in cholinergic function associated with cognitive processes: behavioral, electrophysiological, and neurochemical studies. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **296**, 676-82.

McGregor I. S., Clemens K. J., Van der Plasse G., Li K. M., Hunt G. E., Chen F., and Lawrence A. J. (2003) Increased anxiety 3 months after brief exposure to MDMA ("Ecstasy") in rats: association with altered 5-HT transporter and receptor density. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **28**, 1472-84.

McLean J. H. and Shipley M. T. (1987) Serotonergic afferents to the rat olfactory bulb: I. Origins and laminar specificity of serotonergic inputs in the adult rat. J Neurosci 7, 3016-28.

Mengod G., Vilaro M. T., Raurich A., Lopez-Gimenez J. F., Cortes R., and Palacios J. M. (1996) 5-HT receptors in mammalian brain: receptor autoradiography and in situ hybridization studies of new ligands and newly identified receptors. *Histochem J* 28, 747-58.

Meyer J. H. (2007) Imaging the serotonin transporter during major depressive disorder and antidepressant treatment. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* 32, 86-102.

Meyer J. H., Kapur S., Eisfeld B., Brown G. M., Houle S., DaSilva J., Wilson A. A., Rafi-Tari S., Mayberg H. S., and Kennedy S. H. (2001) The effect of paroxetine on 5-HT(2A) receptors in depression: an [18F]setoperone PET imaging study. *Am J Psychiatry* **158**, 78-85.

Milligan G. (2003) Principles: extending the utility of [35S]GTP gamma S binding assays. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24, 87-90.

Moja E. A., Cipolla P., Castoldi D., and Tofanetti O. (1989) Dose-response decrease in plasma tryptophan and in brain tryptophan and serotonin after tryptophan-free amino acid mixtures in rats. *Life Sci* **44**, 971-6.

Mori K, Kawasaki M Hayashi K. Accurate quantitative analysis in autoradiography using tritium imaging plate for rat brain analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 13[Suppl. 1], S844. 1993.

Mossner R., Mikova O., Koutsilieri E., Saoud M., Ehlis A. C., Muller N., Fallgatter A. J., and Riederer P. (2007) Consensus paper of the WFSBP Task Force on Biological Markers: biological markers in depression. *World J Biol Psychiatry* **8**, 141-74.

Mucignat-Caretta C., Bondi' M., and Caretta A. (2004) Animal models of depression: olfactory lesions affect amygdala, subventricular zone, and aggression. *Neurobiol Dis* 16, 386-95.

Murray, C. J. and Lopez, A. D. The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from disease, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. 1996. Cambridge, Harvard University Press.

Murray C. J. and Lopez A. D. (1997) Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* **349**, 1498-504.

Neckers L. M., Zarrow M. X., Myers M. M., and Denenberg V. H. (1975) Influence of olfactory bulbectomy and the serotonergic system upon intermale aggression and maternal behavior in the mouse. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* **3**, 545-50.

Nelson D. R., Thomas D. R., and Johnson A. M. (1989) Pharmacological effects of paroxetine after repeated administration to animals. Acta

Psychiatr Scand Suppl 350, 21-3.

Nesterova I. V., Gurevich E. V., Nesterov V. I., Otmakhova N. A., and Bobkova N. V. (1997) Bulbectomy-induced loss of raphe neurons is counteracted by antidepressant treatment. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* **21**, 127-40.

Nestler E. J., Barrot M., DiLeone R. J., Eisch A. J., Gold S. J., and Monteggia L. M. (2002a) Neurobiology of depression. Neuron 34, 13-25.

Nestler E. J., Gould E., Manji H., Buncan M., Duman R. S., Greshenfeld H. K., Hen R., Koester S., Lederhendler I., Meaney M., Robbins T., Winsky L., and Zalcman S. (2002b) Preclinical models: status of basic research in depression. *Biol Psychiatry* **52**, 503-28.

Ohtsuki T., Ishiguro H., Detera-Wadleigh S. D., Toyota T., Shimizu H., Yamada K., Yoshitsugu K., Hattori E., Yoshikawa T., and Arinami T. (2002) Association between serotonin 4 receptor gene polymorphisms and bipolar disorder in Japanese case-control samples and the NIMH Genetics Initiative Bipolar Pedigrees. *Mol Psychiatry* **7**, 954-61.

Olsen L. R., Mortensen E. L., and Bech P. (2004) Prevalence of major depression and stress indicators in the Danish general population. Acta Psychiatr Scand 109, 96-103.

Osterlund M. K., Overstreet D. H., and Hurd Y. L. (1999) The flinders sensitive line rats, a genetic model of depression, show abnormal serotonin receptor mRNA expression in the brain that is reversed by 17beta-estradiol. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **74**, 158-66.

Overstreet D. H., Daws L. C., Schiller G. D., Orbach J., and Janowsky D. S. (1998) Cholinergic/serotonergic interactions in hypothermia: implications for rat models of depression. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 59, 777-85.

Overstreet D. H., Friedman E., Mathe A. A., and Yadid G. (2005) The Flinders Sensitive Line rat: a selectively bred putative animal model of depression. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 29, 739-59.

Overstreet D. H., Janowsky D. S., Gillin J. C., Shiromani P. J., and Sutin E. L. (1986) Stress-induced immobility in rats with cholinergic supersensitivity. *Biol Psychiatry* **21**, 657-64.

Overstreet D. H., Janowsky D. S., Pucilowski O., and Rezvani A. H. (1994) Swim test immobility co-segregates with serotonergic but not cholinergic sensitivity in cross-breeds of Flinders Line rats. *Psychiatr Genet* **4**, 101-7.

Overstreet D. H. and Russell R. W. (1982) Selective breeding for diisopropyl fluorophosphate-sensitivity: behavioural effects of cholinergic agonists and antagonists. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **78**, 150-5.

Overstreet D. H., Russell R. W., Crocker A. D., and Schiller G. D. (1984) Selective breeding for differences in cholinergic function: pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms involved in sensitivity to the anticholinesterase, DFP. *Brain Res* **294**, 327-32.

Overstreet D. H., Russell R. W., Helps S. C., and Messenger M. (1979) Selective breeding for sensitivity to the anticholinesterase DFP. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 65, 15-20.

Owen J. C. and Whitton P. S. (2005) Effects of amantadine and budipine on antidepressant drug-evoked changes in extracellular 5-HT in the frontal cortex of freely moving rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 145, 587-92.

Owens M. J., Ballenger C. A., Knight D. L., and Nemeroff C. B. (1996) Platelet 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) transporter and 5-HT2A receptor binding after chronic hypercorticosteronemia, (+/-)-1-(2,5-dimethoxy-4-iodophenyl)-2-aminopropane administration or neurotoxin-induced depletion of central nervous system 5-HT in the rat. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **278**, 1040-9.

Papp M., Klimek V., and Willner P. (1994) Effects of imipramine on serotonergic and beta-adrenergic receptor binding in a realistic animal model of depression. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **114**, 309-14.

Parker C. A., Brown J., and Gee A. D. (2003) Saturation binding of [3H]SB207145 and [3H]GR113808 to 5-HT4 receptors in rat and pig brain: An autoradiographical study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23, 692.

Patel S., Roberts J., Moorman J., and Reavill C. (1995) Localization of serotonin-4 receptors in the striatonigral pathway in rat brain. *Neuroscience* **69**, 1159-67.

Pavey G. M., Copolov D. L., and Dean B. (2002) High-resolution phosphor imaging: validation for use with human brain tissue sections to determine the affinity and density of radioligand binding. *J Neurosci Methods* **116**, 157-63.

Paxinos G. and Franklin K. B. J. (2001) The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Second edition. Academic Press.

Paxinos G. and Watson C. (2005) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Fifth edition. Elsevier, Academic Press.

Pedersen S. H., Stage K. B., Bertelsen A., Grinsted P., Kragh-Sorensen P., and Sorensen T. (2001) ICD-10 criteria for depression in general practice. J Affect Disord 65, 191-4.

Pei Q., Lewis L., Sprakes M. E., Jones E. J., Grahame-Smith D. G., and Zetterstrom T. S. (2000) Serotonergic regulation of mRNA expression of Arc, an immediate early gene selectively localized at neuronal dendrites. *Neuropharmacology* **39**, 463-70.

Pei Q., Zetterstrom T. S., Sprakes M., Tordera R., and Sharp T. (2003) Antidepressant drug treatment induces Arc gene expression in the rat brain. *Neuroscience* **121**, 975-82.

Pindon A., van Hecke G., van Gompel P., Lesage A. S., Leysen J. E., and Jurzak M. (2002) Differences in signal transduction of two 5-HT4 receptor splice variants: compound specificity and dual coupling with Galphas- and Galphai/o-proteins. *Mol Pharmacol* **61**, 85-96.

Prinssen E. P., Assie M. B., Koek W., and Kleven M. S. (2002) Depletion of 5-HT disrupts prepulse inhibition in rats: dependence on the magnitude of depletion, and reversal by a 5-HT precursor. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **26**, 340-7.

Pucilowski O., Overstreet D. H., Rezvani A. H., and Janowsky D. S. (1993) Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: greater effect in a genetic rat model of depression. *Physiol Behav* 54, 1215-20.

Rattray M., Baldessari S., Gobbi M., Mennini T., Samanin R., and Bendotti C. (1996a) p-Chlorphenylalanine changes serotonin transporter mRNA levels and expression of the gene product. *J Neurochem* **67**, 463-72.

Rattray M., Baldessari S., Gobbi M., Mennini T., Samanin R., and Bendotti C. (1996b) p-Chlorphenylalanine changes serotonin transporter mRNA levels and expression of the gene product. *J Neurochem* 67, 463-72.

Rattray M. and Michael G. J. (1999) Oligonucleotide probes for in situ hybridization, in *In Situ Hybridization. A practical approach.* (Wilkinson D. G., ed.), pp. 23-67. Oxford University Press.

Riad M., Rbah L., Verdurand M., Aznavour N., Zimmer L., and Descarries L. (2008) Unchanged density of 5-HT(1A) autoreceptors on the plasma membrane of nucleus raphe dorsalis neurons in rats chronically treated with fluoxetine. *Neuroscience* **151**, 692-700.

Ridder S., Chourbaji S., Hellweg R., Urani A., Zacher C., Schmid W., Zink M., Hortnagl H., Flor H., Henn F. A., Schutz G., and Gass P. (2005) Mice with genetically altered glucocorticoid receptor expression show altered sensitivity for stress-induced depressive reactions. *J Neurosci* **25**, 6243-50.

Risch S. C., Kalin N. H., and Janowsky D. S. (1981) Cholinergic challenges in affective illness: behavioral and neuroendocrine correlates. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1, 186-92.

Rosel P., Arranz B., Urretavizcaya M., Oros M., San L., and Navarro M. A. (2004) Altered 5-HT2A and 5-HT4 postsynaptic receptors and their intracellular signalling systems IP3 and cAMP in brains from depressed violent suicide victims. *Neuropsychobiology* **49**, 189-95.

Rosenblatt S., Chanley J. D., Sobotka H., and Kaufman M. R. (1960) Interrelationships between electroshock, the blood-brain barrier, and catecholamines. *J Neurochem* **5**, 172-6.

Rothman R. B., Jayanthi S., Wang X., Dersch C. M., Cadet J. L., Prisinzano T., Rice K. C., and Baumann M. H. (2003) High-dose fenfluramine administration decreases serotonin transporter binding, but not serotonin transporter protein levels, in rat forebrain. *Synapse* **50**, 233-9.

Rudnick G. and Wall S. C. (1992) p-Chloroamphetamine induces serotonin release through serotonin transporters. Biochemistry 31, 6710-8.

Sapolsky R. M. (2000) Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 925-35.

Sargent P. A., Kjaer K. H., Bench C. J., Rabiner E. A., Messa C., Meyer J., Gunn R. N., Grasby P. M., and Cowen P. J. (2000) Brain serotonin1A receptor binding measured by positron emission tomography with [<sup>11</sup>C]WAY-100635: effects of depression and antidepressant treatment. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **57**, 174-80.

Scheffel U. and Hartig P. R. (1989) In vivo labeling of serotonin uptake sites with [<sup>3</sup>H]paroxetine. J Neurochem 52, 1605-12.

Schulte-Herbruggen O., Hellweg R., Chourbaji S., Ridder S., Brandwein C., Gass P., and Hortnagl H. (2007) Differential regulation of neurotrophins and serotonergic function in mice with genetically reduced glucocorticoid receptor expression. *Exp Neurol* **204**, 307-16.

Sharp T., Bramwell S. R., and Grahame-Smith D. G. (1990) Release of endogenous 5-hydroxytryptamine in rat ventral hippocampus evoked by electrical stimulation of the dorsal raphe nucleus as detected by microdialysis: sensitivity to tetrodotoxin, calcium and calcium antagonists. *Neuroscience* **39**, 629-37.

Sharp T. and Hjorth S. (1990) Application of brain microdialysis to study the pharmacology of the 5-HT1A autoreceptor. *J Neurosci Methods* 34, 83-90.

Sharp T., Umbers V., and Gartside S. E. (1997) Effect of a selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor in combination with 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptor antagonists on extracellular 5-HT in rat frontal cortex in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **121**, 941-6.

Sharp T. and Zetterström T. (1992) In vivo measurement of monoamine neurotransmitter release using brain microdialysis, in Monitoring neuronal activity. A practical approach. (J. A. Stamford, ed.), pp. 147-179. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Sheline Y. I. (2003) Neuroimaging studies of mood disorder effects on the brain. Biol Psychiatry 54, 338-52.

Sheline Y. I., Gado M. H., and Kraemer H. C. (2003) Untreated depression and hippocampal volume loss. Am J Psychiatry 160, 1516-8.

Shen H. W., Hagino Y., Kobayashi H., Shinohara-Tanaka K., Ikeda K., Yamamoto H., Yamamoto T., Lesch K. P., Murphy D. L., Hall F. S., Uhl G. R., and Sora I. (2004) Regional differences in extracellular dopamine and serotonin assessed by in vivo microdialysis in mice lacking dopamine and/or serotonin transporters. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **29**, 1790-9.

Sim L. J., Selley D. E., and Childers S. R. (1995) In vitro autoradiography of receptor-activated G proteins in rat brain by agonist-stimulated guanylyl 5'-[gamma-[35S]thio]-triphosphate binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 7242-6.

Sim L. J., Selley D. E., and Childers S. R. (1997) Autoradiographic visualization in brain of receptor-G protein coupling using [<sup>35</sup>S]GTPγS binding. *Methods Mol Biol* **83**, 117-32.

Song C. and Leonard B. E. (2005) The olfactory bulbectomised rat as a model of depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29, 627-47.

Sovago J., Dupuis D. S., Gulyas B., and Hall H. (2001) An overview on functional receptor autoradiography using [35S]GTPgammaS. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38, 149-64.

Sprouse J. S. and Aghajanian G. K. (1987) Electrophysiological responses of serotoninergic dorsal raphe neurons to 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B agonists. *Synapse* **1**, 3-9.

Stage K. B. (2001) Depression. Rationel Farmakoterapi 12, 1-4.

Stanley M. and Mann J. J. (1983) Increased serotonin-2 binding sites in frontal cortex of suicide victims. Lancet 1, 214-6.

Taber M. T., Kinney G. G., Pieschl R. L., Yocca F. D., and Gribkoff V. K. (2000) Differential effects of coadministration of fluoxetine and WAY-100635 on serotonergic neurotransmission in vivo: sensitivity to sequence of injections. *Synapse* **38**, 17-26.

Thomas D. R., Nelson D. R., and Johnson A. M. (1987) Biochemical effects of the antidepressant paroxetine, a specific 5-hydroxytryptamine uptake inhibitor. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **93**, 193-200.

Tork I. (1990) Anatomy of the serotonergic system. Ann N Y Acad Sci 600, 9-34; discussion 34-5.

Tzingounis A. V. and Nicoll R. A. (2006) Arc/Arg3.1: linking gene expression to synaptic plasticity and memory. Neuron 52, 403-7.

Varnas K., Halldin C., Pike V. W., and Hall H. (2003) Distribution of 5-HT4 receptors in the postmortem human brain--an autoradiographic study using [125I]SB 207710. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 13, 228-34.

Vilaro M. T., Cortes R., Gerald C., Branchek T. A., Palacios J. M., and Mengod G. (1996) Localization of 5-HT4 receptor mRNA in rat brain by in situ hybridization histochemistry. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **43**, 356-60.

Vilaro M. T., Cortes R., and Mengod G. (2005) Serotonin 5-HT4 receptors and their mRNAs in rat and guinea pig brain: distribution and effects of neurotoxic lesions. *J Comp Neurol* **484**, 418-39.

Waeber C. and Moskowitz M. A. (1997) 5-Hydroxytryptamine1A and 5-hydroxytryptamine1B receptors stimulate guanosine-5'-O-(3-thio)triphosphate binding to rodent brain sections as visualized by in vitro autoradiography. *Mol Pharmacol* **52**, 623-31.

Waeber C., Sebben M., Grossman C., Javoy-Agid F., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1993) [3H]-GR113808 labels 5-HT4 receptors in the human and guinea-pig brain. *Neuroreport* **4**, 1239-42.

Waeber C., Sebben M., Nieoullon A., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1994) Regional distribution and ontogeny of 5-HT4 binding sites in rodent brain. *Neuropharmacology* **33**, 527-41.

WHO (2004) The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders, second edition. World Health Organization. Geneva.

Wieland T, Jakobs KH. Measurement of receptor-stimulated guanosine 5'-O-(γ-thio)triphosphate binding by G proteins. Methods in Enzymology 237, 3-13. 1994.

Wilkinson D. G. (1999) The theory and practice of in situ hybridization, in *In Situ Hybridization. A practical approach*. (Wilkinson D. G., ed.), pp. 1-21. Oxford University Press.

Willner P. (1997) Validity, reliability and utility of the chronic mild stress model of depression: a 10-year review and evaluation. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **134**, 319-29.

Willner P. (2005) Chronic Mild Stress (CMS) Revisited: Consistency and Behavioural-Neurobiological Concordance in the Effects of CMS. *Neuropsychobiology* **52**, 90-110.

Willner P. and Mitchell P. J. (2002) The validity of animal models of predisposition to depression. Behav Pharmacol 13, 169-88.

Willner P., Muscat R., and Papp M. (1992) Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: a realistic animal model of depression. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 16, 525-34.

Wong M. L. and Licinio J. (2001) Research and treatment approaches to depression. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 343-51.

Yamaguchi T., Suzuki M., and Yamamoto M. (1997) Facilitation of acetylcholine release in rat frontal cortex by indeloxazine hydrochloride: involvement of endogenous serotonin and 5-HT4 receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **356**, 712-20.

Zahorodna A., Tokarski K., and Bijak M. (2002) Imipramine but not 5-HT(1A) receptor agonists or neuroleptics induces adaptive changes in hippocampal 5-HT(1A) and 5-HT(4) receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* **443**, 51-7.

Zangen A., Nakash R., Roth-Deri I., Overstreet D. H., and Yadid G. (2002) Impaired release of beta-endorphin in response to serotonin in a rat model of depression. *Neuroscience* **110**, 389-93.

Zangen A., Overstreet D. H., and Yadid G. (1997) High serotonin and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid levels in limbic brain regions in a rat model of depression: normalization by chronic antidepressant treatment. *J Neurochem* **69**, 2477-83.

Zangen A., Overstreet D. H., and Yadid G. (1999) Increased catecholamine levels in specific brain regions of a rat model of depression: normalization by chronic antidepressant treatment. *Brain Res* 824, 243-50.

Zueger M., Urani A., Chourbaji S., Zacher C., Roche M., Harkin A., and Gass P. (2005) Olfactory bulbectomy in mice induces alterations in exploratory behavior. *Neurosci Lett* **374**, 142-6.

# Appendices

- I. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding are altered in two murine depression models.
- II. Changes in brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in rat depression models and in response to paroxetine administration.
- III. Effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism and paroxetine administration on hippocampal extracellular 5-HT levels.

Manuscript I

Cecilie Löe Licht

# The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding are altered in two murine depression models

Cecilie L. Licht<sup>1</sup>, Lisbeth Kirkegaard<sup>1</sup>, Maha Zueger<sup>2</sup>, Sabine Chourbaji<sup>2</sup>, Peter Gass<sup>2</sup>, Susana Aznar<sup>1</sup>, and Gitte M. Knudsen<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neurobiology Research Unit and Centre for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging (Cimbi), Copenhagen University Hospital Rigshospitalet, Unit 9201, Blegdamsvej 9, 2100 Copenhagen O, Denmark

<sup>2</sup>Central Institute of Mental Health Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim,

Germany

Short running title: The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in two depression models

Correspondence to: Cecilie Löe Licht, Neurobiology Research Unit 9201, Rigshospitalet,

Blegdamsvej 9, DK- 2100 Copenhagen O, Denmark

Phone: +45 3545 6736, Fax: +45 3545 6713

E-mail: cecilie@nru.dk

#### Grant information

Contract Grant Sponsor: the Health Science Faculty of the University of Copenhagen (to C.L.L.). Contract Grant Sponsor: the Lundbeck Foundation. Contract Grant Sponsor: the Augustinus Foundation (to C.L.L.). Contract Grant Sponsor: Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB636-B3, to P.G.).

Cecilie Löe Licht

#### Abstract

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is a new target for antidepressant treatment and may be implicated in the pathogenesis of depression. This study investigated differences in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) levels by quantitative autoradiography of [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 and (S)-[Nmethyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram in two murine depression models, olfactory bulbectomy and glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous (GR<sup>+/-</sup>) mice, respectively. The olfactory bulbectomy model is characterized by 5-HT system changes, while the GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice have a deficit in hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system negative feedback control. The olfactory bulbectomized mice displayed increased activity in the aversive open field test, a characteristic depression-like feature of this model. After bulbectomy, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the ventral hippocampus (12%) and decreased in the olfactory tubercles (14%). The bulbectomized mice had a small but significant decrease in 5-HTT binding in the dorsal hippocampus, hypothalamus, basolateral amygdala, lateral septum, olfactory tubercles, and lateral globus pallidus. Both 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding in the olfactory tubercles were inversely correlated with activity in the aversive open field test. In comparison, GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice had increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor (11%) and decreased 5-HTT binding in the caudate putamen, and increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles (10%). In conclusion, we have found brain regional changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT transporter binding in two murine depression models, supporting a role for 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors in serotonergic and HPA system related endophenotypes of depression.

### Key words

Serotonin receptors; depression; hippocampus; striatum; mouse

Cecilie Löe Licht

#### **INTRODUCTION**

 In 2020, depression is projected to be the second most important contributor to the worldwide burden of disease (Murray and Lopez 1997). Among the biological endophenotypes of depression, increased sensitivity to serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) system depletion and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system sensitivity to manipulation are the most consistent (Hasler et al. 2004). In the 5-HT system, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is special in its ability to stimulate 5-HT neuron activity in the dorsal raphe nucleus (Lucas and Debonnel 2002;Lucas et al. 2005). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is increased in the caudate and frontal cortex of depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004), and two single nucleotide polymorphisms of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor gene are associated with depression (Ohtsuki et al. 2002). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is regulated by both 5-HT system changes and corticosterone levels: 5-HT depletion upregulates -HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the hippocampus and basal ganglia (Compan et al. 1996), and chronic corticosterone administration increases -HT<sub>4</sub> receptor effects on hippocampal neurons (Bijak et al. 2001).

Olfactory bulbectomy (OBX) in rodents induces behavioral and neurobiological changes similar to certain aspects of clinical depression, (Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The OBX mouse is characterized by decreased 5-HT turnover in several brain regions and has been conceptualized as a model of agitated depression (Hellweg et al. 2007). The key behavioral effect of OBX is hyperactivity in response to novel, stressful environments, such as the aversive open field test (Zueger et al. 2005;Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The OBX syndrome develops over 14 days after bilateral ablation of the olfactory bulbs, and is caused by anterograde and retrograde neurodegeneration, and resulting structural and functional changes in brain areas (e.g. amygdala, raphe nuclei, and hippocampus) connected

to the olfactory bulbs (Kelly et al. 1997;Song and Leonard 2005). The bulbectomy model has high predictive validity, since chronic but not acute treatment with the majority of antidepressants can reverse the biochemical and behavioral deficits (Jarosik et al. 2007;Kelly et al. 1997).

Given the importance of HPA system deregulation in the pathophysiology of depression, mice with genetic alterations of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) have been developed as models of depression (Chourbaji and Gass 2008). The GR heterozygous mice ( $GR^{+/-}$ ) lack one GR allele and have reduced GR mRNA and protein levels (Ridder et al. 2005). The  $GR^{+/-}$  mice have ineffective corticosterone suppression in the dexamethasone/corticotropin-releasing hormone test (Ridder et al. 2005), indicating deficits in the negative feedback control of glucocorticoid release. A comparable deficit is seen in >50% of patients with major depression (Heuser et al. 1994). While exhibiting normal behavior at baseline, the  $GR^{+/-}$  mice display depression-like behavior upon stress exposure (Ridder et al. 2005).

We have examined the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in olfactory bulbectomized and unstressed  $GR^{+/-}$  mice, and related this to 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding and behavior. We hypothesized that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding would be increased in the caudate putamen and hippocampus, and performed a post-hoc analysis of additional brain regions with high 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and relevance for depression.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Olfactory bulbectomy**

Adult male 3-month-old C57BL/6N mice (Charles River, Germany) were allowed to acclimatize for 2 weeks to a reversed 12: 12h dark/light cycle. Animals were individually housed with free access to food and water. OBX was performed as described previously (Zueger et al. 2005). Briefly, mice (n = 9) were anaesthetized with Xylazin 80 mg/kg i.p. (Bayer, Germany) and Ketamin 90 mg/kg i.p. (Aventis Pharma, Germany) diluted in saline. The skull covering the olfactory bulbs was exposed by skin incision, a burr hole drilled, and the olfactory bulbs removed by suction with a hypodermic needle attached to a water pump. The burr hole was closed with bone wax, Neomycin powder (Sigma, Germany) applied, and the skin closed with Histoacryl (Aesculap AG, Germany). Sham operations (n = 6) were performed in the same way but with the bulbs left intact. The mice were decapitated on days 20-21 after the operation. The brains were removed, frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80 °C. All animal experiments were approved by the German animal welfare authorities (Regierungspräsidium Karlsruhe, Germany).

#### **Open field test**

 Locomotor hyperactivity in response to a novel, stressful environment is a key behavioural feature of the olfactory bulbectomy model (Song and Leonard 2005), and was analyzed in the open field test on the day before (baseline) and 2 weeks after surgery, as described previously (Zueger et al. 2005). The open field test behaviour was used as an indicator of successful bulbectomy, and data from animals with unchanged activity was not included in the autoradiography analysis (3 out of 9 mice tested). The open field test was performed during the first hours of the dark (active) phase, in a circular arena (90 cm diameter) with white plastic floor and a reflecting aluminium wall under 320 Lux light intensity. Mice were placed near the sidewall and locomotion was recorded with a video camera for 5 min. The xy-

coordinates were analyzed with Noldus Etho Vision 2.3, and the parameter 'total distance moved (cm)' was determined.

#### **Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mice**

A non-functional GR allele (*Grl1-*) was constructed by homologous recombination of mouse embryonic stem cells with a modified *Grl1* allele carrying loxP sites on either side of the *Grl1* exon 3, followed by transient transfection with Cre recombinase leading to excision of exon 3 (Tronche et al. 1999). Embryonic stem cells carrying the *Grl1-* allele were used to generate *Grl1-* chimaeras, which were then crossed with C57BL/6N mice to generate *Grl1*heterozygous mice. GR heterozygous (GR<sup>+/-</sup>) mice were generated by crossing *Grl1*heterozygous C57BL/6N males (backcrossed with the mutation for >10 generations) with wild-type FVB/N females (Ridder et al. 2005). For all experiments, 5-7 months old male GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice and their male wild-type littermates were used. Animals were supplied with food and water ad libitum and were single-housed on a reversed 12h: 12h dark-light cycle (lights on at 6:00 in the evening), similarly as for the behavioral study described previously (Ridder et al. 2005). The animals were decapitated, and the brains were removed, frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80 °C.

#### **Tissue preparation**

The brains were sectioned on a cryostat in 10  $\mu$ m coronal sections at -25 °C, thaw-mounted onto gelatinated glass slides, allowed to dry at room temperature (RT), and stored at -80 °C until processed. Sections were collected between Bregma 2.58 and 2.34 mm; 1.10 and 0.86 mm; -1.34 and -1.58 mm; and -3.16 and -3.40 mm (Paxinos and Franklin 2001). Tissue

sections were collected in 4 parallel series so that every fourth section was thaw-mounted onto the same glass slide with a total of three sections on each glass slide.

#### 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor autoradiography

The protocol for [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 autoradiography was adapted from Parker *et al.*, 2003 (Parker et al. 2003). Frozen tissue sections were brought to RT and allowed to dry for 60 min. Sections were preincubated at RT for 15 min in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, containing 0.01% ascorbic acid and 10  $\mu$ M pargyline. Sections were incubated in the same buffer containing 1 nM [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 (1-5 times K<sub>d</sub>) for 60 min. Sections used for determination of non-specific binding were preincubated and incubated in the presence of 10 µM RS39604. Sections were washed for 2 x 20 seconds in ice-cold 50 mM Tris-HCl followed by 20 seconds in ice-cold dH<sub>2</sub>O. Slides were dried at RT in a gentle air stream for 1 hour. They were then fixed in paraformaldehyde vapour overnight at 4 °C. The sections were then dried for 3 hours in a dessicator at RT, followed by exposure to a tritium-sensitive BAS TR2040 phosphor imaging plate (Fuji, Science Imaging Scandinavia AB) along with 4 autoradiographic [<sup>3</sup>H]microscales (8 and 80 nCi, Amersham Biosciences) for 2 weeks at 4 °C. The imaging plate was scanned on a BAS-2500 bioimaging analyzer (Fuji Film Photo Co. LTD., Japan). Sections from each model and the respective control group were for each section level processed and exposed to imaging plates together.

#### 5-HT transporter autoradiography

The protocol for (S)-[N-methyl- ${}^{3}$ H]citalopram autoradiography was adapted from Thomsen *et al.*, 2003 (Thomsen and Helboe 2003). Frozen tissue sections were brought to RT and allowed

to dry for 60 min. Sections were preincubated at RT for 20 min in 50 mM Tris-HCl with 120 mM NaCl and 5 mM KCl, pH 7.4; and incubated in the same buffer with 2 nM (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram for 60 min. Sections used for determination of non-specific binding were preincubated and incubated in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M paroxetine. Sections were washed for 3 x 2 min in buffer, followed by a quick dip in ice-cold dH<sub>2</sub>O. The sections were then dried and processed for imaging plate exposure as described for 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor autoradiography. Sections were exposed for 7 days to tritium sensitive imaging plates.

#### Drugs

 RS39604 HCl (Tocris Cookson Ltd, UK), [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 (66.7 Ci/mmol, donated by GlaxoSmithKline, UK), (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram (79.0 Ci/mmol, donated by H. Lundbeck A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark), paroxetine HCl (donated by GlaxoSmithKline, UK).

#### Image analysis of autoradiograms

Autoradiograms were analysed with ImageJ V.1.32j (htttp://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/). Image optical density was converted to activity density in nCi/mg tissue equivalent (referred to as tissue) using the linear range of [<sup>3</sup>H]microscale standards. Regions of interest (ROI) for each section level were defined by aligning representative autoradiograms with anatomical line drawings from the digital versions of The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, Second Edition by Paxinos and Franklin (2001). The alignment was performed with Adobe Illustrator CS2 (v12.0.0). The ROIs were drawn on the atlas-superimposed autoradiograms in ImageJ, and were then used to measure region-specific radioactive density on all sections from the same section level. The activity density in nCi/mg tissue was converted to radioligand binding

in fmol/mg tissue using the specific activity. The specific receptor binding was determined by subtracting the non-specific binding from the total radioligand binding for each animal. The dorsal hippocampus was defined as 50% of the hippocampal volume starting at the septal pole, and the ventral hippocampus as 50% starting at the temporal pole (Bannerman et al. 2004). The dorsal hippocampus was evaluated on sections collected between -1.34 and -1.58 mm from Bregma, and the ventral hippocampus on sections collected between -3.16 and -3.40 mm from Bregma (Paxinos and Franklin 2001). As a fronto-caudal gradient in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen has been described in rats (Vilaro et al. 2005), and the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding pattern in mouse is identical to that in the rat (Waeber et al. 1994), the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was measured in both the frontal and caudal caudate putamen on sections collected between 1.10 and 0.86 mm, and -1.34 and -1.58 mm from Bregma, respectively (Paxinos and Franklin 2001).

#### **Statistical analysis**

 Statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc.). The open field test was analyzed by two-way ANOVA with repeated measures, and Surgery (OBX or Sham) and Time (Basal or Post-op) as independent factors. Group differences after significant ANOVAs were analyzed by Bonferroni post-tests. The brain regional changes were analyzed separately for each hypothesis region by two-tailed unpaired student's *t*-test. For each radioligand and model a post-hoc analysis of additional brain regions was performed. The regional binding data was not corrected for multiple comparisons. Outliers were detected by Grubb's test. If an outlier was detected in one brain region, binding values from other brain regions obtained at the same section level in the same animal were removed from the group. For evaluation of correlations between behaviour and regional binding,

activity in the open field test was expressed as percentage change in activity after surgery. Pearson's correlation analysis was applied. The level of significance was p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### **Olfactory bulbectomy**

Olfactory bulbectomy increased the total distance moved (cm) in the open field test (Fig. 1). There was a significant interaction between Surgery and Time (F(1,9) = 13.54, p = 0.0051), and Bonferroni posttests showed that the increase in activity in the open field test at Post-op versus Basal was present after OBX only (p < 0.01).

Representative autoradiograms of quantitative *in vitro* autoradiography with [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 are shown in figure 2. In the sham-operated controls, specific [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding was detected in high levels in the lateral globus pallidus (LGP), olfactory tubercles, caudal caudate putamen, nucleus accumbens shell, ventral hippocampus, and hypothalamus (24.1  $\pm$  0.6 to 32.2  $\pm$  1.2 fmol/mg tissue), at intermediate levels in the medial amygdala, lateral septum, dorsal hippocampus, and frontal caudate putamen (10.5  $\pm$  0.8 to 18.6  $\pm$  0.7 fmol/mg tissue), and at low levels in the frontal cortex (4.4  $\pm$  0.8 fmol/mg tissue). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased by 11.5% (p = 0.041) in the ventral hippocampus of olfactory bulbectomized mice (Table 1). No change in binding was detected in the dorsal hippocampus, frontal or caudal caudate putamen (Table 1). A post-hoc analysis of additional brain regions showed a 14.1% (p = 0.037) decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles but no change in the frontal cortex, hypothalamus, LGP, lateral septum, medial amygdala, or nucleus accumbens shell (Table 1). There was no correlation (r = 0.51, p = 0.105) between 5-HT<sub>4</sub>
receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus and total distance moved in open field test (Fig. 3A). In the olfactory tubercles, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was negatively correlated (r = -0.66, p = 0.027) with activity in the open field test (Fig. 3B).

Representative autoradiograms of quantitative *in vitro* autoradiography with (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram are shown in figure 4. In the sham-operated mice, (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding was detected at high levels in the olfactory tubercles, nucleus accumbens shell, lateral septum, LGP, and hypothalamus ( $69.9 \pm 2.1$  to  $85.1 \pm 0.9$  fmol/mg tissue), and at intermediate levels in the basolateral amygdala (BLA), frontal caudate putamen, ventral and dorsal hippocampus ( $36.6 \pm 0.8$  to  $61.0 \pm 1.4$  fmol/mg tissue). Olfactory bulbectomy lead to a 12.5% downregulation of the 5-HTT binding in the dorsal hippocampus but had no effect on binding in the ventral hippocampus or frontal caudate putamen (Table 2). The post-hoc analysis showed significant downregulation in additionally 5 brain regions: the hypothalamus, BLA, lateral septum, LGP, and olfactory tubercles (Table 2). The decrease in binding was in the range of 10-12% in the hypothalamus, BLA and LGP, while a 4% decrease was detected in the lateral septum and olfactory tubercles. In the lateral septum (r = -0.64, p = 0.048) and the olfactory tubercles (r = -0.72, p = 0.018), the 5-HTT binding was inversely correlated with the distance moved in the open field test, expressed as percentage of baseline activity (Table 2). In the remaining regions with significant change in 5-HTT binding after OBX the correlations were also negative but not significant (Table 2). The 5-HTT binding was not significantly changed in the frontal cortex and nucleus accumbens shell. While both the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and the 5-HTT binding were decreased in the olfactory tubercles, the changes were not correlated (r = 0.46, p = 0.18) (Fig. 5).

# Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mice

Cecilie Löe Licht

Representative autoradiograms of quantitative *in vitro* autoradiography with [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 are shown in figure 6. The specific [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding was similar to the pattern found in the sham-operated mice. In the GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the caudal caudate putamen (p = 0.036) by 10.9%, and in the dorsal hippocampus there was a tendency (p = 0.052) towards a 17.0% increase (Table 3). There was no change in the frontal caudate putamen and ventral hippocampus (Table 3). A post-hoc analysis of the hypothalamus, nucleus accumbens shell, medial amygdala, olfactory tubercles, LGP, and lateral septum revealed a 9.6% increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles (p = 0.032) in the GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice (Table 3).

Representative autoradiograms of quantitative *in vitro* autoradiography with (S)-[N-methyl- ${}^{3}$ H]citalopram are shown in figure 7. The pattern of specific (S)-[N-methyl- ${}^{3}$ H]citalopram binding was similar to the distribution found in the sham-operated mice. There was a 6% decrease in 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen (p = 0.038) but no change in the dorsal hippocampus (Table 4). The 5-HTT binding was not evaluated in the caudal part of the caudate putamen due to the very low signal in this area, and could not be evaluated in the ventral hippocampus due to methodological noise (data not shown). The 5-HTT binding was unchanged in the post-hoc analyzed regions: BLA, hypothalamus, lateral septum, LGP, nucleus accumbens shell, and olfactory tubercles (Table 4).

# DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to investigate 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding in OBX and GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice, and is also the first report of [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 and (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram autoradiography in mice.

## **Effects of olfactory bulbectomy**

 The olfactory bulbectomized mice showed an increase in total activity in the open field test, which is in agreement with previous studies (Hellweg et al. 2007;Zueger et al. 2005). Among the hypothesis regions, we found an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus. This upregulation may be due to reduced serotonergic tonus, as chronic 5-HT depletion increases the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the hippocampus (Compan et al. 1996), and 5-HIAA tissue levels are decreased in the hippocampus after bulbectomy (Hellweg et al. 2007). Changes in the 5-HT system are involved in the neurobiological basis of the OBX syndrome, as the syndrome can be induced by injection of serotonergic toxins into the olfactory bulbs (Cairncross et al. 1977a). OBX in mice induces neurodegeneration in the dorsal raphe nucleus (Nesterova et al. 1997), possibly due to degeneration of serotonergic fibers innervating the main olfactory bulb (McLean and Shipley 1987), and a decrease in brain tryptophan hydroxylase activity and 5-HT synthesis rate (Neckers et al. 1975). Another explanation of the increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor levels may be glucocorticoid mediated upregulation of the receptor, since chronic corticosterone administration increases the hippocampal neuronal response to 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor activation (Bijak et al. 2001), and OBX mice may have disturbances in HPA system regulation. While plasma corticosterone levels of bulbectomized mice have not been reported, OBX rats display increased basal plasma corticosterone levels in some studies and an exaggerated corticosterone response to stress (Cairncross et al. 1977b). The pathophysiological relevance of the increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor

binding after OBX is supported by the antidepressant effect of chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism in the OBX rat (Lucas et al. 2007). In contrast to the increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus, we found no change in the dorsal hippocampus, possibly due to regional differences in connectivity (Bannerman et al. 2004). We also detected differential changes in 5-HTT binding between the dorsal and ventral hippocampus in a pattern complementary to the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes. While 5-HTT binding has not been investigated in OBX mice before, [<sup>3</sup>H]paroxetine homogenate binding in the hippocampus is unchanged 8 weeks after bulbectomy in rats (Zhou et al. 1998). The discrepancy between the study by Zhou et al. (1998) and our study may be due to differences in post-surgery time, as tendencies towards decreases in  $[^{3}H]$ imipramine binding in rat hippocampal and cortical synaptosomes have been detected four weeks after bulbectomy (Stockert et al. 1988). In the caudate putamen, both 5-HTT and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding were not affected by bulbectomy. This is in contrast to the postmortem finding of increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate nucleus of depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004), possibly due to neurochemical differences between depressed violent suicide victims and the depression endophenotype modeled by OBX. In OBX mice, the 5-HT and 5-HIAA levels in the caudate putamen are unchanged (Hellweg et al. 2007), and while OBX reduces caudate nucleus size (Wrynn et al. 2000), and increases caudate 5-HT synthesis (Watanabe et al. 2003) in rats, it has no effect on caudate 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptor binding (Slotkin et al. 2005).

 Given the unexplored role of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors in depression, we chose to do a post-hoc analysis of brain regions with high 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor expression. Out of 7 regions analyzed, we found a downregulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles. The olfactory tubercles is part of the ventral striatum and have been implicated in the rewarding effects of morphine, cocaine, and brain-stimulation reward (Ikemoto 2007;Kornetsky et al.

1991: Ikemoto 2003). The tubercles receive projections from the main olfactory bulb (Shipley and Adamek 1984), and are therefore likely to be affected by bulbectomy. The tubercles have high 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding (Jakeman et al. 1994; Waeber et al. 1994), and high 5-HTT binding (Scheffel and Hartig 1989), the latter being indicative of dense innervation by serotonergic fibers. The decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles may be a compensatory downregulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in response to changes in serotonergic activity, as a marked (qualitative) increase in indoleamine content is present in the olfactory tubercles at 21 days after bulbectomy, indicating an increase in 5-HT content in serotonergic fibers in this region (Garris et al. 1984). As the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in cultured neurons is reduced after 30 min. of exposure to 5-HT (Ansanay et al. 1996), a possible explanation of the decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding could be a downregulation of the receptor in response to increased activation. The 5-HTT binding in the olfactory tubercles was also reduced after OBX, and both 5-HTT and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles were inversely correlated with activity in the open field test, indicating that their regulation is related to the behavioral phenotype. The pattern of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT changes after OBX is similar to a recent report of 5-HT<sub>6</sub> receptor expression being increased in the posterior dentate gyrus and decreased in the anterior dentate gyrus and the olfactory tubercles of rats with a high activity response to a novel and inescapable environment (Ballaz et al. 2007), a response which is comparable to OBX hyperactivity in the open field test. The two studies combined suggest opposing 5-HT system changes in the ventral/posterior hippocampus and olfactory tubercles as a biological marker of novelty-induced hyperactivity. A role for the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in modulating reactivity to novel environments is supported by decreased noveltyinduced locomotion in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor knockout mice (Compan et al. 2004).

While the primary result for 5-HTT binding after OBX was a decrease in the dorsal hippocampus, post-hoc analysis showed downregulation of 5-HTT binding across several brain regions: the BLA, hypothalamus, LGP, lateral septum, and olfactory tubercles. The extensive distribution of changes in 5-HTT binding could indicate degeneration of serotonergic projections to several brain regions, possibly due to degeneration of 5-HT neurons. However, degeneration of 5-HT fibers would be expected to cause a decrease in regional 5-HT levels but these are unchanged after OBX in mice (Hellweg et al. 2007). Alternatively, the decrease in 5-HTT binding can be due to decreased expression or increased local degradation of the 5-HTT. In contrast to previous studies in rats, we did not see an effect of bulbectomy on 5-HTT binding in the frontal cortex (Grecksch et al. 1997;Zhou et al. 1998;Huether et al. 1997). This difference may be related to the longer post-surgery time (12 weeks) applied compared to our study (3 weeks).

# Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygous mice

In contrast to the OBX model of depression, the  $GR^{+/-}$  mouse is a model of predisposition to depression, where a depression-related behavioural phenotype is evident after stress only (Ridder et al. 2005). The animals used in the present study were not subjected to stress before analysis of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding, and the present findings are therefore related to the endophenotype of decreased HPA system control.  $GR^{+/-}$  mice exhibited a modest increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen, which is in agreement with the finding of increased postmortem 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate nucleus of depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004). Notably, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was increased in the caudal but not in the frontal caudate putamen. While serotonergic denervation leads to an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the frontal but not in the caudate putamen.

lesions of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway induce an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudal but not the frontal caudate putamen after 3 weeks (Compan et al. 1996). Our finding of increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudal caudate putamen may therefore reflect decreased dopaminergic activity in  $GR^{+/-}$  mice. The increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is not related to changes in brain regional tissue dopamine levels, as these are similar in  $GR^{+/+}$ and  $GR^{+/-}$  mice (Schulte-Herbruggen et al. 2007), but could potentially reflect changes in dopaminergic neuronal activity. In the  $GR^{+/-}$  mice, there was also a small decrease in the 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen but no change in the dorsal hippocampus or in the post-hoc analyzed regions. The decrease in 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen was unexpected given the absence of 5-HT system change in this region in the  $GR^{+/-}$  model (Schulte-Herbruggen et al. 2007). Post-hoc analysis showed an increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles of the  $GR^{+/-}$  mice, which is interesting in the light of the decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the same region after OBX.

Overall, we have found generally increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and decreased 5-HTT binding in two murine models of depression. The changes in binding are small but we know from other biological systems that small changes can have clear effects.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank HJ Jensen and L Rottensten for technical help.

#### REFERENCES

Ansanay H., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A., 1996. Pharmacological comparison between [<sup>3</sup>H]GR 113808 binding sites and functional 5-HT4 receptors in neurons. Eur J Pharmacol 298, 165-74.

Ballaz S. J., Akil H., and Watson S. J., 2007. Analysis of 5-HT6 and 5-HT7 receptor gene expression in rats showing differences in noveltyseeking behavior. Neuroscience 147, 428-38.

Bannerman D. M., Rawlins J. N., McHugh S. B., Deacon R. M., Yee B. K., Bast T., Zhang W. N., Pothuizen H. H., and Feldon J., 2004. Regional dissociations within the hippocampus--memory and anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28, 273-83.

Bijak M., Zahorodna A., and Tokarski K., 2001. Opposite effects of antidepressants and corticosterone on the sensitivity of hippocampal CA1 neurons to 5-HT1A and 5-HT4 receptor activation. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 363, 491-8.

Cairncross K. D., Cox B., Forster C., and Wren A., 1977a. The ability of local injection of 6-OHDA, 5,6-DHT and 5,7-DHT into the olfactory bulbs to mimic the effects of bilateral bulbectomy in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 61, 145P-146P.

Cairncross K. D., Wren A., Cox B., and Schnieden H., 1977b. Effects of olfactory bulbectomy and domicile on stress-induced corticosterone release in the rat. Physiol Behav 19, 485-7.

Chourbaji S. and Gass P., 2008. Glucocorticoid receptor transgenic mice as models for depression. Brain Res Rev 57, 554-60.

Compan V., Daszuta A., Salin P., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A., 1996. Lesion study of the distribution of serotonin 5-HT4 receptors in rat basal ganglia and hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 8, 2591-8.

Compan V., Zhou M., Grailhe R., Gazzara R. A., Martin R., Gingrich J., Dumuis A., Brunner D., Bockaert J., and Hen R., 2004. Attenuated response to stress and novelty and hypersensitivity to seizures in 5-HT4 receptor knock-out mice. J Neurosci 24, 412-9.

Garris D. R., Chamberlain J. K., and DaVanzo J. P., 1984. Histofluorescent identification of indoleamine-concentrating brain loci associated with intraspecies, reflexive biting and locomotor behavior in olfactory-bulbectomized mice. Brain Res 294, 385-9.

Grecksch G., Zhou D., Franke C., Schroder U., Sabel B., Becker A., and Huether G., 1997. Influence of olfactory bulbectomy and subsequent imipramine treatment on 5-hydroxytryptaminergic presynapses in the rat frontal cortex: behavioural correlates. Br J Pharmacol 122, 1725-31.

Hasler G., Drevets W. C., Manji H. K., and Charney D. S., 2004. Discovering endophenotypes for major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 1765-81.

Hellweg R., Zueger M., Fink K., Hortnagl H., and Gass P., 2007. Olfactory bulbectomy in mice leads to increased BDNF levels and decreased serotonin turnover in depression-related brain areas. Neurobiol Dis 25, 1-7.

Heuser I., Yassouridis A., and Holsboer F., 1994. The combined dexamethasone/CRH test: a refined laboratory test for psychiatric disorders.

J Psychiatr Res 28, 341-56.

Huether G., Zhou D., and Ruther E., 1997. Long-term modulation of presynaptic 5-HT-output: experimentally induced changes in cortical 5-HT-transporter density, tryptophan hydroxylase content and 5-HT innervation density. J Neural Transm 104, 993-1004.

Ikemoto S., 2003. Involvement of the olfactory tubercle in cocaine reward: intracranial self-administration studies. J Neurosci 23, 9305-11.

Ikemoto S., 2007. Dopamine reward circuitry: two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. Brain Res Rev 56, 27-78.

Jakeman L. B., To Z. P., Eglen R. M., Wong E. H., and Bonhaus D. W., 1994. Quantitative autoradiography of 5-HT4 receptors in brains of three species using two structurally distinct radioligands, [3H]GR113808 and [3H]BIMU-1. Neuropharmacology 33, 1027-38.

Jarosik J., Legutko B., Unsicker K., and von Bohlen Und Halbach O., 2007. Antidepressant-mediated reversal of abnormal behavior and neurodegeneration in mice following olfactory bulbectomy. Exp Neurol 204, 20-8.

Kelly J. P., Wrynn A. S., and Leonard B. E., 1997. The olfactory bulbectomized rat as a model of depression: an update. Pharmacol Ther 74, 299-316.

Kornetsky C., Huston-Lyons D., and Porrino L. J., 1991. The role of the olfactory tubercle in the effects of cocaine, morphine and brainstimulation reward. Brain Res 541, 75-81.

Lucas G., Compan V., Charnay Y., Neve R. L., Nestler E. J., Bockaert J., Barrot M., and Debonnel G., 2005. Frontocortical 5-HT4 receptors exert positive feedback on serotonergic activity: viral transfections, subacute and chronic treatments with 5-HT4 agonists. Biol Psychiatry 57, 918-25.

Lucas G. and Debonnel G., 2002. 5-HT4 receptors exert a frequency-related facilitatory control on dorsal raphe nucleus 5-HT neuronal activity. Eur J Neurosci 16, 817-22.

Lucas G., Rymar V. V., Du J., Mnie-Filali O., Bisgaard C., Manta S., Lambas-Senas L., Wiborg O., Haddjeri N., Pineyro G., Sadikot A. F., and Debonnel G., 2007. Serotonin(4) (5-HT(4)) receptor agonists are putative antidepressants with a rapid onset of action. Neuron 55, 712-25.

McLean J. H. and Shipley M. T., 1987. Serotonergic afferents to the rat olfactory bulb: I. Origins and laminar specificity of serotonergic inputs in the adult rat. J Neurosci 7, 3016-28.

Murray C. J. and Lopez A. D., 1997. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 349, 1498-504.

Neckers L. M., Zarrow M. X., Myers M. M., and Denenberg V. H., 1975. Influence of olfactory bulbectomy and the serotonergic system upon intermale aggression and maternal behavior in the mouse. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 3, 545-50.

Nesterova I. V., Gurevich E. V., Nesterov V. I., Otmakhova N. A., and Bobkova N. V., 1997. Bulbectomy-induced loss of raphe neurons is

Cecilie Löe Licht

counteracted by antidepressant treatment. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 21, 127-40.

Ohtsuki T., Ishiguro H., Detera-Wadleigh S. D., Toyota T., Shimizu H., Yamada K., Yoshitsugu K., Hattori E., Yoshikawa T., and Arinami T., 2002. Association between serotonin 4 receptor gene polymorphisms and bipolar disorder in Japanese case-control samples and the NIMH Genetics Initiative Bipolar Pedigrees. Mol Psychiatry 7, 954-61.

Parker C. A., Brown J., and Gee A. D., 2003. Saturation binding of [3H]SB207145 and [3H]GR113808 to 5-HT4 receptors in rat and pig brain: An autoradiographical study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23, 692.

Paxinos G. and Franklin K. B. J., 2001. The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Second edition. Academic Press.

Ridder S., Chourbaji S., Hellweg R., Urani A., Zacher C., Schmid W., Zink M., Hortnagl H., Flor H., Henn F. A., Schutz G., and Gass P., 2005. Mice with genetically altered glucocorticoid receptor expression show altered sensitivity for stress-induced depressive reactions. *J* Neurosci 25, 6243-50.

Rosel P., Arranz B., Urretavizcaya M., Oros M., San L., and Navarro M. A., 2004. Altered 5-HT2A and 5-HT4 postsynaptic receptors and their intracellular signalling systems IP3 and cAMP in brains from depressed violent suicide victims. Neuropsychobiology 49, 189-95.

Scheffel U. and Hartig P. R., 1989. In vivo labeling of serotonin uptake sites with [3H]paroxetine. J Neurochem 52, 1605-12.

Schulte-Herbruggen O., Hellweg R., Chourbaji S., Ridder S., Brandwein C., Gass P., and Hortnagl H., 2007. Differential regulation of neurotrophins and serotonergic function in mice with genetically reduced glucocorticoid receptor expression. Exp Neurol 204, 307-16.

Shipley M. T. and Adamek G. D., 1984. The connections of the mouse olfactory bulb: a study using orthograde and retrograde transport of wheat germ agglutinin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase. Brain Res Bull 12, 669-88.

Slotkin T. A., Cousins M. M., Tate C. A., and Seidler F. J., 2005. Serotonergic cell signaling in an animal model of aging and depression: olfactory bulbectomy elicits different adaptations in brain regions of young adult vs aging rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 30, 52-7.

Song C. and Leonard B. E., 2005. The olfactory bulbectomised rat as a model of depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29, 627-47.

Stockert M., Serra J., and De Robertis E., 1988. Effect of olfactory bulbectomy and chronic amitryptiline treatment in rats. 3H-imipramine binding and behavioral analysis by swimming and open field tests. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 29, 681-6.

Thomsen C. and Helboe L., 2003. Regional pattern of binding and c-Fos induction by (R)- and (S)-citalopram in rat brain. Neuroreport 14, 2411-4.

Tronche F., Kellendonk C., Kretz O., Gass P., Anlag K., Orban P. C., Bock R., Klein R., and Schutz G. (1999) Disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor gene in the nervous system results in reduced anxiety. *Nat Genet* **23**, 99-103.

Vilaro M. T., Cortes R., and Mengod G., 2005. Serotonin 5-HT4 receptors and their mRNAs in rat and guinea pig brain: distribution and effects of neurotoxic lesions. J Comp Neurol 484, 418-39.

Waeber C., Sebben M., Nieoullon A., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A., 1994. Regional distribution and ontogeny of 5-HT4 binding sites in rodent brain. Neuropharmacology 33, 527-41.

Watanabe A., Tohyama Y., Nguyen K. Q., Hasegawa S., Debonnel G., and Diksic M., 2003. Regional brain serotonin synthesis is increased in the olfactory bulbectomy rat model of depression: an autoradiographic study. J Neurochem 85, 469-75.

Wrynn A. S., Mac Sweeney C. P., Franconi F., Lemaire L., Pouliquen D., Herlidou S., Leonard B. E., Gandon J., and de Certaines J. D., 2000. An in-vivo magnetic resonance imaging study of the olfactory bulbectomized rat model of depression. Brain Res 879, 193-9.

Zhou D., Grecksch G., Becker A., Frank C., Pilz J., and Huether G. (1998) Serotonergic hyperinnervation of the frontal cortex in an animal model of depression, the bulbectomized rat. J Neurosci Res 54, 109-16.

utur A Cache M., Harkin A., and 12-3 Zueger M., Urani A., Chourbaji S., Zacher C., Roche M., Harkin A., and Gass P., 2005. Olfactory bulbectomy in mice induces alterations in exploratory behavior. Neurosci Lett 374, 142-6.

Cecilie Löe Licht

## **FIGURE LEGENDS**

 Figure 1. Activity in open field test after olfactory bulbectomy. Total distance (cm) moved before (basal) and 20 days after (post-op) olfactory bulbectomy (OBX, n = 6) or sham-operated (n = 5) in male mice. Columns are mean  $\pm$  SEM. Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures and Bonferroni posttests, \*\*p < 0.01 versus OBX basal.

Figure 2. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after olfactory bulbectomy. Autoradiograms of  $[^{3}H]SB207145$  binding (1 nM) at 3 section levels of sham-operated (A, E, I) and olfactory bulbectomized mice (B, F, J). C, G, K) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604. D, H, L) Section overlay with a digital version of the Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates 2<sup>nd</sup> edition (reproduced with permission from Paxinos and Franklin 2001). Regions of interest are shown in white.

Figure 3. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and activity in the open field test of bulbectomized and sham-operated mice. [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (1 nM) in A) ventral hippocampus (r = 0.51, p = 0.105) and B) olfactory tubercles (r = -0.66, p = 0.027) versus total distance moved in the open field test (expressed as percentage of baseline activity). Sham-operated animals are indicated by circles and bulbectomized animals by squares.

Figure 4. 5-HT transporter binding after olfactory bulbectomy. Autoradiograms of (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding (2 nM) at 3 section levels of sham-operated (A, E, I) and olfactory bulbectomized mice (B, F, J). C, G, K) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M paroxetine. D, H, L) Section overlay with a digital version of the Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates 2<sup>nd</sup> edition (reproduced with permission from Paxinos and Franklin 2001). Regions of interest are shown in white.

Cecilie Löe Licht

Figure 5. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding in the olfactory tubercles of bulbectomized and sham-operated mice. [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (1 nM) versus (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding in olfactory tubercles (r = 0.46, p = 0.18). Sham-operated animals are indicated by circles and bulbectomized animals by squares.

Figure 6. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in GR heterozygous mice. Autoradiograms of  $[^{3}H]SB207145$  binding (1 nM) at 3 section levels of GR<sup>+/+</sup> (A, E, I) and GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice (B, F, J). C, G, K) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604. D, H, L) Section overlay with a digital version of the Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates 2<sup>nd</sup> edition (reproduced with permission from Paxinos and Franklin 2001). Regions of interest are shown in white.

Figure 7. 5-HT transporter binding in GR heterozygous mice. Autoradiograms of (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding (2 nM) at 2 section levels of  $GR^{+/+}$  (A, E) and  $GR^{+/-}$  heterozygous mice (B, F). C, G) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M paroxetine. D, H) Section overlay with a digital version of the Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates 2<sup>nd</sup> edition (reproduced with permission from Paxinos and Franklin 2001). Regions of interest are shown in white.

Table 1. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after olfactory bulbectomy

	Sham	OBX	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$10.5 \pm 0.8$	$9.8 \pm 0.5$	-7.3	0.399
Caudate putamen, caudal	$28.6 \pm 1.3$	$28.3 \pm 0.5$	-1.0	0.845
Hippocampus, dorsal	$14.4 \pm 0.8$	$15.2 \pm 0.8$	5.5	0.487
Hippocampus, ventral	$24.1 \pm 0.6$	$26.9\pm0.9$	11.5	0.041*
Frontal cortex	$4.4 \pm 0.8$	$5.7 \pm 0.6$	28.4	0.221
Hypothalamus	$20.8 \pm 0.7$	$21.4 \pm 0.7$	2.8	0.576
Lateral globus pallidus	$32.2 \pm 1.2$	$29.9 \pm 0.9$	-6.9	0.165
Lateral septum	$17.3 \pm 0.7$	$18.1 \pm 0.3$	4.6	0.307
Medial amygdala	$18.6 \pm 0.7$	$19.9 \pm 0.6$	6.9	0.168
N. accumbens shell	$26.2 \pm 0.7^2$	$24.5 \pm 1.2$	-6.3	0.331
Olfactory tubercles	$31.9 \pm 1.6$	$27.4 \pm 1.1$	-14.1	0.037*

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup> OBX compared to Sham. <sup>2</sup> n = 4. \*p < 0.05.

**SBA** compared to Sham. <sup>2</sup> n = 4. \*p < 0.05.

Table 2. 5-HT transporter binding after olfactory bulbectomy

	Sham	OBX	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value	Correlation <sup>2</sup>
Caudate putamen, frontal	$53.1 \pm 1.1$	$51.7 \pm 0.6$	-2.6	0.302	nd
Hippocampus, dorsal	$36.6 \pm 0.8$	$32.0 \pm 1.3$	-12.5	0.019*	r = -0.52
Hippocampus, ventral	$43.6 \pm 1.0$	$43.6 \pm 2.0^3$	-0.1	0.991	nd
Basolateral amygdala	$61.0 \pm 1.4$	$54.9 \pm 0.9$	-10.0	0.006**	r = -0.56
Frontal cortex	$50.0 \pm 1.0$	$46.5 \pm 1.6^3$	-7.0	0.107	nd
Hypothalamus	$69.9 \pm 2.1$	$61.6 \pm 2.6$	-12.0	0.036*	r = -0.39
Lateral globus pallidus	$71.0 \pm 1.2$	$63.6 \pm 1.2$	-10.4	0.003**	r = -0.56
Lateral septum	$73.8 \pm 0.8$	$71.0 \pm 0.4$	-3.8	0.016*	r = -0.64*
N. accumbens shell	$75.1 \pm 0.7$	$72.9 \pm 0.9$	-3.0	0.073	nd
Olfactory tubercles	$85.1 \pm 0.9$	$81.8 \pm 1.1$	-4.0	0.048*	r = -0.72*

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup>OBX compared to sham. <sup>2</sup>5-HTT binding versus activity in open field test (percentage of baseline activity). <sup>3</sup> n = 6. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01

Table 3. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in  $GR^{+/-}$  mice

	GR+/+	GR <sup>+/-</sup>	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$13.8 \pm 1.1$	$14.6 \pm 0.7$	6.4	0.500
Caudate putamen, caudal	$41.0 \pm 1.1$	$45.5 \pm 1.5$	10.9	0.036*
Hippocampus, dorsal	$15.7 \pm 1.0$	$18.4 \pm 0.7$	17.0	0.052
Hippocampus, ventral	$28.0 \pm 0.9^3$	$29.8 \pm 1.4^2$	6.3	0.303
Hypothalamus	$24.3 \pm 0.9$	$26.3 \pm 0.8$	8.1	0.115
Lateral globus pallidus	$40.2 \pm 0.7$	$42.1 \pm 1.2$	4.9	0.180
Lateral septum	$22.3 \pm 1.3$	$23.7 \pm 0.7$	6.5	0.353
Medial amygdala	$21.6 \pm 0.8$	$22.9 \pm 0.9$	6.0	0.305
N. accumbens shell	$33.4 \pm 2.1^2$	$38.4 \pm 1.1^2$	14.8	0.070
Olfactory tubercles	$40.9 \pm 1.1$	$44.8 \pm 1.2$	9.6	0.032*

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup>GR<sup>+/-</sup> compared to GR<sup>+/+</sup>. <sup>2</sup> n = 5, <sup>3</sup> n = 4. \*p < 0.05.

<u>. 1</u><sup>2</sup> .nol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup> GR<sup>+ℓ-</sup> comp.

Table 4. 5-HT transporter binding in GR<sup>+/-</sup> mice

	GR+/+	GR+/-	Percent change <sup>1</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$35.7 \pm 0.8$	$33.6 \pm 0.5$	-6.0	0.038*
Hippocampus, dorsal	$39.9 \pm 0.7$	$39.3 \pm 0.6$	-1.5	0.548
Hypothalamus	$65.2 \pm 0.8$	$64.1 \pm 0.7$	-1.7	0.321
Lateral globus pallidus	$57.1 \pm 1.1$	$55.8 \pm 0.9$	-2.3	0.853
Lateral septum	$57.1 \pm 1.1$	$55.8 \pm 0.9$	-2.3	0.394
Basolateral amygdala	$63.3 \pm 1.1$	$60.9 \pm 1.2$	-3.9	0.158
N. accumbens shell	$47.8 \pm 2.7^2$	$44.5 \pm 1.3$	-6.9	0.131
Olfactory tubercles	$61.3 \pm 2.5$	$61.1 \pm 2.6$	-0.3	0.955

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup> GR<sup>+/-</sup> compared to GR<sup>+/+</sup>. <sup>2</sup> n = 5. \*p < 0.05.



Figure 1. Open field test of olfactory bulbectomized mice 49x28mm (600 x 600 DPI)

Journal of Neuroscience Research





Figure 2. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after olfactory bulbectomy  $121 \times 59 mm$  (150 x 150 DPI)



Α

35.



Figure 3A. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the ventral hippocampus and activity in the open field test of after olfactory bulbectomy 49x41mm (600 x 600 DPI)



Figure 3B. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the olfactory tubercles and activity in the open field test after olfactory bulbectomy 49x44mm (600 x 600 DPI)

Journal of Neuroscience Research



Figure 4. 5-HT transporter binding after olfactory bulbectomy 119x59mm (150 x 150 DPI)





Figure 5. Relationship between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding in the olfactory tubercles after olfactory bulbectomy 49x42mm (600 x 600 DPI)



Figure 6. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in GR heterozygous mice 119x59mm (150 x 150 DPI)



Manuscript II

# Changes in brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in rat depression models and in response to paroxetine administration

Cecilie L Licht<sup>1</sup>, Anders B Marcussen<sup>1</sup>, Gregers Wegener<sup>2</sup>, Ove Wiborg<sup>2</sup>, David H Overstreet<sup>3</sup>, Susana Aznar<sup>1</sup>, Gitte M Knudsen<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neurobiology Research Unit and Center for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging (Cimbi), Copenhagen University Hospital Rigshospitalet, Unit 9201, Blegdamsvej 9, 2100 Copenhagen O, Denmark.

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Psychiatric Research, Aarhus University Hospital - Risskov, Skovagervej 2, 8240 Risskov, Denmark

<sup>3</sup>Bowles Center for Alcohol Studies, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North soitalet Carolina, USA

# Correspondence

Cecilie Löe Licht

Neurobiology Research Unit 9201, Rigshospitalet

9 Blegdamsvej, DK- 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

Phone: +45 3545 6736

Fax: +45 3545 6713

E-mail: cecilie@nru.dk

#### Abbreviations

5,7-DHT, 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin); 5-HTT, 5-HT transporter; AUC, area under the curve; BLA, basolateral amygdala; CMS, Chronic Mild Stress; DRN, dorsal raphe nucleus; FSL, Flinders Sensitive Line; FST, forced swim test; FRL, Flinders Resistant Line; LGP, lateral globus pallidus; pCPA, para-chlorophenylalanine; ROI, region of interest; SD, Sprague-Dawley; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor.

## ABSTRACT

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor may be implicated in depression and is a new target for antidepressant treatment. We have investigated the brain 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor  $[^{3}H]SB207145$  binding in the Flinders Sensitive Line and the Chronic Mild Stress rat depression models by quantitative receptor autoradiography, and related this to 5-HT transporter (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding. We also determined the regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding by 1, 14 and 21 days of paroxetine administration and sub-chronic 5-HT depletion, and compared this to changes in 5- $HT_{2A}$  receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding. In the Flinders Sensitive Line, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding were decreased in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus. In the Chronic Mild Stress model, the 5-HT transporter binding in the caudate putamen was inversely correlated with sucrose intake during stress. Chronic but not acute paroxetine administration caused a global 16-47% downregulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, while 5-HT depletion increased the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the dorsal hippocampus, hypothalamus, and lateral globus pallidus. In comparison, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding was decreased in the frontal and cingulate cortex after chronic paroxetine administration, and markedly reduced in several regions after 5-HT depletion. Thus, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is decreased in the Flinders Sensitive Line and after chronic paroxetine administration.

**Keywords:** 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, Flinders Sensitive Line, Chronic Mild Stress, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, 5-HT transporter, 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor

Running title: 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression and after paroxetine

## **INTRODUCTION**

The serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) system is a focus of research in depression and antidepressant treatment, as most antidepressant drugs used today block synaptic reuptake of 5-HT by the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) (Berton and Nestler 2006). Apart from the 5-HTT, the 5-HT<sub>1</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptors have been the most extensively studied 5-HT system factors in mood disorders (Mossner et al. 2007). However, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor may also be implicated in depression and is a new target for antidepressant treatment.

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor was originally identified as the mediator of 5-HT stimulated increase in adenylate cyclase activity in mouse colliculi neurons (Dumuis et al. 1988). Activation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor inhibits K<sup>+</sup> currents in colliculi neurons, resulting in increased neuronal excitability (Fagni et al. 1992). In rodents as in humans, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is expressed mainly in basal ganglia and subcortical nuclei pertaining to the limbic system including the hippocampus and amygdala, while the cortical expression is low (Jakeman et al. 1994; Waeber et al. 1994). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor has been identified as a constitutive positive regulator of 5-HT neuron firing rate in the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), and also has phasic stimulatory effects, increasing the firing rate of 50% of the neurons (Lucas and Debonnel 2002;Lucas et al. 2005). Two studies have looked into the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in clinical depression, reporting increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor level in the caudate nucleus and frontal cortex of depressed suicide victims (Rosel et al. 2004), and association of two single nucleotide polymorphisms of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor gene with unipolar depression (Ohtsuki et al. 2002). It has recently been reported that activation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in rodents has an antidepressant potential comparable to or stronger than the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) citalopram, and with a faster onset of action (Lucas et al. 2007). The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is regulated by 5-HT

system changes, as chronic antidepressant treatment attenuates the stimulatory effect of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on hippocampal neuron excitability (Bijak 1997;Bijak et al. 1997;Zahorodna et al. 2002), while chronic 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine (5,7-DHT) mediated 5-HT depletion strongly upregulates 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the hippocampus and basal ganglia (Compan et al. 1996). The 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor is interesting in comparison to the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, being a well-described postsynaptic 5-HT receptor with opposite effects on 5-HT neuron firing rate in the DRN (Sharp et al. 2007).

Among the available rat models of depression, the Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL) and the Chronic Mild Stress (CMS) model show good face, construct, and predictive validity (for reviews see (Overstreet et al. 2005) and (Willner 2005)). The FSL model was originally developed by selective breading for increased cholinergic sensitivity but was later found to display increased immobility in the forced swim test (FST), a depression related behavior, and increased 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor sensitivity compared to the Flinders Resistant Line (FRL) rats (Overstreet et al. 1994). The increase in immobility in the FST is correlated with increased 5- $HT_{1A}$  receptor sensitivity but not with cholinergic sensitivity, indicating that the depressionlike phenotype of the FSL rats is associated with changes in the 5-HT system (Overstreet et al. 1994). The CMS model is a model of chronic stress-induced depression, induced by sequentially applying a variety of mild, unpredictable, environmental stressors for several weeks (Willner 2005). The CMS model was designed to model anhedonia, a decreased pleasure in normally pleasurable activities, which is a core symptom of depression (Willner et al. 1992). The anhedonic effect of CMS is evaluated as a reduced intake of a dilute sucrose solution, or by related reward paradigms (Willner 1997). While CMS induces anhedonia in approximately 70% of animals, the remaining animals display unchanged or increased sucrose intake, which is interpreted as stress resistance (Bergstrom et al. 2007).

To further investigate the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in depression, we have analyzed 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor  $[{}^{3}\text{H}]\text{SB207145}$  binding in the caudate putamen and hippocampus in two rat models of depression, FSL and CMS, and related this to 5-HTT (S)-[N-methyl- ${}^{3}\text{H}$ ]citalopram binding as a presynaptic 5-HT system marker. We also analyzed the regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding by acute and chronic treatment with the SSRI paroxetine, and by pharmacologically induced 5-HT depletion, and compared this to effects on 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor [ ${}^{3}\text{H}$ ]MDL100907 binding. We hypothesized that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding would be decreased after chronic but not acute paroxetine administration, and increased after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion.

# EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

# **Flinders Sensitive Line**

A colony of FSL and FRL rats, originally derived from the colony at the University of North Carolina, was maintained at Centre for Psychiatric Research, Denmark (Overstreet et al. 2005). All breeding pairs were screened in the FST prior to breeding. Animals used for autoradiography experiments were not themselves tested in the FST. Male FSL (n = 10) and FRL (n = 10) rats (325-495 g.) were housed two per cage on a 12 hr light/dark cycle with free access to food and water. All animal procedures were accepted by the Danish National Committee for Ethics in Animal Experimentation (2002/561-585). The FST was performed using a transparent cylinder (diameter 24 cm; height 60 cm, filled with 40 cm of water (25  $\pm$  0.5 °C) (Porsolt et al. 1977). On the first of two test days, the rats were placed in the cylinder for 5 min. The

behavior was video-recorded, and the immobility time in seconds was assessed using NOLDUS Ethovision XT.

# **Chronic Mild Stress protocol**

Male Wistar rats (350 g. at CMS start, Taconic, Denmark) were singly housed under a standard 12 hr light/dark cycle, and food and water were freely available. All procedures involving animals were accepted by the Danish National Committee for Ethics in Animal Experimentation (2002/561-575). The animals were initially trained for 5 weeks to consume a palatable sucrose solution (1.5%). Animals were food and water deprived 14h before the sucrose consumption test, which consisted of a 1h exposure to a bottle of sucrose solution. During the training period the sucrose test was made twice weekly during the first 3 weeks, and once weekly during the last 2 weeks. During the stress period the sucrose consumption test was performed one time per week. On the basis of sucrose intake in three final baseline tests, animals were divided into two matched groups and placed in separate rooms. One group (n = 16) was exposed to 4 weeks of chronic mild stressors, while the other group (n = 8) was left undisturbed. The stress protocol was optimized in our lab (Jayatissa et al. 2006), and consisted of one period (10-14 hours) of intermittent illumination, stroboscopic light, grouping (alternating resident or intruder), or food or water deprivation; two periods of soiled cage and no stress; and three periods of 45° box tilting. Total sucrose intake during CMS was determined for all animals as the area under the curve (AUC).

## **Drug administration**

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (250-300g; Charles River, Germany) were housed in pairs on a 12 hr light/dark cycle with food and water freely available. For paroxetine administration the animals were divided into a paroxetine (n = 24) and a vehicle  $(dH_2O, n = 24)$  group, and subdivided into 3 groups that were treated for 1, 14, and 21 days, respectively. Animals received orally administered paroxetine (10 mg/kg, free base) or vehicle once daily. Animals were decapitated 24 hours after the last drug administration, and the brains rapidly removed, frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80 °C. The 5-HT depletion protocol closely followed Kornum et al (Kornum et al. 2006): Animals were injected with para-chlorophenylalanine (pCPA, 200 mg/kg i.p.) once daily for 3 consecutive days followed by a single fenfluramine (20 mg/kg s.c.) injection on day 4. Animals in the saline group (n = 10) were housed in pairs, while 5-HT depleted animals (n = 10) were housed individually to avoid aggressive behavior. Approximately 24 hours after the last injection, the animals were decapitated and the brains removed, frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80 °C. All animal procedures were in accordance with the European Communities Council Resolves of 24<sup>th</sup> November 1986 (86/609/ECC) and approved by the Danish State Research Inspectorate (J. No 2002/561-527).

## **Tissue preparation**

The brains were sectioned on a cryostat in 10  $\mu$ m coronal sections at -25 °C, thaw-mounted onto gelatinized glass slides, allowed to dry, and stored at -80 °C. Sections were taken between Bregma 5.64 and 4.20 mm; 1.56 and 1.32 mm; -0.24 and -0.72 mm; -2.52 and -2.92 mm; -5.28 and -5.52 mm; -5.88 and -6.12 mm (Paxinos and Watson 2005). Tissue sections were collected in 4 parallel series with three sections on each glass slide.

5-HT<sub>2A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor autoradiography

The protocol for [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 autoradiography was adapted from Parker *et al.*, 2003 (Parker et al. 2003). Frozen tissue sections were brought to room temperature (RT) and allowed to dry prior to experimentation. For [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 and [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 autoradiography sections were preincubated at RT for 15 or 30 min, respectively, in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, containing 0.01% ascorbic acid and 10 µM pargyline. Sections were incubated in the same buffer containing either 1 nM [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 (1-5 times K<sub>d</sub>) or 0.4 nM [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 (1-2 times K<sub>d</sub>, (Kristiansen et al. 2005)) for 60 min. Sections used for non-specific binding were preincubated and incubated in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604 (5-HT<sub>4</sub> antagonist) or 10  $\mu$ M ketanserin (5-HT<sub>2A</sub> antagonist). Sections were washed for 2 x 20 seconds in ice-cold 50 mM Tris-HCl followed by 20 seconds in ice-cold dH<sub>2</sub>O. Slides were dried at RT in a gentle air stream for 1 hour. They were then fixed in paraformaldehyde vapor overnight at 4 °C. The sections were dried for 3 hours in a dessicator at RT, followed by exposure to a tritiumsensitive BAS TR2040 phosphor imaging plate (Fuji, Science Imaging Scandinavia AB) along with four autoradiographic [<sup>3</sup>H]microscales (8 and 80 nCi, Amersham Biosciences) for 2 weeks at 4 °C. The imaging plate was scanned on a BAS-2500 bioimaging analyzer (Fuji Film Photo Co. LTD., Japan). Sections from each model and its respective control group were for each section level processed and exposed to imaging plates together.

## 5-HT transporter autoradiography

The protocol for (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram autoradiography was adapted from Thomsen *et al.*, 2003 (Thomsen and Helboe 2003). The general procedure was as described for 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor autoradiography with the following changes: preincubation was 20 min in 50 mM Tris-HCl with 120 mM NaCl and 5 mM KCl, pH 7.4; and incubation was in the same buffer

with 2 nM (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram for 60 min. Non-specific binding was determined in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M paroxetine. Sections were washed for 3 x 2 min in buffer, followed by a quick dip in ice-cold distilled water. Sections were exposed for 7 days to tritium-sensitive BAS TR2040 phosphor imaging plates.

# Materials

<sub>D,L</sub>-fenfluramine HCl (Sigma, Denmark), ketanserin tartrate (Tocris Cookson Ltd, UK), [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 (64 Ci/mmol, donated by C. Halldin, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden), paroxetine HCl (donated by GlaxoSmithKline, UK), *p*-chlorophenylalanine methyl ester HCl (pCPA, Sigma), RS39604 HCl (Tocris Cookson Ltd, UK), [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 (66.7 Ci/mmol, donated by GlaxoSmithKline, UK), (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram (79.0 Ci/mmol, donated by H. Lundbeck A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark).

# Image analysis of autoradiograms

Autoradiograms were analysed with ImageJ V.1.32j (htttp://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/). Image optical density was converted to activity density in nCi/mg tissue equivalent (referred to as tissue) using the linear range of [<sup>3</sup>H]microscale standards. Regions of interest (ROI) were defined by aligning representative brain section autoradiograms with anatomical line drawings from the digital versions of The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, Fifth Edition by Paxinos and Watson (2005). The alignment was performed with Adobe Illustrator CS2 (v12.0.0). The ROIs were drawn on the atlas-overlayed autoradiograms in ImageJ, and were then used to measure radioactive density on all sections from the same section level. For the [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 autoradiograms ROIs were drawn free-hand onto each section with

reference to the Rat Brain Atlas (Paxinos and Watson 2005). The activity density in nCi/mg tissue was converted to radioligand binding in fmol/mg tissue using the specific activity. The specific receptor binding was determined by subtracting the non-specific binding from the total radioactivity. The dorsal hippocampus was defined as 50% of the hippocampal volume starting at the septal pole, and the ventral hippocampus as the 50% starting at the temporal pole (Bannerman et al. 2004). The dorsal hippocampus was evaluated on sections taken between -2.52 and -2.92 mm from Bregma, and the ventral hippocampus between -5.28 and -6.12 mm from Bregma. Since there is a fronto-caudal gradient in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen in rats (Vilaro et al. 2005), the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was determined separately for the frontal, medial, and caudal caudate putamen on sections taken between 1.56 and 1.32 mm, -0.24 and -0.72 mm, and -2.52 and -2.92 mm from Bregma, respectively. 9.

# **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc.). The FST was analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey post-test. Correlations between AUC of sucrose intake and regional binding were analyzed by Pearson's correlation analysis, except in cases of non-normality where Spearman's correlation was used. The brain regional changes were analyzed by Student's t-test. For each depression model a post-hoc analysis of brain regions other than the caudate putamen and hippocampus was performed. The regional binding data was not corrected for multiple comparisons. Outliers were detected by Grubb's test. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

# **RESULTS**
#### **Flinders Line**

FSL rats from our breeding colony displayed increased immobility in the FST compared to FRL rats (76%, p < 0.001) as well as to outbred Sprague-Dawley rats (37%, p < 0.001) (Fig. 1). Also, FRL rats were less immobile than the outbred Sprague-Dawley rats (22%, p < 0.05) (Fig. 1). Among the four hypothesis regions analyzed, the [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in the FSL was decreased in the dorsal (23%, p = 0.014) and ventral hippocampus (11%, p = 0.045) but unchanged in the medial and caudal caudate putamen compared to the FRL (Table 1). Posthoc analysis of the hypothalamus and lateral globus pallidus (LGP) showed a significant downregulation of the  $[^{3}H]SB207145$  binding in the LGP (7%, p = 0.027) of FSL compared to FRL (Table 1). In the dorsal and ventral hippocampus, the (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding was 12% (p = 0.0001) and 10% (p = 0.020) lower in the FSL than in the FRL (Table 2). By contrast, post-hoc analysis showed a 12% (p < 0.0001) larger (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding in the basolateral amygdala (BLA) of FSL rats (Table 2). We found no difference in (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding neither in the medial and caudal caudate putamen, nor in the post-hoc analyzed frontal cortex, hypothalamus, and LGP (Table 2). The <sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 and (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding showed a statistically significant correlation in the dorsal (r = 0.48, p = 0.034) but not in the ventral (r = 0.24, p = 0.307) hippocampus (Fig. 2).

# **Chronic Mild Stress**

During the 4-week CMS period, stressed animals displayed larger increases or decreases in sucrose intake (relative to baseline) than the control animals (Fig. 3A). At baseline, the CMS and control group displayed similar variation in sucrose intake (p = 0.952, F test of variances)

but after 2 and 4 weeks (p = 0.049 and p = 0.023, F test of variances) of stress exposure there was a significant difference between the groups in the variation in sucrose intake (Fig. 3B). Given that there were too few anhedonic animals to subdivide the stressed group into anhedonic and CMS resilient (no decrease in sucrose intake) animals, we determined the total sucrose intake (area under the curve, AUC) during CMS for all animals and correlated this to regional changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding. There were no significant correlations between AUC sucrose intake during CMS and [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in the caudate putamen (frontal, medial, and caudal) or the hippocampus (dorsal and ventral) (Table 3). We did not detect any correlations within the post-hoc analyzed regions: hypothalamus, LGP, nucleus accumbens shell, or olfactory tubercles (Table 3). The (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding was inversely correlated with AUC sucrose intake during CMS in the frontal caudate putamen (r = -0.41, p = 0.044) but not in the caudal caudate putamen, hippocampus (dorsal and ventral), or in any of the post-hoc analyzed brain regions (Table 4).

# Acute and chronic paroxetine administration

One day of paroxetine administration had no effect on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (Fig. 4, Table 5). However, as shown in Table 5, 14 days of paroxetine administration led to a significant 11-42% decrease in [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in the olfactory tubercles (32%, p < 0.0001), nucleus accumbens shell (36%, p < 0.0001), ventral pallidum (31%, p < 0.0001), LGP (frontal, 39%, p < 0.0001; and caudal, 42%, p < 0.0001), caudate putamen (medial, 19%, p = 0.0031; and caudal, 33%, p < 0.0001), hippocampus (dorsal, 24%, p = 0.0050; and ventral, 11%, p = 0.0443), and hypothalamus (38%, p < 0.0001). Among the 11 brain regions measured, only the frontal part of the caudate putamen (17%, p = 0.0760) did not show a statistically significant decrease in [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding. As shown in Table 5 and Fig. 4,

after 21 days of paroxetine administration, the [ ${}^{3}$ H]SB207145 binding was 16-47% decreased in all measured brain regions, except dorsal hippocampus (p = 0.068): olfactory tubercles (32%, p < 0.0001), nucleus accumbens shell (34%, p < 0.0001), ventral pallidum (35%, p < 0.0001), LGP (frontal, 40%, p < 0.0001; and caudal, 47%, p < 0.0001), caudate putamen (frontal, 16%, p = 0.0048; medial, 23%, p = 0.0031; and caudal, 37%, p < 0.0001), ventral hippocampus (23%, p = 0.0443), and hypothalamus (42%, p < 0.0001).

One and 14 days of paroxetine treatment had no effect on [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding in frontal cortex, cingulate cortex, frontal caudate putamen, and dentate gyrus (Table 6). However, paroxetine administration for 21 days was associated with a significant decrease in [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding in the frontal cortex (10%, p = 0.004) and cingulate cortex (10%, p = 0.049) but not in the frontal caudate putamen or dentate gyrus (Table 6).

## **Sub-chronic 5-HT depletion**

Sub-chronic 5-HT depletion induced a significant increase in [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding in the dorsal hippocampus (41%, p = 0.0007), hypothalamus (22%, p = 0.0002), and LGP (13%, p = 0.014) (Fig. 5, Table 7), whereas no effect was seen in the ventral hippocampus, ventral pallidum, and caudate putamen (medial and caudal) (Table 7). The [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding was markedly decreased in the frontal cortex (24%, p < 0.0001), cingulate cortex (33%, p < 0.0001), medial caudate putamen (27%, p = 0.0015), and dentate gyrus (63%, p = 0.0001) after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion (Fig. 6, Table 8).

## DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding in the Flinders Line and CMS models of depression, and to analyze the effect of acute and chronic antidepressant treatment on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the investigated regions. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding density and pattern were comparable to those previously reported for this (Parker et al. 2003) and other 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor radioligands in rats (Jakeman et al. 1994).

The immobility times in the FST of FSL, FRL, and SD rats of our colony are within the previously reported range (Porsolt et al. 1977), and the FSL rats show increased immobility, a depression-like behavior (Cryan et al. 2005), compared to both FRL and SD rats. Within the hypothesis regions, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was decreased in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus of FSL, while no change was detected in the caudate putamen. The FSL rats have higher hippocampal but similar striatal 5-HT levels compared to FRL rats (Zangen 1997). Given our present finding that chronic paroxetine administration downregulates hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, and is known to increase extracellular 5-HT levels (Owen and Whitton 2005; Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000), we find it likely that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is decreased in the FSL hippocampus in response to regionally elevated 5-HT levels. While we did not measure 5-HT levels in the hippocampus of our FSL and FRL animals, we determined 5-HTT binding as a marker for presynaptic serotonergic changes. Similar to the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding changes, the 5-HTT binding was decreased in both dorsal and ventral hippocampus with no change in the caudate putamen of FSL rats. Furthermore, the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding were directly correlated in the dorsal hippocampus but not in the ventral hippocampus. This may be due to a larger influence of variability in section level and angle on ventral hippocampal binding measurements. It is unlikely that the decreased 5-HTT binding is a result of degeneration of 5-HT fibers, as there are no

differences in 5-HT cell number in the DRN or in 5-HT fiber length in the dorsal hippocampus between the FSL and FRL rats (Husum et al. 2006). Rather, the decreased 5-HTT binding may be due to decreased expression, increased degradation, or increased internalization of the 5-HTT within serotonergic hippocampal projections. Though it has not been found in all studies, both chronic SSRI administration (Benmansour et al. 1999;Johnson et al. 2008) and 5-HT depletion (Rattray et al. 1996) have been shown to downregulate hippocampal 5-HTT binding, indicating changes in 5-HTT binding in response to changes in serotonergic tonus. Our own findings of decreased hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding in the FSL together with preliminary reports of increased hippocampal 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2</sub> receptor binding in this strain (Schiller 1991) indicates pronounced serotonergic changes in the hippocampus of the FSL model. The opposite directionality of hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> and 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor binding changes observed in these animals corroborates previous observations showing opposite regulation of hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> and 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor sensitivity by chronic antidepressant and corticosterone administration (Bijak et al. 2001).

Post-hoc analyses of additional brain regions in the FSL and FRL animals revealed downregulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP and no change in the hypothalamus. The unchanged 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the hypothalamus was unexpected given the previously reported elevated 5-HT levels in this region in FSL rats (Zangen et al. 1997). However, we did not detect differences in hypothalamic 5-HTT binding, suggesting no presynaptic 5-HT system differences in this region either. Whether our observation of a downregulation in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP in FSL rats can be explained by differences in serotonergic tonus in this area is difficult to say. While we in the present study have found that both 5-HT depletion and chronic paroxetine administration is capable of regulating 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP in opposite directions, no study has analyzed 5-

HT levels in the LGP of FSL rats. We did not detect changes in 5-HTT binding in the LGP in the FSL animals, suggesting that the observed 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes in this region could be due to other factors than 5-HT system changes. Chronic dopamine depletion upregulates 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the LGP (Compan et al. 1996), and conversely, one might expect an increase in dopamine to downregulate pallidal  $5-HT_4$  receptor binding. The FSL have increased dopamine tissue levels in the caudate putamen (Zangen et al. 1999), which may affect the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors in the LGP, as these receptors are expressed on GABA neurons projecting from the caudate putamen to the globus pallidus (Compan et al. 1996). Post-hoc analysis also revealed an increase in 5-HTT binding in the BLA of FSL rats. This is interesting as in humans 5-HTT binding in the amygdala is inversely correlated with amygdala activation in response to negative emotional faces, thereby linking increased 5-HTT binding with decreased amygdala excitability (Rhodes et al. 2007). As a parallel to these clinical observations, our finding of increased 5-HTT binding in the amygdala of FSL rats is in accordance with the FSL central amygdala being less responsive to acute stress (Zambello et al. 2008). The pattern of decreased hippocampal and increased amygdaloid 5-HTT binding in the FSL rats is similar to 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor expression changes in a reciprocal manner, with FSL rats having increased hippocampal and decreased (medial anterodorsal) amygdaloid 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor mRNA levels compared to FRL rats (Osterlund et al. 1999).

Apart from analyzing 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in a congenital depression model, the FSL strain, we also examined a model of environmentally induced depression, the CMS depression model. In some laboratories, CMS induces both a decrease (anhedonia) as well as no change or an increase (CMS resilience) in sucrose intake (Strekalova et al. 2004;Bergstrom et al. 2007;Bergstrom et al. 2008;Bisgaard et al. 2007). The CMS induced difference in reward sensitivity is also evident in the conditioned place preference test (Bergstrom et al. 2008), and

is reflected in differential regulation of 156 genes in the hippocampus (Bergstrom et al. 2007). In the present study, CMS as expected induced both an increase and a decrease in sucrose intake, leading to increased variation in sucrose intake in the CMS group. Given that there were relatively few anhedonic animals in our cohort, we decided to relate the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding to accumulated sucrose intake during the entire CMS period. However, the present results should be treated with caution due to the induction of anhedonia in a limited number of animals. The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the caudate putamen and hippocampus did not correlate with the total sucrose intake during CMS. However, the 5-HTT binding in the frontal caudate putamen was inversely correlated with total sucrose intake, associating increased 5-HTT binding with the anhedonic response to CMS. This is in agreement with the 5-HTT binding being increased in the striatum of depressed subjects in some studies (Cannon et al. 2007). The absence of a change in hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HTT binding after CMS is in accordance with anhedonic and CMS resilient animals not differing in hippocampal expression of genes related to the 5-HT system (Bergstrom et al. 2007).

In order to understand the mechanisms behind the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes observed in the FSL depression model, we investigated regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in response to alterations in cerebral 5-HT levels. For this normal rats were subjected to different treatment paradigms: acute and chronic paroxetine administration, and sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. While there was no effect of acute (1 day) paroxetine administration, a global and substantial downregulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was present after 14 and 21 days of treatment. Only one study has previously investigated the effect of chronic antidepressant treatment on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and reported no effect of citalopram on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the substantia nigra, which was the only region investigated (Gobbi et al. 1997). We did not

quantify 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the substantia nigra pars lateralis, as the small area of this region made it difficult to evaluate with the resolution of our method. We can exclude that the effect of chronic paroxetine administration on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is due to a direct effect of paroxetine or its metabolites on the receptor, as paroxetine does not bind to central  $5-HT_4$ receptors (Lucchelli et al. 1995), and only has polar metabolites which do not modify its pharmacological profile (Haddock et al. 1989). Further, we used a 24 hour drug washout period in our study, after which the inhibitory effect of paroxetine on 5-HT uptake is no longer present (Thomas et al. 1987). The absence of change in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after 1 day of paroxetine administration shows that the changes in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after 14 and 21 days are not due to the presence of paroxetine in the tissue. Our findings are in accordance with hippocampal slice electrophysiological studies, showing a decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor sensitivity after chronic (14 days) but not acute treatment with paroxetine (Bijak et al. 1997). The same group found a similar decrease in sensitivity after chronic administration of other antidepressant drugs (imipramine, citalopram, fluvoxamine) and after repeated electroconvulsive shock, indicating that this is a general effect of antidepressant treatment (Bijak 1997;Bijak et al. 2001;Bijak et al. 1997). Among available antidepressant drugs, paroxetine is the most potent inhibitor of 5-HT reuptake (Owens et al. 2001). Acute administration of paroxetine increases extracellular 5-HT levels in the hippocampus (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000) but not in the frontal cortex (Owen and Whitton 2005; Beyer et al. 2002). However, after 14 days of paroxetine administration the extracellular 5-HT baseline is increased in both the hippocampus (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000) and the frontal cortex (Owen and Whitton 2005). While paroxetine by acute blockade of the 5-HTT increases synaptic 5-HT in certain regions, chronic administration strongly downregulates 5-HTT binding globally, leading to a larger decline in 5-HT clearance from the synapse (Benmansour et al. 1999). Also, when administered for 3-21 days, paroxetine progressively desensitizes somatodendritic

5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors without affecting 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor binding, leading to diminished negative feedback control of 5-HT neuronal activity in the raphe nuclei (Le Poul et al. 1995). We suggest that the present finding of decreased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after 14 and 21 days of paroxetine administration is due to an increase in serotonergic activity and/or extracellular 5-HT levels. The decreased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding could reflect decreased expression of the 5- $HT_4$  receptor, or theoretically, a substantial decrease in receptor affinity. However, we will argue that the decrease in binding is due to increased agonist-induced internalization and degradation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, as prolonged 5-HT exposure decreases 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in colliculi neurons (Ansanay et al. 1996) through endocytosis of plasma membrane receptors (Barthet et al. 2005). Given that 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism increases the 5-HT neuron firing rate in the DRN, downregulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor level in response to increased serotonergic tonus may be interpreted as a compensatory downregulation of a positive regulator of 5-HT system function. While acute administration of 5-10 mg/kg paroxetine does not affect extracellular noradrenalin levels in the frontal cortex or hippocampus (Bever et al. 2002; Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000), hippocampal noradrenalin levels are increased after chronic (14 days) paroxetine administration (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000). From the present data it is not possible to determine if the increased noradrenalin levels contribute to the observed decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after chronic paroxetine administration.

Given that paroxetine strongly affects 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding with a time-course similar to the clinical effect of paroxetine, the present data implicate the -HT<sub>4</sub> receptor in the effects of antidepressant treatment. While acute -HT<sub>4</sub> receptor antagonism does not inhibit the antidepressant-like effect of fluoxetine in the forced swim test (Cryan and Lucki 2000), a recent study has provided convincing experimental data of a fast-acting antidepressant effect of partial -HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonists (Lucas et al. 2007). The antidepressant effect of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonists (RS67333 and prucalopride) may relate to their ability to stimulate 5-HT neuron firing rate both after acute and chronic administration (Lucas et al. 2005). The absence of desensitization of this effect in response to chronic partial agonist administration is surprising given the present finding of chronic paroxetine induced downregulation of  $5-HT_4$ receptor binding. However, 3 days of RS67333 administration (1.5 mg/kg i.p.) has no effect on 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in several brain regions (unpublished observations). The lack of desensitization after chronic RS67333 or prucalopride administration may be due to the partial agonist profile of these compounds (Duman 2007). To investigate whether the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor changes are characteristic for this receptor, we compared the 5-HT system regulation of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding to that of an extensively described 5-HT receptor, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor. In agreement with previous studies using  $[^{3}H]$ ketanserin (Maj et al. 1996;Nelson et al. 1989), we found a decrease in cortical 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after chronic (21 days) but not acute paroxetine administration. This is also in accordance with the clinical observation that chronic paroxetine treatment downregulates cortical 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding, as measured with [<sup>18</sup>F]setoperone, in depressed patients (Meyer et al. 2001). The decrease in 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding is not due to the presence of paroxetine, as paroxetine does not interact with the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor (Thomas et al. 1987), or to paroxetine metabolites (see above). Whereas chronic paroxetine administration was associated with a profound and global reduction in the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding, the effect on the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor was smaller and confined to frontal and cingulate cortices.

The chronic 5-HT depletion paradigm in our study induced a moderate increase in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the dorsal hippocampus, hypothalamus, and LGP. As previously published, our 4 day 5-HT depletion paradigm results in a 95% reduction in brain 5-HT on day 5 (Kornum et al. 2006). Our results support the previous report by Compan et al. of

increased 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the rostral caudate putamen, nucleus accumbens, substantia nigra, globus pallidus, and hippocampus 21 days after 5,7-DHT lesions of the raphe nuclei (Compan et al. 1996), and shows that this effect is also present after sub-chronic pharmacological 5-HT depletion. The hippocampal 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding was selectively increased in the dorsal part after 5-HT depletion, which is similar to the pattern of change in 5-HT<sub>1</sub> receptor binding after 5,7-DHT induced depletion, where binding is decreased in the anterior (dorsal) but not the posterior (ventral) hippocampus (Fischette et al. 1987). By contrast, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding was globally and markedly decreased after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. While this is the first report to use [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding to evaluate 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after 5-HT depletion, it has been reported that 5,7-DHT induced 5-HT depletion causes a 16-26% decrease in 5-HT<sub>2A/2C</sub> receptor [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding in the cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortex (Compan et al. 1998b) but an increase in striatal [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding, ascribed to 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> receptors (Compan et al. 1998a). Also, chronic 5-HT depletion induced by chronic, high dose MDMA exposure causes dramatic decreases in cortical, striatal, thalamic, and hypothalamic [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding (McGregor et al. 2003). However, 5-HT depletion by 5 days of pCPA administration has no effect on [<sup>125</sup>I]DOI binding in the cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortex (Compan et al. 1998b), and other studies report an increase (Heal et al. 1985) or no change (Fischette et al. 1987) in [<sup>3</sup>H]ketanserin binding after 5,7-DHT induced 5-HT depletion. The cause of these discrepancies may be the different 5-HT depletion protocols and radioligands used or the time point of receptor binding analysis.

Overall, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding is downregulated by chronic but not acute paroxetine administration, and upregulated after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. In comparison, the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding is downregulated by both chronic paroxetine administration and 5-HT depletion. While chronic paroxetine administration has a more widespread and pronounced

suppressing effect on the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, the effect of sub-chronic 5-HT depletion is most evident on -HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding. The decrease in 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding in the hippocampus of the FSL depression model correlates with decreased 5-HTT binding, and may be a compensatory response to regionally increased 5-HT levels.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank C Parker for advice on the [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 protocol and for providing rat brain tissue for a pilot study. C Halldin is acknowledged for the kind donation of [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907. We thank I Møller, HJ Jensen, L Rottensten, and CB Janssens for technical assistance. The study was financially supported by the Health Science Faculty at the University of Copenhagen, the Lundbeck Foundation, and the Augustinus Foundation.



#### REFERENCES

Ansanay H., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1996) Pharmacological comparison between [<sup>3</sup>H]GR 113808 binding sites and functional 5-HT4 receptors in neurons. *Eur J Pharmacol* **298**, 165-74.

Bannerman D. M., Rawlins J. N., McHugh S. B., Deacon R. M., Yee B. K., Bast T., Zhang W. N., Pothuizen H. H., and Feldon J. (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus--memory and anxiety. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 28, 273-83.

Barthet G., Gaven F., Framery B., Shinjo K., Nakamura T., Claeysen S., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (2005) Uncoupling and endocytosis of 5-hydroxytryptamine 4 receptors. Distinct molecular events with different GRK2 requirements. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 27924-34.

Benmansour S., Cecchi M., Morilak D. A., Gerhardt G. A., Javors M. A., Gould G. G., and Frazer A. (1999) Effects of chronic antidepressant treatments on serotonin transporter function, density, and mRNA level. *J Neurosci* **19**, 10494-501.

Bergstrom A., Jayatissa M. N., Mork A., and Wiborg O. (2008) Stress sensitivity and resilience in the chronic mild stress rat model of depression; an in situ hybridization study. *Brain Res* **1196**, 41-52.

Bergstrom A., Jayatissa M. N., Thykjaer T., and Wiborg O. (2007) Molecular pathways associated with stress resilience and drug resistance in the chronic mild stress rat model of depression: a gene expression study. *J Mol Neurosci* **33**, 201-15.

Berton O. and Nestler E. J. (2006) New approaches to antidepressant drug discovery: beyond monoamines. Nat Rev Neurosci 7, 137-51.

Beyer C. E., Boikess S., Luo B., and Dawson L. A. (2002) Comparison of the effects of antidepressants on norepinephrine and serotonin concentrations in the rat frontal cortex: an in-vivo microdialysis study. *J Psychopharmacol* **16**, 297-304.

Bijak M. (1997) Imipramine-induced subsensitivity to the 5-HT4 receptor activation, a possible mediation via an alteration in the postreceptor transduction mechanism involving adenylate cyclase. *Pol J Pharmacol* **49**, 345-50.

Bijak M., Tokarski K., and Maj J. (1997) Repeated treatment with antidepressant drugs induces subsensitivity to the excitatory effect of 5-HT4 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **355**, 14-9.

Bijak M., Zahorodna A., and Tokarski K. (2001) Opposite effects of antidepressants and corticosterone on the sensitivity of hippocampal CA1 neurons to 5-HT1A and 5-HT4 receptor activation. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **363**, 491-8.

Bisgaard C. F., Jayatissa M. N., Enghild J. J., Sanchez C., Artemychyn R., and Wiborg O. (2007) Proteomic investigation of the ventral rat hippocampus links DRP-2 to escitalopram treatment resistance and SNAP to stress resilience in the chronic mild stress model of depression. *J Mol Neurosci* **32**, 132-44.

Cannon D. M., Ichise M., Rollis D., Klaver J. M., Gandhi S. K., Charney D. S., Manji H. K., and Drevets W. C. (2007) Elevated serotonin transporter binding in major depressive disorder assessed using positron emission tomography and [11C]DASB; comparison with bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* **62**, 870-7.

Compan V., Daszuta A., Salin P., Sebben M., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1996) Lesion study of the distribution of serotonin 5-HT4

receptors in rat basal ganglia and hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 8, 2591-8.

Compan V., Segu L., Buhot M. C., and Daszuta A. (1998a) Selective increases in serotonin 5-HT1B/1D and 5-HT2A/2C binding sites in adult rat basal ganglia following lesions of serotonergic neurons. *Brain Res* **793**, 103-11.

Compan V., Segu L., Buhot M. C., and Daszuta A. (1998b) Differential effects of serotonin (5-HT) lesions and synthesis blockade on neuropeptide-Y immunoreactivity and 5-HT1A, 5-HT1B/1D and 5-HT2A/2C receptor binding sites in the rat cerebral cortex. *Brain Res* **795**, 264-76.

Cryan J. F. and Lucki I. (2000) 5-HT4 receptors do not mediate the antidepressant-like behavioral effects of fluoxetine in a modified forced swim test. *Eur J Pharmacol* **409**, 295-9.

Cryan J. F., Valentino R. J., and Lucki I. (2005) Assessing substrates underlying the behavioral effects of antidepressants using the modified rat forced swimming test. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **29**, 547-69.

Duman R. S. (2007) A silver bullet for the treatment of depression? Neuron 55, 679-81.

Dumuis A., Bouhelal R., Sebben M., Cory R., and Bockaert J. (1988) A nonclassical 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor positively coupled with adenylate cyclase in the central nervous system. *Mol Pharmacol* **34**, 880-7.

Fagni L., Dumuis A., Sebben M., and Bockaert J. (1992) The 5-HT4 receptor subtype inhibits K+ current in colliculi neurones via activation of a cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Br J Pharmacol* **105**, 973-9.

Fischette C. T., Nock B., and Renner K. (1987) Effects of 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine on serotonin1 and serotonin2 receptors throughout the rat central nervous system using quantitative autoradiography. *Brain Res* **421**, 263-79.

Gobbi M., Crespi D., Foddi M. C., Fracasso C., Mancini L., Parotti L., and Mennini T. (1997) Effects of chronic treatment with fluoxetine and citalopram on 5-HT uptake, 5-HT1B autoreceptors, 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **356**, 22-8.

Haddock R. E., Johnson A. M., Langley P. F., Nelson D. R., Pope J. A., Thomas D. R., and Woods F. R. (1989) Metabolic pathway of paroxetine in animals and man and the comparative pharmacological properties of its metabolites. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* **350**, 24-6.

Hajos-Korcsok E., McTavish S. F., and Sharp T. (2000) Effect of a selective 5-hydroxytryptamine reuptake inhibitor on brain extracellular noradrenaline: microdialysis studies using paroxetine. *Eur J Pharmacol* **407**, 101-7.

Heal D. J., Philpot J., Molyneux S. G., and Metz A. (1985) Intracerebroventricular administration of 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine to mice increases both head-twitch response and the number of cortical 5-HT2 receptors. *Neuropharmacology* **24**, 1201-5.

Husum H., Aznar S., Hoyer-Hansen S., Larsen M. H., Mikkelsen J. D., Moller A., Mathe A. A., and Wortwein G. (2006) Exacerbated loss of cell survival, neuropeptide Y-immunoreactive (IR) cells, and serotonin-IR fiber lengths in the dorsal hippocampus of the aged flinders sensitive line "depressed" rat: Implications for the pathophysiology of depression? *J Neurosci Res* **84**, 1292-302.

Jakeman L. B., To Z. P., Eglen R. M., Wong E. H., and Bonhaus D. W. (1994) Quantitative autoradiography of 5-HT4 receptors in brains of three species using two structurally distinct radioligands, [3H]GR113808 and [3H]BIMU-1. *Neuropharmacology* **33**, 1027-38.

Jayatissa M. N., Bisgaard C., Tingstrom A., Papp M., and Wiborg O. (2006) Hippocampal cytogenesis correlates to escitalopram-mediated recovery in a chronic mild stress rat model of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **31**, 2395-404.

Johnson D. A., Ingram C. D., Grant E. J., Craighead M., and Gartside S. E. (2008) Glucocorticoid Receptor Antagonism Augments Fluoxetine-Induced Downregulation of the 5-HT Transporter. *Neuropsychopharmacology, print copy in press (originally published online May 21, 2008, at www.acnp.org/citations/Npp18496518/).* 

Kornum B. R., Licht C. L., Weikop P., Knudsen G. M., and Aznar S. (2006) Central serotonin depletion affects rat brain areas differently: a qualitative and quantitative comparison between different treatment schemes. *Neurosci Lett* **392**, 129-34.

Kristiansen H., Elfving B., Plenge P., Pinborg L. H., Gillings N., and Knudsen G. M. (2005) Binding characteristics of the 5-HT2A receptor antagonists altanserin and MDL 100907. *Synapse* **58**, 249-57.

Le Poul E., Laaris N., Doucet E., Laporte A. M., Hamon M., and Lanfumey L. (1995) Early desensitization of somato-dendritic 5-HT1A autoreceptors in rats treated with fluoxetine or paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **352**, 141-8.

Lucas G., Compan V., Charnay Y., Neve R. L., Nestler E. J., Bockaert J., Barrot M., and Debonnel G. (2005) Frontocortical 5-HT4 receptors exert positive feedback on serotonergic activity: viral transfections, subacute and chronic treatments with 5-HT4 agonists. *Biol Psychiatry* **57**, 918-25.

Lucas G. and Debonnel G. (2002) 5-HT4 receptors exert a frequency-related facilitatory control on dorsal raphe nucleus 5-HT neuronal activity. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**, 817-22.

Lucas G., Rymar V. V., Du J., Mnie-Filali O., Bisgaard C., Manta S., Lambas-Senas L., Wiborg O., Haddjeri N., Pineyro G., Sadikot A. F., and Debonnel G. (2007) Serotonin(4) (5-HT(4)) receptor agonists are putative antidepressants with a rapid onset of action. *Neuron* **55**, 712-25.

Lucchelli A., Santagostino-Barbone M. G., Barbieri A., Candura S. M., and Tonini M. (1995) The interaction of antidepressant drugs with central and peripheral (enteric) 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors. *Br J Pharmacol* **114**, 1017-25.

Maj J., Bijak M., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M., Rogoz R., Rogoz Z., Skuza G., and Tokarski T. (1996) The effects of paroxetine given repeatedly on the 5-HT receptor subpopulations in the rat brain. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **127**, 73-82.

McGregor I. S., Clemens K. J., Van der Plasse G., Li K. M., Hunt G. E., Chen F., and Lawrence A. J. (2003) Increased anxiety 3 months after brief exposure to MDMA ("Ecstasy") in rats: association with altered 5-HT transporter and receptor density. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **28**, 1472-84.

Meyer J. H., Kapur S., Eisfeld B., Brown G. M., Houle S., DaSilva J., Wilson A. A., Rafi-Tari S., Mayberg H. S., and Kennedy S. H. (2001) The effect of paroxetine on 5-HT(2A) receptors in depression: an [18F]setoperone PET imaging study. *Am J Psychiatry* **158**, 78-85. Mossner R., Mikova O., Koutsilieri E., Saoud M., Ehlis A. C., Muller N., Fallgatter A. J., and Riederer P. (2007) Consensus paper of the WFSBP Task Force on Biological Markers: biological markers in depression. *World J Biol Psychiatry* **8**, 141-74.

Nelson D. R., Thomas D. R., and Johnson A. M. (1989) Pharmacological effects of paroxetine after repeated administration to animals. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* **350**, 21-3.

Ohtsuki T., Ishiguro H., Detera-Wadleigh S. D., Toyota T., Shimizu H., Yamada K., Yoshitsugu K., Hattori E., Yoshikawa T., and Arinami T. (2002) Association between serotonin 4 receptor gene polymorphisms and bipolar disorder in Japanese case-control samples and the NIMH Genetics Initiative Bipolar Pedigrees. *Mol Psychiatry* **7**, 954-61.

Osterlund M. K., Overstreet D. H., and Hurd Y. L. (1999) The flinders sensitive line rats, a genetic model of depression, show abnormal serotonin receptor mRNA expression in the brain that is reversed by 17beta-estradiol. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **74**, 158-66.

Overstreet D. H., Friedman E., Mathe A. A., and Yadid G. (2005) The Flinders Sensitive Line rat: a selectively bred putative animal model of depression. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **29**, 739-59.

Overstreet D. H., Janowsky D. S., Pucilowski O., and Rezvani A. H. (1994) Swim test immobility co-segregates with serotonergic but not cholinergic sensitivity in cross-breeds of Flinders Line rats. *Psychiatr Genet* **4**, 101-7.

Owen J. C. and Whitton P. S. (2005) Effects of amantadine and budipine on antidepressant drug-evoked changes in extracellular 5-HT in the frontal cortex of freely moving rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **145**, 587-92.

Owens M. J., Knight D. L., and Nemeroff C. B. (2001) Second-generation SSRIs: human monoamine transporter binding profile of escitalopram and R-fluoxetine. *Biol Psychiatry* **50**, 345-50.

Parker C. A., Brown J., and Gee A. D. (2003) Saturation binding of [3H]SB207145 and [3H]GR113808 to 5-HT4 receptors in rat and pig brain: An autoradiographical study. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 23, 692.

Paxinos G. and Watson C. (2005) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Fifth edition. Elsevier, Academic Press.

Porsolt R. D., Le Pichon M., and Jalfre M. (1977) Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. Nature 266, 730-2.

Rattray M., Baldessari S., Gobbi M., Mennini T., Samanin R., and Bendotti C. (1996) p-Chlorphenylalanine changes serotonin transporter mRNA levels and expression of the gene product. *J Neurochem* **67**, 463-72.

Rhodes R. A., Murthy N. V., Dresner M. A., Selvaraj S., Stavrakakis N., Babar S., Cowen P. J., and Grasby P. M. (2007) Human 5-HT transporter availability predicts amygdala reactivity in vivo. *J Neurosci* **27**, 9233-7.

Rosel P., Arranz B., Urretavizcaya M., Oros M., San L., and Navarro M. A. (2004) Altered 5-HT2A and 5-HT4 postsynaptic receptors and their intracellular signalling systems IP3 and cAMP in brains from depressed violent suicide victims. *Neuropsychobiology* **49**, 189-95.

Schiller G. D. (1991) Altered behavioral sensitivity to serotonergic agonists in an animal model of depressive disorders: receptor binding correlates and cholinergic-serotonergic systems interaction. *J Neurochem* **57**, S138.

Sharp T., Boothman L., Raley J., and Queree P. (2007) Important messages in the 'post': recent discoveries in 5-HT neurone feedback control. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 28, 629-36.

Strekalova T., Spanagel R., Bartsch D., Henn F. A., and Gass P. (2004) Stress-induced anhedonia in mice is associated with deficits in forced swimming and exploration. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **29**, 2007-17.

Thomas D. R., Nelson D. R., and Johnson A. M. (1987) Biochemical effects of the antidepressant paroxetine, a specific 5-hydroxytryptamine uptake inhibitor. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **93**, 193-200.

Thomsen C. and Helboe L. (2003) Regional pattern of binding and c-Fos induction by (R)- and (S)-citalopram in rat brain. *Neuroreport* 14, 2411-4.

Vilaro M. T., Cortes R., and Mengod G. (2005) Serotonin 5-HT4 receptors and their mRNAs in rat and guinea pig brain: distribution and effects of neurotoxic lesions. *J Comp Neurol* **484**, 418-39.

Waeber C., Sebben M., Nieoullon A., Bockaert J., and Dumuis A. (1994) Regional distribution and ontogeny of 5-HT4 binding sites in rodent brain. *Neuropharmacology* **33**, 527-41.

Willner P. (1997) Validity, reliability and utility of the chronic mild stress model of depression: a 10-year review and evaluation. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **134,** 319-29.

Willner P. (2005) Chronic Mild Stress (CMS) Revisited: Consistency and Behavioural-Neurobiological Concordance in the Effects of CMS. *Neuropsychobiology* **52**, 90-110.

Willner P., Muscat R., and Papp M. (1992) Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: a realistic animal model of depression. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 16, 525-34.

Zahorodna A., Tokarski K., and Bijak M. (2002) Imipramine but not 5-HT(1A) receptor agonists or neuroleptics induces adaptive changes in hippocampal 5-HT(1A) and 5-HT(4) receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* **443**, 51-7.

Zambello E., Jimenez-Vasquez P. A., El Khoury A., Mathe A. A., and Caberlotto L. (2008) Acute stress differentially affects corticotropinreleasing hormone mRNA expression in the central amygdala of the "depressed" flinders sensitive line and the control flinders resistant line rats. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* **32**, 651-61.

Zangen A., Overstreet D. H., and Yadid G. (1997) High serotonin and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid levels in limbic brain regions in a rat model of depression: normalization by chronic antidepressant treatment. *J Neurochem* **69**, 2477-83.

Zangen A., Overstreet D. H., and Yadid G. (1999) Increased catecholamine levels in specific brain regions of a rat model of depression: normalization by chronic antidepressant treatment. *Brain Res* **824**, 243-50.

# **TABLES**

Table 1	5-HT	recento	r hinding	, in	Flinders	Line
Table 1.	J-1114	iccepto	n omunig	; m	Timuers	LIIIC

	FRL	FSL	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	p value			
Caudate putamen, medial	$19.1 \pm 0.6$	$18.6 \pm 0.9$	-2.6	0.654			
Caudate putamen, caudal	$32.2 \pm 0.9$	$31.8 \pm 0.8$	-1.4	0.733			
Hippocampus, dorsal	$10.7 \pm 0.7$	$8.3 \pm 0.5$	-22.6	0.014*			
Hippocampus, ventral	$20.1 \pm 0.6$	$17.9 \pm 0.8$	-11.0	0.045*			
Hypothalamus	$16.8 \pm 0.6$	$17.1 \pm 0.6$	1.8	0.732			
Lateral globus pallidus	$33.2 \pm 0.6$	$30.9 \pm 0.8$	-7.0	0.027*			
Values are mean ± SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup> FSL compared to FRL.							

#### Table 2. 5-HT transporter binding in Flinders Line

FRL	FSL	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	p value
$40.5 \pm 1.0$	$39.6 \pm 1.2$	-2.2	0.587
$42.2 \pm 1.0$	$43.9 \pm 0.8$	4.0	0.207
$33.0 \pm 0.7$	$29.0 \pm 0.5$	-12.1	<0.0001***
$41.7 \pm 1.0$	$37.5 \pm 1.3$	-10.2	0.020*
$53.7 \pm 0.8$	$60.1 \pm 0.3$	12.0	<0.0001***
$50.6 \pm 1.0$	$50.2 \pm 1.0$	-0.7	0.823
$48.7 \pm 0.7$	$48.2 \pm 0.7$	-1.0	0.614
$46.9 \pm 1.4$	$48.0 \pm 0.8$	2.5	0.477
	FRL $40.5 \pm 1.0$ $42.2 \pm 1.0$ $33.0 \pm 0.7$ $41.7 \pm 1.0$ $53.7 \pm 0.8$ $50.6 \pm 1.0$ $48.7 \pm 0.7$ $46.9 \pm 1.4$	FRLFSL $40.5 \pm 1.0$ $39.6 \pm 1.2$ $42.2 \pm 1.0$ $43.9 \pm 0.8$ $33.0 \pm 0.7$ $29.0 \pm 0.5$ $41.7 \pm 1.0$ $37.5 \pm 1.3$ $53.7 \pm 0.8$ $60.1 \pm 0.3$ $50.6 \pm 1.0$ $50.2 \pm 1.0$ $48.7 \pm 0.7$ $48.2 \pm 0.7$ $46.9 \pm 1.4$ $48.0 \pm 0.8$	FRLFSLPercent changea $40.5 \pm 1.0$ $39.6 \pm 1.2$ $-2.2$ $42.2 \pm 1.0$ $43.9 \pm 0.8$ $4.0$ $33.0 \pm 0.7$ $29.0 \pm 0.5$ $-12.1$ $41.7 \pm 1.0$ $37.5 \pm 1.3$ $-10.2$ $53.7 \pm 0.8$ $60.1 \pm 0.3$ $12.0$ $50.6 \pm 1.0$ $50.2 \pm 1.0$ $-0.7$ $48.7 \pm 0.7$ $48.2 \pm 0.7$ $-1.0$ $46.9 \pm 1.4$ $48.0 \pm 0.8$ $2.5$

Values are mean ± SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>FSL compared to FRL.

3 ± 1λ
.8.7 ± 0.7
.46.9 ± 1.4
.mol/mg tissue. <sup>1</sup>FSL c.

Table 3. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after Chronic Mild Stress

	Control	CMS	r value <sup>a</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$13.6 \pm 0.5$	$13.3 \pm 0.4$	-0.21	0.329
Caudate putamen, medial	$18.5 \pm 1.1$	$19.1 \pm 0.6$	-0.36 <sup>b</sup>	0.083
Caudate putamen, caudal	$25.5 \pm 0.6$	$25.0 \pm 0.6$	-0.12	0.586
Hippocampus, dorsal	$10.6 \pm 0.5$	$10.5 \pm 0.5$	-0.22	0.310
Hippocampus, ventral	$14.6 \pm 0.3$	$13.7 \pm 0.5$	-0.10 <sup>b</sup>	0.651
Hypothalamus	$16.6 \pm 0.5$	$16.4 \pm 0.5$	-0.30	0.154
Lateral globus pallidus	$26.1 \pm 0.7$	$25.3 \pm 0.8$	-0.05	0.824
Nucleus accumbens shell	$22.5 \pm 0.4$	$23.1 \pm 0.5$	-0.27	0.207
Olfactory tubercles	$31.1 \pm 0.6^{\circ}$	$30.9 \pm 0.5$	-0.13	0.563

Values are mean ± SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>Pearson's correlation coefficient between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding and AUC sucrose intake during stress. <sup>b</sup>Spearman's correlation coefficient. <sup>c</sup>n = 7.

. "Spearman's co.

1
2
3
4 5
о 6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
1/ 19
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
3∠ 33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44 45
45 46
40
48
49
50
51
52
53
54 55
55 56
00 57
58
59
60

Table 4. 5-HT transporter binding after Chronic Mild Stress

	Control	CMS	r value <sup>a</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, frontal	$40.1 \pm 1.2$	$38.6 \pm 0.7$	-0.41	0.044*
Caudate putamen, caudal	$50.6 \pm 1.0$	$51.0 \pm 0.7$	-0.16	0.449
Hippocampus, dorsal	$37.7 \pm 0.9$	$36.8 \pm 0.8$	-0.37 <sup>b</sup>	0.076
Hippocampus, ventral	$53.5 \pm 1.7$	$55.9 \pm 1.0$	0.24	0.258
Basolateral amygdala	$65.6 \pm 1.1$	$64.9 \pm 0.6$	0.26	0.213
Frontal cortex	$61.7 \pm 1.9$	$60.9 \pm 1.6$	-0.30	0.150
Hypothalamus	$54.1 \pm 1.3$	$56.0 \pm 0.5$	-0.16	0.466
Nucleus accumbens shell	$65.4 \pm 1.0$	$67.2 \pm 0.8$	-0.02	0.915

Values are mean ± SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>Pearson's correlation coefficient between 5-HTT binding and AUC sucrose intake during stress. bSpearman's correlation coefficient.

<u>.1</u> .isu: "Person's con .man's correlation coefficie

Table 5. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after acute and chronic paroxetine administration

VehicleParoxetineVehicleParoxetineVehicleParoxetineCaudate putamen, f $16.6 \pm 0.8$ $17.4 \pm 0.3$ $16.5 \pm 1.0$ $13.8 \pm 1.0$ $17.0 \pm 0.6$ $14.3 \pm 0.6^{**}$ Caudate putamen m $20.6 \pm 0.6^{**}$ $21.8 \pm 0.6$ $21.2 \pm 0.5$ $17.1 \pm 1.0^{**}$ $22.8 \pm 0.5$ $17.5 \pm 0.7^{***}$
Caudate putamen, f $16.6 \pm 0.8$ $17.4 \pm 0.3$ $16.5 \pm 1.0$ $13.8 \pm 1.0$ $17.0 \pm 0.6$ $14.3 \pm 0.6^{**}$
Conduct nutrition m $20.6 \pm 0.6^{3}$ $21.9 \pm 0.6$ $21.2 \pm 0.5$ $17.1 \pm 1.0**$ $22.9 \pm 0.5$ $17.5 \pm 0.7***$
Caudate putation, iii $20.0 \pm 0.0$ $21.8 \pm 0.0$ $21.2 \pm 0.5$ $1/.1 \pm 1.0^{**}$ $22.8 \pm 0.5$ $1/.5 \pm 0.7^{***}$
Caudate putamen, c $31.9 \pm 0.8$ $30.7 \pm 1.1$ $31.5 \pm 1.1$ $21.0 \pm 0.9^{***}$ $34.1 \pm 1.0$ $21.6 \pm 1.1^{***}$
Hippocampus, dorsal $9.6 \pm 0.5$ $8.1 \pm 0.9^{a}$ $9.7 \pm 0.6$ $7.4 \pm 0.3^{**}$ $11.1 \pm 0.8$ $8.4 \pm 1.1$
Hippocampus, ventral $16.2 \pm 0.9^{a}$ $15.4 \pm 1.5$ $11.8 \pm 0.6$ $10.5 \pm 0.2^{*}$ $13.4 \pm 0.5$ $10.4 \pm 0.9^{**}$
Hypothalamus $18.0 \pm 0.6$ $16.9 \pm 0.7$ $17.7 \pm 0.9$ $11.0 \pm 0.6^{***}$ $19.4 \pm 0.7$ $11.2 \pm 0.9^{***}$
LGP, frontal $22.1 \pm 0.9^{\circ}$ $22.3 \pm 0.7$ $22.4 \pm 0.7$ $13.8 \pm 1.2^{***}$ $23.2 \pm 0.5$ $13.9 \pm 0.9^{***}$
LGP, caudal $31.6 \pm 1.0$ $31.2 \pm 1.6$ $29.9 \pm 1.4$ $1/.5 \pm 1.1^{***}$ $32.2 \pm 1.1$ $1/.1 \pm 1.0^{***}$
N. accumbens shell $24.7 \pm 0.7$ $25.0 \pm 0.8$ $27.0 \pm 1.1$ $17.0 \pm 1.0^{***}$ $28.1 \pm 0.7$ $18.0 \pm 1.0^{***}$
Vantral pallidum $25.8 \pm 0.0^{a}$ $26.1 \pm 0.6$ $28.2 \pm 0.8$ $10.6 \pm 1.1^{***}$ $28.0 \pm 0.8$ $18.8 \pm 1.0^{***}$
Venual paindum $25.8 \pm 0.9$ $20.1 \pm 0.0$ $28.2 \pm 0.8$ $19.0 \pm 1.1$ $28.9 \pm 0.8$ $18.8 \pm 1.0$
Values are mean $\pm$ SEM in fmol/mg tissue. f: frontal, m: medial, n: nucleus, c: caudal. <sup>a</sup> n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p <
0.01, ***p < 0.0001 for paroxetine versus vehicle.

Table 6. 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after acute and chronic paroxetine administration

	1 day		14 days		21 days	
	Vehicle	Paroxetine	Vehicle	Paroxetine	Vehicle	Paroxetine
Caudate putamen, frontal	$14.4 \pm 0.8$	$13.7 \pm 0.7$	$12.5 \pm 0.7$	$13.4 \pm 0.5$	$11.1 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$11.5 \pm 0.8$
Cingulate cortex	$31.7 \pm 0.4$	$30.2 \pm 1.4$	$26.7 \pm 0.7$	$26.8 \pm 0.6$	$26.7 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$24.1 \pm 1.0^{*}$
Dentate gyrus, dorsal	$16.9 \pm 0.6$	$15.5 \pm 0.4$	$12.4 \pm 1.1$	$11.3 \pm 0.8^{a}$	$17.9 \pm 0.7$	$16.9 \pm 0.9$
Frontal cortex	$40.4 \pm 1.0$	$40.3 \pm 1.7$	$43.3 \pm 1.1$	$42.0 \pm 0.8$	$39.8 \pm 0.8$	$35.5 \pm 0.9^{**}$

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>n = 7. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 for paroxetine versus vehicle.

.t \_±1.. .ue. \*n = 7. \*p < \

Table 7. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion

	Saline	pCPA + FEN	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, medial	$17.6 \pm 0.7$	$17.8 \pm 0.7$	1.0	0.871
Caudate putamen, caudal	$27.4 \pm 0.7$	$28.9 \pm 0.6$	5.7	0.102
Hippocampus, dorsal	$7.8 \pm 0.4$	$11.0 \pm 0.7$	40.7	0.0007***
Hippocampus, ventral	$15.1 \pm 0.9^{b}$	$16.4 \pm 0.4$	8.6	0.163
Hypothalamus	$14.8 \pm 0.2$	$18.1 \pm 0.6$	22.2	0.0002***
Lateral globus pallidus	$26.6 \pm 0.7$	$30.0 \pm 1.0$	12.8	0.014*
Ventral pallidum	$26.9 \pm 0.6$	$29.3 \pm 1.1$	8.8	0.087

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>pCPA + FEN compared to saline. <sup>b</sup>n = 7.

⊥<u>µ</u> ± 0.6 ⊥mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>pCF.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
0
9 10
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
22
20
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
27
20
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
50
51
5Z
53
54
55
56

Table 8. 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion

	Saline	pCPA + FEN	Percent change <sup>a</sup>	p value
Caudate putamen, medial	$28.5 \pm 1.7$	$20.9 \pm 1.2$	-26.7	0.0015**
Cingulate cortex	$33.8 \pm 1.5^{b}$	$22.5 \pm 1.2$	-33.3	<0.0001***
Dentate gyrus, dorsal	$17.4 \pm 1.8$	$6.5 \pm 0.7$	-62.5	0.0001**
Frontal cortex	$50.3 \pm 0.8$	$38.2 \pm 1.4$	-24.1	<0.0001***

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in fmol/mg tissue. <sup>a</sup>pCPA + FEN compared to saline. <sup>b</sup>n = 9.

\_\_\_3 . "pCPA + FEN α

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

Figure 1. Forced Swim Test of Flinders Line rats from our colony. Immobility time (seconds) of FSL (n = 10), FRL (n = 10), and Sprague-Dawley (SD) (n = 12) rats, representing the phenotype of our Flinders Line colony. Horizontal lines are mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.0001

Figure 2. Correlation between 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor and 5-HT transporter binding in Flinders Line rats. [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 versus (S)-[N-methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]citalopram binding in A) dorsal hippocampus (r = 0.48, p = 0.034), and B) ventral hippocampus (r = 0.24, p = 0.307) of FSL (triangles, n = 10) and FRL (squares, n = 10). Values are fmol/mg tissue.

Figure 3. A. Individual sucrose intake (g) of rats during 4 weeks of Chronic Mild Stress (CMS, n = 16) and control (n = 8). B. Variation in sucrose intake (g) within control and CMS group during CMS procedure. \*p < 0.05

Figure 4. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after acute and chronic paroxetine administration. Autoradiograms of specific [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (1 nM) at four section levels after 1 (left panel) and 21 (right panel) days of vehicle (n = 7-8; A, D, G, J) or paroxetine (10 mg/kg, n = 7-8; B, E, H, K) administration. C, F, I, L) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604.

Figure 5. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor binding after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. Autoradiograms of specific [<sup>3</sup>H]SB207145 binding (1 nM) at 3 section levels after 4 days of A, D, G) saline (n = 9) or B, E, H) 3 x pCPA + 1 x FEN (n = 10) administration. C, F, I) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M RS39604.

Figure 6. 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor binding after sub-chronic 5-HT depletion. Autoradiograms of specific [<sup>3</sup>H]MDL100907 binding (0.4 nM) at 3 section levels after 4 days of A, D, G) saline (n = 10) or B, E, H) 3 x pCPA + 1 x FEN (n = 10) administration. C, F, I) Non-specific binding in the presence of 10 µM ketanserin.

FIGURES



Figure 3









Figure 6

Manuscript III

Effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism and paroxetine administration on hippocampal extracellular 5-HT levels

Cecilie Löe Licht<sup>1</sup>, Gitte Moos Knudsen<sup>1</sup>, and Trevor Sharp<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neurobiology Research Unit and Center for Integrated Molecular Brain Imaging (Cimbi), University of Copenhagen and Rigshospitalet, Blegdamsvej 9, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark <sup>2</sup>Department of Pharmacology, University of Oxford, Mansfield Road, Oxford, OX1 3QT, United Kingdom

Running title: Effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism on 5-HT levels

Correspondence: Cecilie Löe Licht Neurobiology Research Unit 9201, Rigshospitalet 9 Blegdamsvej, 2100 Copenhagen O, Denmark Phone: +45 3545 6736 Fax: +45 3545 6713 E-mail: cecilie@nru.dk

#### Abstract

The 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulates 5-HT neuron activity and is a new target for antidepressant treatment. We here evaluated the effect of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist, RS67333, on extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus of the rat by in vivo microdialysis, and explored the ability of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism to augment the acute effects of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) paroxetine on extracellular 5-HT levels. As 3 days of RS67333 administration shows antidepressant-like effects in animal models of depression, we also examined the effect of this treatment on extracellular 5-HT levels. Acute administration of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg i.v.) alone had no effect on extracellular 5-HT or 5-HIAA levels, while acute paroxetine administration (0.5 mg/kg i.v.) caused the expected increase in 5-HT (276% of baseline) and decrease in 5-HIAA levels. When administering RS67333 after the effect of paroxetine had stabilized, an additional increase in 5-HT levels (to 398% of baseline) was observed. After 3 days of RS67333 administration basal extracellular 5-HT levels were increased by 73%, 5-HIAA levels were decreased, and acute paroxetine administration induced higher absolute 5-HT levels. There was no additional effect of acute RS67333 administration on 5-HT levels after paroxetine in the RS67333 pretreated animals. The present data suggest that the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist RS67333 is able to augment the acute effect of paroxetine on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus. Also, the ability of sub-chronic RS67333 administration to increase extracellular 5-HT levels suggests antidepressant potential.

**Key words:** selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, in vivo microdialysis, ventral hippocampus

#### INTRODUCTION

Antidepressant drugs of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) type require a minimum of three weeks to have therapeutic effect (Bourin et al. 2001) and are only effective in 50% of cases, although partial responses can be achieved for 80% of patients (Nestler et al. 2002). To increase the effectiveness and reduce the time required for antidepressant effect, pharmacological strategies have explored co-administration of 5-HT receptor ligands (Sharp et al. 1997;Boothman et al. 2006;Hjorth 1993). The SSRIs inhibit 5-HT reuptake by the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT), leading to acute increases in extracellular 5-HT levels (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000). However, the increased 5-HT levels inhibit 5-HT neuron activity in the raphe nuclei (Hajos et al. 1995) through activation of somatodendritic 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptors (Gartside et al. 1995;Sprouse and Aghajanian 1987), constraining the increase in 5-HT levels. Addition of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor antagonists to acute SSRI administration prevents the inhibition of 5-HT neuronal activity and increases the release of 5-HT in the frontal cortex (Gartside et al. 1995) and ventral hippocampus (Hjorth 1993). This is similar to the effect of chronic SSRI administration, where the inhibitory effect of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor activation is desensitized (Invernizzi et al. 1994;Kreiss and Lucki 1995) and extracellular 5-HT levels in the hippocampus and frontal cortex increased (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000;Owen and Whitton 2005).

Apart from 5-HT autoreceptors, the postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors also regulate 5-HT neuron activity and 5-HT release. In contrast to the 5-HT autoreceptor inhibition, however, the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulates 5-HT neuron firing rate in the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) (Lucas and Debonnel 2002;Lucas et al. 2005), and this effect does not desensitize in response to chronic partial agonist administration (Lucas et al. 2005). Also, both local and systemic acute

administration of non-selective 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonists increases extracellular 5-HT levels in the hippocampus by 200% (Ge and Barnes 1996). It is therefore likely that stimulation of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor will increase general serotonergic activity, be able to potentate the effect of SSRI treatment, and possibly have antidepressant properties in itself. In support of the latter, a recent study has demonstrated antidepressant-like effects after 3 days of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist administration in rodents (Lucas et al. 2007). The aim of the present study was to examine by in vivo microdialysis, the ability of acute 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism to augment the effect of paroxetine on hippocampal extracellular 5-HT levels, and to determine the effect of subchronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism on 5-HT levels.

We have evaluated the effects of acute administration of a 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist, RS67333, on extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus by in vivo microdialysis. We also examined the ability of RS67333 to increase the effect of acute SSRI (paroxetine) administration on hippocampal 5-HT levels, and evaluated the effects of 3 days of RS67333 administration on basal 5-HT levels.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL METHODS**

#### Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (270-410 g, Harlan, UK) were housed in groups of up to 6 under controlled conditions of temperature (21°C) and humidity (50%) on a 12 h light/dark cycle with food and water freely available. In the acute experiments, the following groups were analyzed: paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg, n = 6), RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, n = 5), paroxetine + RS67333 (n = 7), and vehicle (distilled water, n = 3). The sub-chronic experiments consisted of 5 animals pretreated

for 3 days with RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg i.p.) followed by acute paroxetine + RS67333, and 2 animals pretreated with vehicle and used for baseline determination only. All animal procedures were covered by a project license (PPL 302445) issued by the Home Office, under the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and associated guidelines.

## Microdialysis procedure

Rats were anaesthetized with chloral hydrate (400-500 mg/kg i.p., followed by supplementary doses as necessary), and local analgetic (lignocaine, s.c.) was applied to the neck and ears before placing the animals in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf) with the incisor bar set at -3.3 mm. Animal body temperature was maintained at 36°C by means of a homoeothermic heating pad with rectal probe. The skull was exposed and burr holes were drilled for the stereotaxic placement of a self-made (Sharp and Zetterström 1992) single cannula microdialysis probe (4 mm membrane) into the right ventral hippocampus. Stereotaxic co-ordinates were: rostrocaudal -5.0 mm, medio-lateral -4.5 mm, dorso-ventral -8.0 mm from Bregma and dura surface according to (Paxinos and Watson 2005). The microdialysis probe was secured in place using dental cement and two skull screws. The probe was perfused (2 µl/min) for 1 hour before and during implantation, and throughout the experimental period with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) containing (in mM): NaCl 140, KCl 3.0, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.4, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.0, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 0.27, and glucose 7.2, pH 7.4, via polyethylene tubing (0.38 mm i.d.) connected to a 1 ml syringe mounted on a microinjection pump (CMA/100, Carnegie Medicine, Stockholm, Sweden). Perfusates were collected every 20 min (app. 40 µl) in small tubes, containing 1 µl 0.06 M perchloric acid, placed over the outlet cannula of the microdialysis probe throughout the experiment (300 min). A 25 gauge hypodermic needle was placed in the lateral tail vein to

allow intravenous administration of drugs. After surgery, the animal was removed from the stereotaxic frame.

#### **Experimental protocol**

Animals were anaesthetized throughout the experimental period. In all experiments, a period of at least 1.5 hours was allowed after probe insertion before sample collection for 5-HT levels to stabilize. Baseline samples were then collected for 2 hours (6 samples) before administration of paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg i.v.), RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg i.v.), or vehicle (distilled water, i.v.) over 3-4 min. in the middle of the following sample. Samples were then collected for another 2 hours. When combining paroxetine and RS67333, RS67333 was administered 80 min. after paroxetine injection. For sub-chronic RS67333 administration prior to microdialysis, animals were injected with RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg i.p.) once daily for 3 consecutive days, and microdialysis was performed on day 4. At the end of the experiment animals were given an overdose of anesthetic, and the brain was removed to allow histological verification of probe location. Animals with a probe location outside of the ventral hippocampus were excluded.

#### High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis

Dialysate samples were analyzed for 5-HT, 5-HIAA, and DOPAC using HPLC with electrochemical detection. Samples were separated using a Rainin Dynamax HPLC Reverse Phase Analytical (100 x 4.6 mm, Microsorb  $C_{18}$  3 µm particles, Varian) and 5-HT was detected at RT using a 3 mm glassy carbon electrode maintained at +0.75 V versus an Ag/AgCl reference electrode (BAS LC-4 potentiometer, BASi). The mobile phase was 0.13 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> buffer containing 12.5% (v/v) methanol, 0.85 mM EDTA, and 0.05 mM <sub>L</sub>-octane sulphonic
acid (brought to pH 3.55 with orthophosphoric acid) at a flow rate of 1 ml min<sup>-1</sup> (LKB 2150 HPLC pump). Dialysates were injected directly onto the chromatography system immediately following collection. The sample run time was app. 8 min, and samples from two animals could therefore be analyzed during the experiment. Chromatograms were displayed, integrated, and stored (Milton Roy CI 4000 integrator) prior to analysis. Chromatographic peaks for 5-HT, 5-HIAA, and DOPAC were converted to absolute amounts in pmol by external calibration of the integrator before each experiment. The limit of detection for 5-HT was approximately 0.005 pmol per sample.

# Drugs

Laboratory chemicals were Analar or HPLC grade. The drugs were: chloral hydrate (Centaur, Somerset, UK), lignocaine HCl (Centaur, Somerset, UK), paroxetine HCl (donated by GlaxoSmithKline, UK), RS67333 HCl (Tocris Cookson Ltd, UK), WAY100635 HCl (donated by Wyeth Research, UK). All drugs were prepared fresh in distilled water, calculated on the basis of the respective salt.

# **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc.). Microdialysis data after acute drug challenge are expressed as percentage change compared to baseline, calculated as the average of the last three samples collected before drug or vehicle injection. Baseline 5-HT levels after 3 days of RS67333 administration are presented as absolute levels (pmol/sample of 40  $\mu$ l), uncorrected for in vitro recovery. Between group analyses were performed using two-way ANOVA with repeated measures, and Drug and Time

as independent factors. Group differences after significant ANOVAs were analyzed by Bonferroni posttests. The acute microdialysis data was analyzed in two steps: first, we compared the effects of paroxetine, RS67333, paroxetine + RS67333, and vehicle on 5-HT levels for the time span 0-260 min. We then compared the effects of paroxetine + RS67333 on 5-HT levels with that of paroxetine alone for the time span 140-300 min. Basal 5-HT and metabolite levels after 3 days of RS67333 were calculated as the average of the last four samples collected before drug or vehicle administration, and compared with a control group of combined untreated (n = 16) and 3 day vehicle treated (n = 2) animals by Student's *t*-test. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### Acute effects of RS67333 and paroxetine

When comparing the effects of paroxetine, RS67333, paroxetine + RS67333, and vehicle on 5-HT levels, there was a significant effect of Drug (F(3,204) = 13.30, p = 0.0001) and Time (F(12,204) = 18.97, p < 0.0001), and an interaction (F(36,204) = 8.541, p < 0.0001) between the two. Bonferroni posttests showed a significant effect of paroxetine on 5-HT levels but no effect of RS67333, when administered alone (Fig. 1). Paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg) injection caused a rapid increase in 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus to 276% of baseline levels (Fig. 1). The increase in 5-HT levels was significant 50 min after paroxetine injection, reaching a plateau after approximately 90 min. When comparing the effects of paroxetine + RS67333 on 5-HT levels to that of paroxetine alone, there was a significant effect of Time (F(8,88) = 29.11, p < 0.0001) and an interaction (F(8,88) = 2.479, p = 0.0179) between Drug and Time. Bonferroni posttests showed a significant effect on 5-HT levels, when RS67333 was administered 80 min after paroxetine (p < 0.01 at 240 min time point), giving a further increase in 5-HT levels to 398% of baseline 30 min after RS67333 i.v. administration (Fig. 1). The additional effect of RS67333 was no longer significant at the 260 min time point.

When comparing all treatment groups there was an effect of Time (F(12,204) = 16.79, p < (0.0001) and an interaction between Drug and Time (F(36,204) = 1.520, p = (0.0381) on 5-HIAA levels. Bonferroni posttests showed a decrease in 5-HIAA levels after paroxetine at the 260 min (p < 0.05) time point and after paroxetine + RS67333 at the 240 (p < 0.05) and 260 min (p < 0.05)0.001) time point (Fig. 2A). Comparison of the combination of paroxetine and RS67333 with paroxetine alone (140-300 min), showed a significant effect of Time (F(8,88) = 95.42, p < 0.0001) and an interaction between Drug and Time (F(8,88) = 2.243, p = 0.0314) on 5-HIAA levels but no time points were significant by Bonferroni posttests. Two-way ANOVA of the effects of all treatments on DOPAC levels showed no effect of Drug or Time but a significant interaction (F(36,204) = 1.885, p = 0.0033) between the two. Bonferroni posttests showed lower DOPAC levels at the 240 and 260 min time point of all drug treatments (except paroxetine at 240 min) compared to vehicle (Fig. 2B). Inspection of the data in figure 2B suggests that this is due to an increase in DOPAC levels in the vehicle group at these time points. Comparison of paroxetine + RS67333 and paroxetine alone (140-300 min) showed a significant effect of Time on DOPAC levels (F(8,88) = 4.543, p = 0.0001) and an interaction (F(8,88) = 2.562, p = 0.0147) between Drug and Time but Bonferroni posttests showed no significant differences.

## Three days of RS67333 administration increases 5-HT baseline levels

Since the 5-HT levels of 3-day vehicle administered animals were within the range of the untreated controls, a control group consisting of both untreated and vehicle administered animals was used (Fig. 3A and 3B). The analysis of 3 days of RS67333 administration on

extracellular 5-HT baseline levels showed a significant effect of Pretreatment with RS67333 (F(1,105) = 18.91, p = 0.0003) and Time (F(5,105) = 5.671, p = 0.0001) and no interaction between Pretreatment and Time. Bonferroni posttests showed a significant increase in 5-HT levels after 3 days of RS67333 administration in baseline sample 1-3 and 5-6, i.e. over a period of 120 min from sample collection start until administration of drug (Fig. 3A). When expressed as average 5-HT level (pmol/sample) of the four last samples before drug administration (sample 3-6), there was a significant 73% increase in 5-HT levels after 3 days of RS67333 administration also induced a 27% decrease in baseline 5-HIAA levels in the ventral hippocampus (p = 0.047) but had no effect on DOPAC levels (Table 1).

We compared the influence of 3 days of RS67333 administration on the effect of paroxetine + RS67333 on 5-HT, 5-HIAA and DOPAC levels. The two-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant effect of Time (F(14,140) = 39.59, p < 0.0001) and Pretreatment with RS67333 (F(1,140) = 5.083, p = 0.048) on 5-HT levels but no interaction between Time and Pretreatment. Bonferroni posttests showed that the two groups differed at the 280 min time point (p < 0.05), where the 3-day RS67333 pretreated group had higher 5-HT levels (Fig. 4). There was no change in the effect of paroxetine + RS67333 on 5-HIAA and DOPAC levels after 3 days of RS67333 pretreatment (data not shown).

#### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge this is the first study to examine potential SSRI augmenting effects of systemic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism, and to evaluate the effects of sub-chronic 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonism on extracellular 5-HT levels. We found that while acute pharmacological stimulation

of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor alone had no effect on extracellular 5-HT or 5-HIAA levels in the ventral hippocampus, 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism after acute paroxetine administration increased extracellular 5-HT levels further than paroxetine administration alone. In contrast to the acute experiments, three days of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonist administration increased basal extracellular 5-HT levels, and when followed by a paroxetine challenge induced higher 5-HT levels than in animals, which were not pretreated with RS67333.

### Acute effect of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism on hippocampal 5-HT levels

Acute administration of RS67333 had no effect on extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus of the anaesthetized rat. This was unexpected as a previous microdialysis study has shown markedly increased 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus after systemic administration of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonist renzapride (Ge and Barnes 1996). The reason for this discrepancy could be that RS67333 is a partial agonist (Eglen et al. 1995), while renzapride is a full agonist. We chose RS67333 because of its higher selectivity for the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor, although RS6733 also has affinity for  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  receptors in vitro (Eglen et al. 1995). Another difference between the two studies is that Ge et al. performed their experiments in wake rats, while we used chloral hydrate anaesthetized animals. However, administration of RS67333 at the dose used in our study increases 5-HT neuron activity in the DRN of the chloral hydrate anaesthetized rat (Lucas et al. 2005), and stimulation of the DRN is normally reflected in increased 5-HT release in the ventral hippocampus (Sharp and Hjorth 1990). We speculate that acute increases in 5-HT release in response to acute RS67333 administration could not be detected in our study because of rapid reuptake of 5-HT by the 5-HT transporter.

#### 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation augments 5-HT response to acute paroxetine

When administered 80 min after the SSRI paroxetine, RS67333 increased hippocampal 5-HT levels above the levels induced by paroxetine alone. The increase in 5-HT levels after acute systemic paroxetine administration is influenced by serotonergic tonus, which is affected by both inhibitory effects of 5-HT $_{1A}$  (Sprouse and Aghajanian 1987), 5-HT $_{2A}$  and 5-HT $_{2B/C}$ receptors (Boothman et al. 2003), and by stimulatory effects of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors on 5-HT neuron firing. Addition of a 5-HT neuron activating compound, RS67333, may shift the balance between inhibitory and stimulatory 5-HT receptor effects on 5-HT neuron activity, increasing the 5-HT release in the ventral hippocampus. The transient nature of the additional increase in 5-HT levels after RS67333 administration is unlikely to be due to acute desensitization of the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors, as the 5-HT neuron response to 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism does not desensitize even with chronic partial agonist administration (Lucas et al. 2005). Rather the response may be inhibited by negative feedback, as the increase in 5-HT release in response to RS67333 will increase the activation of inhibitory 5-HT receptors. In comparison, the SSRI augmenting effect of acute 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptor antagonism is long lasting and of a larger scale (Hjorth 1993), possibly due to a larger influence of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors on 5-HT neuron activity. Our results are in line with the ability of renzapride to increase 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus in the presence of paroxetine after local administration of both compounds via the microdialysis probe (Ge and Barnes 1996). However, the effect of renzapride on paroxetine elevated 5-HT levels was larger and longer lasting, possibly because the inhibitory effects of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptors were avoided due to the local administration route.

#### Three days of 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulation increases hippocampal 5-HT levels

Three days of RS67333 administration increased the 5-HT baseline levels in the ventral hippocampus. Given that the acute RS67333 administration did not have a similar effect, this is

most likely due to the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor stimulatory effect on 5-HT neuron activity (Lucas et al. 2005), in combination with a desensitization of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> autoreceptors in the raphe nuclei (Lucas et al. 2007). Our finding is in agreement with the observed increased tonus on hippocampal postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors after sub-chronic RS67333 administration (Lucas et al. 2007).

RS67333 shows antidepressant potential in the Forced Swim Test, and sub-chronic administration has antidepressant-like effects in the Chronic Mild Stress and Olfactory Bulbectomy animal models of depression (Lucas et al. 2007). However, the increase in 5-HT levels after three days of RS67333 administration is smaller than the 2-3-fold elevation, which has been observed after 14 days of SSRI treatment (Hajos-Korcsok et al. 2000;Kreiss and Lucki 1995). Together with the paroxetine augmenting effect of acute RS67333 administration this suggests that a combination of SSRI administration and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor partial agonism enhances 5-HT system activity. This is supported by the observation that a paroxetine challenge can still elevate 5-HT levels after three days of RS67333 administration and does so to a higher absolute level than reached with paroxetine alone.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank K. Jennings for expert advice on microdialysis procedures. The project was financially supported by the Health Science Faculty at the University of Copenhagen, the Lundbeck Foundation, the Augustinus Foundation, and the Body and Mind Research Priority Area at the University of Copenhagen.

#### REFERENCES

Boothman L. J., Allers K. A., Rasmussen K., and Sharp T. (2003) Evidence that central 5-HT2A and 5-HT2B/C receptors regulate 5-HT cell firing in the dorsal raphe nucleus of the anaesthetised rat. *Br J Pharmacol* **139**, 998-1004.

Boothman L. J., Mitchell S. N., and Sharp T. (2006) Investigation of the SSRI augmentation properties of 5-HT(2) receptor antagonists using in vivo microdialysis. *Neuropharmacology* **50**, 726-32.

Bourin M., Chue P., and Guillon Y. (2001) Paroxetine: a review. CNS Drug Rev 7, 25-47.

Eglen R. M., Bonhaus D. W., Johnson L. G., Leung E., and Clark R. D. (1995) Pharmacological characterization of two novel and potent 5-HT4 receptor agonists, RS 67333 and RS 67506, in vitro and in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **115**, 1387-92.

Gartside S. E., Umbers V., Hajos M., and Sharp T. (1995) Interaction between a selective 5-HT1A receptor antagonist and an SSRI in vivo: effects on 5-HT cell firing and extracellular 5-HT. *Br J Pharmacol* **115**, 1064-70.

Ge J. and Barnes N. M. (1996) 5-HT4 receptor-mediated modulation of 5-HT release in the rat hippocampus in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **117**, 1475-80.

Hajos-Korcsok E., McTavish S. F., and Sharp T. (2000) Effect of a selective 5-hydroxytryptamine reuptake inhibitor on brain extracellular noradrenaline: microdialysis studies using paroxetine. *Eur J Pharmacol* **407**, 101-7.

Hajos M., Gartside S. E., and Sharp T. (1995) Inhibition of median and dorsal raphe neurones following administration of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **351**, 624-9.

Hjorth S. (1993) Serotonin 5-HT1A autoreceptor blockade potentiates the ability of the 5-HT reuptake inhibitor citalopram to increase nerve terminal output of 5-HT in vivo: a microdialysis study. *J Neurochem* **60**, 776-9.

Invernizzi R., Bramante M., and Samanin R. (1994) Chronic treatment with citalopram facilitates the effect of a challenge dose on cortical serotonin output: role of presynaptic 5-HT1A receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* **260**, 243-6.

Kreiss D. S. and Lucki I. (1995) Effects of acute and repeated administration of antidepressant drugs on extracellular levels of 5hydroxytryptamine measured in vivo. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **274**, 866-76.

Lucas G., Compan V., Charnay Y., Neve R. L., Nestler E. J., Bockaert J., Barrot M., and Debonnel G. (2005) Frontocortical 5-HT4 receptors exert positive feedback on serotonergic activity: viral transfections, subacute and chronic treatments with 5-HT4 agonists. *Biol Psychiatry* 57, 918-25.

Lucas G. and Debonnel G. (2002) 5-HT4 receptors exert a frequency-related facilitatory control on dorsal raphe nucleus 5-HT neuronal activity. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**, 817-22.

Lucas G., Rymar V. V., Du J., Mnie-Filali O., Bisgaard C., Manta S., Lambas-Senas L., Wiborg O., Haddjeri N., Pineyro G., Sadikot A. F., and

Debonnel G. (2007) Serotonin(4) (5-HT(4)) receptor agonists are putative antidepressants with a rapid onset of action. Neuron 55, 712-25.

Nestler E. J., Barrot M., DiLeone R. J., Eisch A. J., Gold S. J., and Monteggia L. M. (2002) Neurobiology of depression. Neuron 34, 13-25.

Owen J. C. and Whitton P. S. (2005) Effects of amantadine and budipine on antidepressant drug-evoked changes in extracellular 5-HT in the frontal cortex of freely moving rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **145**, 587-92.

Paxinos G. and Watson C. (2005) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Fifth edition. Elsevier, Academic Press.

Sharp T. and Hjorth S. (1990) Application of brain microdialysis to study the pharmacology of the 5-HT1A autoreceptor. *J Neurosci Methods* **34**, 83-90.

Sharp T., Umbers V., and Gartside S. E. (1997) Effect of a selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor in combination with 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptor antagonists on extracellular 5-HT in rat frontal cortex in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **121**, 941-6.

Sharp T. and Zetterström T. (1992) *In vivo* measurement of monoamine neurotransmitter release using brain microdialysis, in *Monitoring neuronal activity*. *A practical approach*. (J. A. Stamford, ed.), pp. 147-179. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Sprouse J. S. and Aghajanian G. K. (1987) Electrophysiological responses of serotoninergic dorsal raphe neurons to 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B agonists. *Synapse* **1**, 3-9.

## FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus in response to paroxetine and RS67333 administration. Extracellular 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus, expressed as percentage of baseline, after paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg, n = 6), RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, n = 5), or vehicle (n = 3) administration, and in response to combined paroxetine and RS67333 (n = 7) administration. Arrows indicate injection times. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001: paroxetine relative to vehicle (0-260 min); <sup>##</sup> p < 0.01: paroxetine + RS67333 compared to paroxetine (140-300 min).

Figure 2. 5-HIAA and DOPAC levels in the ventral hippocampus in response to paroxetine and RS67333 administration. Extracellular 5-HIAA (A) and DOPAC (B) levels, expressed as percentage change, after administration of paroxetine, RS67333, vehicle, or paroxetine and RS67333 combined. Arrows indicate injection times. \* p < 0.05: paroxetine relative to vehicle, \* p < 0.05, \*# p < 0.01: paroxetine + RS67333 relative to vehicle. \* p < 0.05: vehicle relative to RS67333, paroxetine, and paroxetine + RS67333.

Figure 3. Effect of sub-chronic RS67333 administration on 5-HT levels in the ventral hippocampus. Baseline extracellular 5-HT levels (pmol) after 3 days of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg i.p., n = 5) administration compared to controls (untreated and vehicle treated combined, n = 18). A) 5-HT levels in the 6 baseline samples are compared by two-way ANOVA with RM and Bonferroni post-tests. B) Baseline 5-HT levels, expressed as the average of the four last baseline samples before drug administration (sample 3-6). Vehicle treated animals (n = 2) are indicated by triangles, and untreated controls (n = 16) by circles. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001.

Figure 4. Effect of paroxetine and RS67333 administration on 5-HT levels after sub-chronic RS67333 pretreatment. Changes in extracellular 5-HT levels (pmol/40  $\mu$ l sample) in the ventral hippocampus after paroxetine (0.5 mg/kg) and RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg) administration in animals receiving 3 days of RS67333 (1.5 mg/kg, n = 5) pretreatment or no pretreatment (n = 7). Arrows indicate injection times. \* p < 0.05,

# **TABLES AND FIGURES**







Figure 2







Figure 3



Figure 4

Table 1	. Extracellular 5	-HT, 5-HIAA,	, and DOPAC	levels after su	b-chronic R	<b>\S67333</b> a	dministration
---------	-------------------	--------------	-------------	-----------------	-------------	------------------	---------------

	Control	3 days RS67333	p value
5-HT	$0.008 \pm 0.001$	$0.014\pm0.001$	0.0001***
5-HIAA	$7.536\pm0.459$	$5.478 \pm 0.834$	0.0474*
DOPAC	$0.424 \pm 0.034$	$0.352\pm0.055$	0.3209

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM in pmol.